APPENDIX A

Ontario Provincial Environmental Protection Initiatives :

Chronology of Events (1995-1999)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ENVIRONMENTAL BILL OF RIGHTS & PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IN DECISION-MAKING A.1
ENVIRONMENTAL APPROVALS & ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
ENVIRONMENTAL STANDARDS & REGULATORY PROCESSES
LAND USE PLANNING
ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE & MONITORING
AIR QUALITY A.30
WASTE MANAGEMENT A.40
WATER A.50
ENERGY A.61
PESTICIDES & AGRICULTURE A.69
FORESTRY A.71
WILDLIFE AND PROTECTED AREAS
FISHERIES AND FISH HABITAT
MINING A.94
MINERAL AGGREGATES, PETROLEUM RESOURCES AND BRINE INDUSTRIES A.97
TRANSPORTATION
UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANKS, BOILERS AND PRESSURE VESSELS A.105

ENVIRONMENTAL BILL OF RIGHTS & PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IN DECISION-MAKING

Nov 29/95 Ontario Regulation 482/95 promulgated. Effect is to exempt the Ministry of Finance from the Environmental Bill of Rights, and temporarily suspend specific public notice requirements for cost-cutting measures for the next ten months.

Jan 17/96 The Environmental Commissioner of Ontario presents "Special Report to the Speaker of the Legislature". In it, she criticizes the government for violating the spirit and intent of the *Environmental Bill of Rights* through the promulgation of Regulation 482/95.

Apr 1/96 Intervenor Funding Project Act expires.

Jun 3/96 The Minister of Environment and Energy tables the *Environmental Approvals Improvement Act* in the legislature. The Act is intended to alter the environmental approvals process and a variety of acts and bodies:

the shut-down of the Environmental Compensation Corporation; the repeal of the Ontario Waste Management Corporation Act;

the creation of authority for the MoEE to recover administrative cost from activities such as waste generator registration and manifests, water well records and permits to take water.

Jun 96 Environmental Commissioner of Ontario delivers first Annual Report. Commissioner highlights failures of Ministries to post environmentally significant decisions on the EBR registry; failures to provide Ontarians adequate time, information and opportunities for comment on proposed decisions that are posted; and failures of Ministries to assess and report on the environmental implications of proposed decisions.

July 31/96 The Ontario government releases *Responsive Environmental Protection : A Consultation Paper.* A number of the recommendations, if adopted would make changes to the application of Ontario's Environmental Bill of Rights.

Oct 10/96 Environmental Commissioner Eva Ligeti issues a special report citing the Ontario government for cutting environmental regulations without giving the public an adequate opportunity for comment. Criticisms include:

ministries are not posting environmentally significant decisions on the Environmental Registry;

public comment periods are unreasonably short or provided during inconvenient times; and

ministries are failing to assess and report potential environmental effects of decisions.

Dec 11/96 Filing of an EBR Request for Investigation made regarding the construction of a logging road near Cross Lake.

Jan 16/97 The first successful appeal under the Ontario Environmental Bill of Rights announced. Five applications were received in June 1996 to appeal the air and sewage approvals issued to Petro-Canada by the MoEE. Sulphur dioxide emission levels were subsequently reduced 20%.

Mar 10/97 The Ministry of Natural Resources posts on the EBR Registry *Instrument Regulation for Prescribed MNR Legislation* which proposes to define what MNR policies, standards and legislation will be posted.

Apr 22/97 Environmental Commissioner of Ontario Eva Ligeti releases second annual report detailing the adherence of the Ontario government to its stated environmental values and vision. Commission states "Ministries demonstrated an alarming lack of environmental vision in

1996." Report highlights Ministries of Environment and Health decision to terminate drinking water testing services for municipalities, "dissolution" of the province's acid rain program, and the Ministry of Natural Resources' move to self monitoring systems for the aggregates industry.

Jun 11/97 Filing of an EBR Request for Investigation regarding Ontario Hydro's discharge of more than 1000 tonnes of copper and zinc into Lake Ontario from its Pickering Nuclear Generating Station and other facilities.

Dec 30/97 Decision posted on EBR registry not to proceed with removal of 'minor' approvals for EBR notice requirements, as proposed in the July 1996 "Responsive Environmental Protection" document.

Apr 27/98 Environmental Commissioner for Ontario tables Third Annual Report: "Open Doors - Ontario's Environmental Bill of Rights." The Commissioner states "I regret to report that in the past year there has been little substantive improvement in the actions taken by provincial ministries toward protecting the environment." Major areas of concern included Air Quality, Forest Management, Environmental Monitoring, Voluntary Agreements, Conservation Authorities and Watershed Management, the Plastimet Fire.

Sep 1/98 Classification Regulation for Class I Instruments under the *Mining Act* adopted under the *Environmental Bill of Rights*.

Jan 14/99 Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing proposes to classify standards for septic systems as regulations for the purposes of the *Environmental Bill of Rights*, and Minister's rulings on the use of innovative sewage technology as Class I Instruments.

Feb 19/99 Ministry of Municipal Affairs proposes Instrument Classification Regulation under the Environmental Bill of Rights for Planning Act instruments.

Environmental Commissioner of Ontario Eva Ligeti delivers her annual Report to the Legislative Assembly. The report documents how the "Ontario government has redefined its role in relation to environmental protection" and in particular documents "the decline of Ontario's capacity to protect the environment." Select examples from the report include:

Statements of Environmental Values. A number of ministries have not dedicated attention and resources to carrying out the commitments contained in their SEVs:

The Ministry of Health: commitment to support the elimination of carcinogens and toxics implicated in the environmental causes of cancer has been weak;

Management Board Secretariat: has been deficient in the area of preparing environmental reports and consulting with the public prior to selling environmentally significant public lands;

Ministry of Transportation: lacks commitment to carry out its promise to reduce transportation related air emissions.

Environmental Protection Standards. The Commissioner reports that "Evidence of the deterioration of the province's environmental protection standards is widespread":

Ministry of Natural Resources is noted for its reduced staffing and reliance on industry self-monitoring programs;

Ministry of the Environment was supposed to update its 70 provincial air quality standards, after two years only nine guidelines have been produced and no enforceable standards:

Ministries of Municipal Affairs and Housing and of Transportation have done little to support environmentally sustainable land use and transportation;

Specific Program Performance.:

Climate Change: lack of effort and lack of analysis by ministries to support their GHG reduction strategies;

Drive Clean: behind schedule; impact minimal relative to all smog-causing agents; program weaknesses need to be corrected;

EBR & Public Participation

Apr 28/99

A.2

Blue Box: not as strong at beverage container return as most other systems in Canada and still costing municipalities more than its revenue;

Lands for Life: poor public participation process; shifting goals;

Standardized Approval Regulations: loss of EBR rights, rights to appeal / seek reviews; concern that public will be frustrated by inability to comment.

Hazardous Waste: MoE is not supporting its SEV which calls for pollution prevention ahead of pollutant management; heavy reliance on voluntary initiatives; lack of adequate response to legitimate issues raised; better reporting needed.

Dombind: the rules governing 'recycling' of waste pulp liquor need strengthening and clarification;

Ministry Compliance with 1997 ECO Recommendations

Groundwater Protection Strategy: no formal strategy yet; mixed performance by ministries involved; MoE taking some action.

Crown Land Sale Consultation: partially met; generally land strategy to be posted but no specific details.

Air Standards Development: Slow to no progress; guidelines instead of standards for: ethylene dichloride, carbon tetrachloride, and 1,4 dichlorobenzene; no point of impingement standards to be attempted for methylene chloride or terachlorethylene; Roadless Wilderness: M.NR is still very slow in clarifying this policy; internal working group assembled; fall of 1998 report deadline missed; failed to provide insight to the Lands for Life process.

ENVIRONMENTAL APPROVALS & ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT

Sep 29/95 Environment and Energy Minister Brenda Elliott announced the termination of the

Environmental Assessment Advisory Committee (EAAC) which provides forum to comment

on the EAA's rules and application to specific projects.

Apr 1/96 Intervenor Funding Project Act expires.

Jun 3/96 Minister of Environment introduces Bill 57, *The Environmental Approvals Improvement Act.*

The Bill provides for:

the exemption by the Lieutenant-Governor in Council of any person from any provision of the *Environmental Protection Act* or *Ontario Water Resources Act* or any regulation made under those Acts;

the dissolution of the Environmental Compensation Corporation;

the dissolution of the Ontario Waste Management Corporation and repeal of the *Ontario Waste Management Corporation Act*;

the Lieutenant-Governor in Council to prohibit, regulate or control any thing or activity related to the Act;

the Lieutenant-Governor in Council to deem a certificate of approval to exist under the *Environmental Protection Act*:

the prohibition of any action against the Crown arising out of any exemption from an approval requirement under the *Environmental Protection Act* or *Ontario Water Resources Act*; and

an amendment giving the Ministry of the Environment and Energy authority to administer fees to recover administrative costs.

Jun 13/96 The Minister of Environment and Energy proposes changes to the *Environmental Assessment Act* through Bill 76 by introducing the amendments (scheduled to take effect by 1997). These amendments will have the effect of:

significantly narrowing the scope of the Act and the environmental assessment process;

granting the Minister of Environment and Energy a great deal of discretion over the application of the environmental assessment process, the granting of hearings and their contents:

ensuring less consistency in the application of the Act;

imposing strict time frames for all key steps in the decision-making process; and doing nothing to lower the barriers to entry into the environmental assessment process by citizens.

July 31/96 Ministry of the Environment releases *Responsive Environmental Protection* discussion paper. Proposes extensive changes to the environmental approvals process, including the introduction of 'Standardized' approvals and "Approval Exemption Regulations" (AERs).

Sep 11/96 Two organizations, the Sierra Legal Defense Fund and Algonquin Wildlands League file a suit against the MNR alleging non-compliance with requirements of a Class Environmental Assessment on Timber Management on Crown Land and the *Crown Forest Sustainability Act*

Dec 31/96 Ministry of Environment and Energy announces that Bill 76, the *Environmental Assessment* and Consultation Improvement Act, 1996 will be proclaimed on January 1, 1997. Key elements include:

terms of reference in an EA can now be legally binding; regulated timeframes for each step of an EA process; the Minister can order mediation to resolve disputes.

Feb 14/97 Ministry of Environment and Energy releases draft Guide to Preparing Terms of Reference for Individual Environmental Assessments.

Mar 10/97

The Ministry of Environment and Energy posts a proposed policy on the EBR Registry to use mediation as a means to resolve issues in Environmental Assessment processes. This provision flows from the changes to the Act arising from Bill 76, the *Environmental Assessment and Consultation Improvement Act*, 1996. The provision:

allows the Minister to appoint anyone as mediator including an EA Board; requires that time limits be set for mediation with a maximum timeframe of 60 days.

Apr 17/97

The Ministry of Environment and Energy lays charges against the Ministry of Natural Resources under the *Environmental Assessment Act* regarding construction of Cross Lake Road.

May 14/97

A hearing is held in Ontario Divisional Court to determine whether the Minister of Natural Resources Chris Hodgson violated the *Crown Forest Sustainability Act* and the *Environmental Assessment Act*. The dispute arose from allegations made by two organizations, Algonquin Wildlands League and Friends of Temagami, that the Minister exceeded his jurisdiction by approving plans and work schedules without providing for the sustainability of Crown forests.

May 28/97

Regulations made under *Consolidated Hearings Act*, *Environmental Protection Act*, and *Ontario Water Resources Act* dealing with environmental assessments. Regulations under the *Environmental Protection* and *Water Resources Act* eliminate requirements for public hearings under those acts for undertakings subject to the *Environmental Assessment Act*, or which fall under a Class Environmental Assessment.

Jun 5/97

Bill 57, The *Environmental Approvals Improvement Act* is given royal assent. The Bill provides for:

the exemption by the Lieutenant-Governor in Council of any person from any provision of the *Environmental Protection Act* or *Ontario Water Resources Act* or any regulation made under those Acts;

the dissolution of the Environmental Compensation Corporation;

the dissolution of the Ontario Waste Management Corporation and repeal of the *Ontario Waste Management Corporation Act*;

the Lieutenant-Governor in Council to prohibit, regulate or control any thing or activity related to the Act:

the Lieutenant-Governor in Council to deem a certificate of approval to exist under the *Environmental Protection Act*;

the prohibition of any action against the Crown arising out of any exemption from an approval requirement under the *Environmental Protection Act* or *Ontario Water Resources Act*; and

an amendment giving the Ministry of the Environment and Energy authority to administer fees to recover administrative costs.

Jul 97

The Ministry of Environment and Energy posts a second draft of a regulation governing timelines for Environmental Assessment Processes on the EBR Registry.

Sep 13/97

Ministry of Natural Resources submits a plea of guilty with respect to the charges laid against it, under the *Environmental Assessment Act*, for the construction of an access road to Cross Lake and is fined subsequently (in December 1997) \$1200.

Nov 25/97

The Provincial Auditor Erik Peters submits his annual report to the Ontario Legislature. The Auditor highlights the lack of monitoring and enforcement with respect to terms and conditions imposed on approvals through the environmental assessment process and suggests that the process deserves better monitoring.

Nov 27/97

Ministry of the Environment releases discussion document "Better, Stronger Clearer: Environmental Regulations for Ontario." Proposals related to approvals include:

removal of public hearing requirements under Environmental Protection Act and Ontario Water Resources Act for 'demonstration' projects.

removal of rules of practice regulation of EAB under Environmental Assessment Act (under the *Statutory Powers Procedures Act*, the Board can now make its own rules of procedure).

revoking obsolete exemption regulations made under the EAA;

delaying proposed removal of EBR notification requirements for certain instruments of little environmental significance:

'simplified' procedures for 'manufacturer controlled networks' for waste approvals; 'Standardized' approvals for a range of waste management related activities including PCB storage and transfer sites;

exemptions from waste approval requirements for battery and precious metal bearing sludge recycling activities.

Dec 4/97

Environmental Assessment Board approves use of scrap metal smelting furnace in Northumberland County to destroy low level PCB's. The facility is the first permanent PCB destruction facility to be approved in Ontario. In its decision the Board expressed concern over the province's failure to designate the undertaking under the *Environmental Assessment Act*, its implications for non-incineration PCB destruction technologies, the inability of public interest intervenors to participate effectively in the hearing due to the lack of intervenor funding, and the operator's lack of previous experience in the handling of hazardous wastes.

Dec 5/97

Ministry of the Environment centralizes approvals functions by transferring the issuing of all waste-related provision certificates of approval from MoE regional offices to the MoE Approvals Branch.

Dec 97

The Ministry of Environment announces the scope of the Environmental Assessment Board hearing for the Adams Mine waste disposal proposal. The Board will hear evidence on two issues about the site: its hydrogeology and surface water characteristics and leakage containment.

Feb 1/98

Ministry of the Environment posts proposal for Standardized Approvals Regulations (SARs) and Approval Exemption Regulations (AERs) for a 45 day public comment period. SAR regulated activities would not be required to obtain a certificate of approval, but would be subject to conditions laid out in the SAR regulation. Exempted activities would not be subject to any approval requirements at all.

Proposed activities for SARs include:

Air

modifications to equipment resulting in less than 10% change in emissions combustion equipment for space hearing or industrial processes; emergency generators sterlizers arc welding.

Water

water and sewage work modifications temporary water takings pumping stations

Waste

municipal waste transfer stations utilization of biosolids (sewage sludge) on agricultural lands.

Proposed AERs include

Water

area drains bottled water plants

stormwater management facilities

Air

area sources (sandblasting, drilling, construction, crushing screening, storage, sewage treatment, irrigation of farmland with effluent, special events) ventiliation systems food preparation exhaust systems air conditioners mobile equipment used in construction and maintenance.

Feb 7/98

The Ontario Divisional Court declares three Northern Ontario timber management plans to be "of no force and effect." The panel who heard the case gave the province 12 months to bring the Elk Lake, Upper Spanish and Temagami plans into compliance with the *Crown Forest Sustainability Act* and Terms and Conditions of the Class Environmental Assessment of Timber Management on Crown Lands. The most contentious actions by the Ministry of Natural Resources included:

approving work schedules without proof that the forest would managed sustainably; approving plans which lacked any sustainability indicators and frequently allowed for clear-cutting; and

timetables for phasing in new standards were arbitrarily extended.

Feb 11/98

The Red Tape Commission and the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing announce that they will initiate an industry consultation to explore the feasibility of a 'one-window' approach to building regulations and approvals. Such an approach will continue to limit the amount of review that the Ministry of the Environment has of land development projects and speed the approval of urban sprawl.

Apr 29/98

Environmental Commissioner for Ontario tables annual report in the Legislature. In her report the Commissioner expresses concern that polluters may be able to avoid liability in the civil courts under the Ministry of the Environment's proposed 'standardized' approval system if they are sued under the common law causes of action such as negligence, nuisance and trespass, or the public nuisance provisions of the EBR. This avoidance of liability may arise as polluters will be able to claim they were acting under legislative authority and thus have permission to discharge pollution.

May 10/98

Ontario Court rejects application to amend its February 1998 decision regarding the failure of the Ministry of Natural Resources to comply with the requirements of the *Crown Forest Sustainability Act* and the Environmental Assessment Board's decision regarding the Class Environmental Assessment of Timber Management on Crown Lands. The Court grants the original applicants in the case, the Wildlands League and the Friends of Temagami, a costs award of \$127,000 in relation to the Ministry's application.

Jun 2/98

Ministry of the Environment posts proposals for major changes to Regulation 347 on the EBR Registry. The proposals include 'standardized' approvals for on-site storage of hazardous wastes, including PCBs, expanding exemptions from approval requirements for hazardous waste 'recycling' activities, and eliminating requirements for public hearings prior to the approval of expansions of hazardous or municipal solid waste disposal facilities.

June 20/98

The Adams Mine garbage proposal is the first major environmental assessment under the new *Environmental Assessment Act*. Under this new regime, the assessment process was streamlined so that proponents of a project no longer have to study alternatives to their proposal.

June 22/98

Community members in and near Kirkland Lake hope that an appeal to the provincial cabinet regarding the conversion of Adams mine to municipal waste landfill, will allow time for Notre Developments (the project proponent) to seek alternative waste disposal methods.

June 29/98 Ministry of the Environment adopts revised Fee Schedule for Certificates of Approval under the Environmental Protection Act and Ontario Water Resources Act.

July 2/98 Community residents and local councillors in Northeastern Ontario raise concerns regarding the recent approval of the Adams Mine Waste Proposal by the Environmental Assessment Board. David Ramsay, Liberal MPP for Timiskaming (a community near the site) contends that the project is very high-risk and that it is being driven by short-term economic imperatives, which are not properly accounting for environmental/social concerns.

Aug 26/98 The Ontario cabinet approves the conversion of the Adams mine pit in Kirkland Lake to a privately operated landfill. The site is expected to serve mainly Toronto residents as well as York Region. Environmental groups fear the decision will undermine waste diversion initiatives.

Sept 30/98 First of AERs (Approval Exemption Regulations) for air and water, proposed in February 1998 come into effect.

Oct 27/98 February 1998 decision of Divisional Court regarding MNR compliance with *Crown Forest Sustainability Act* and Terms and Conditions of Class Environmental Assessment of Timber Management on Crown Lands upheld by Ontario Court of Appeal.

Dec 2/98 Ministry of the Environment proposes following regulatory exemptions from Approval requirements:

Air

contaminants from the grounds of a race track, if the emission of contaminants is attributable to the racing of horses, dogs, or motorized or non-motorized vehicles; emissions of contaminants from the grounds or premises upon or in which a special amusement, entertainment, charitable, political, education, artistic, musical or sporting event is held, if the emission of contaminants is attributable to the special event:

natural gas or propane gas dispensing units;

emission of contaminants from a shooting range, if the contaminants are attributable to the firing of a gun or guns;

any equipment, apparatus, mechanism or thing that is used for the ventilation of emissions resulting from vehicles, trains, forklifts, etc used in warehouses and enclosed storage areas; and

any equipment, apparatus, mechanism or thing that is used solely to mitigate the effects of an emergency declared to exist under the *Emergency Plans Act*.

Water

the establishment, alteration, extension or replacement of, or a change in a water or sewage works that is used solely to mitigate the effects of an emergency declared to exist under the *Emergency Plans Act*;

the taking of more than 50,000 litres a day to mitigate the effects of an emergency under the *Emergency Plans Act*; and

the taking of water and establishment, alteration, or replacement of drains, pump devices and appurtenances for the collection and disposal or drainage from building foundations.

ENVIRONMENTAL STANDARDS & REGULATORY PROCESSES

Sep 12/95 The Ontario Round Table on Environment and Economy is disbanded. Office closed on November 17/95. ORTEE's mandate was the establishment of a sustainability strategy for

Ontario.

Sep 29/95 Environment and Energy Minister Brenda Elliott announced the termination of three committees: the Advisory Committee on Environmental Standards; the Environmental

Assessment Advisory Committee and the Municipal Industrial Strategy for Abatement Advisory Committee. The committees, in brief, performed the following functions:

MISA: advised on pollutant limits in industrial waste water.

EAAC: forum to comment on the EAA's rules and application to specific projects.

ACES: specific contaminant guideline establishment e.g. tritium.

Nov 29/95 Government introduces Bill 26 the *Government Savings and Restructuring Act*. This Bill includes major amendments to more than 40 statutes, including *the Freedom of Information*

and Protection of Privacy Act, Mining Act, Public Lands Act, Fish and Game Act, Lakes and Rivers Improvements Act, Forest Fires Prevention Act, Conservation Authorities Act and Municipal Act. The amendments greatly expand cabinet and ministerial discretion in decision-making, remove statutory requirements for approvals, and weaken opportunities or

requirements for public participation in decision-making.

Nov 29/95 MPP Frank Sheehan appointed to chair the Red Tape Review Commission. It will review all 45,000 regulations in effect in the Province and attempt to streamline or eliminate as many as possible within 12 months. The Commission's mandate includes no reference to ensuring

that regulations necessary to protect the environment are retained.

Jan 29/96 Bill 26, the *Government Saving and Restructuring Act* enacted:

the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act* amended to make it easier to reject requests that are considered frivolous or vexatious:

the *Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act* amended to make it easier to reject requests that are considered frivolous or vexatious;

Both sets of amendments require the establishment of fees for both applying for, and retrieving information.

Feb 5/96 New fees for both applying for, and retrieval of information set under freedom of information acts adopted.

Jun 3/96 Minister of Environment introduces Bill 57, *The Environmental Approvals Improvement Act.*The Bill provides for:

the exemption by the Lieutenant-Governor in Council of any person from any provision of the *Environmental Protection Act* or *Ontario Water Resources Act* or any regulation made under those Acts:

the dissolution of the Environmental Compensation Corporation;

the dissolution of the Ontario Waste Management Corporation and repeal of the *Ontario Waste Management Corporation Act*;

the Lieutenant-Governor in Council to prohibit, regulate or control any thing or activity related to the Act;

the Lieutenant-Governor in Council to deem a certificate of approval to exist under the *Environmental Protection Act*:

the prohibition of any action against the Crown arising out of any exemption from an approval requirement under the *Environmental Protection Act* or *Ontario Water Resources Act*; and

an amendment giving the Ministry of the Environment and Energy authority to administer fees to recover administrative costs.

_ . _,__

Jun 5/96

Minister of Environment and Energy introduces Bill 66, *Government Process Simplification Act* which proposes to amend the *Consolidated Hearings Act* and *Environmental Protection Act*. This could:

permit Ontario Energy Boards and Environmental Appeal Boards to sit in panels of one member:

be further amended so that prosecutions under the Act or its regulations will no longer require ministerial approval;

amend the *Ontario Energy Board Act* to allow the Minister (rather than the Lieutenant Governor) to refer a request for inquiry to the board and to require a hearing into the reasonableness of gas rates under section 13;

allow the joint board and the Environmental Appeals Board to designate one person to represent a group of people with the same interest;

allow the Minister of Environment and Energy to amend the *Pesticides Act* to allow classification of pesticides by the Minister or a delegate.

Jul 31/96

Ontario government releases a discussion paper entitled *Responsive Environmental Protection* which makes over 80 recommended changes to environmental regulation. The recommendations include revising the Environmental Bill of Rights Classification of Proposals for Instruments Regulation to eliminate notice requirements for proposals with minimal environmental impact. For specific recommended changes to regulations see Jul 31/96 under *Air, Water, Energy, Pesticides* and *Waste*.

Aug 31/96

Premier Harris announces changes to the Provincial Cabinet. The Minister of Environment and Energy, Brenda Elliott MPP for Guelph is replaced by Norm Sterling MPP for Carleton who was previously acting as Minister of Consumer and Commercial Relations.

Sep 5/96

Ministry of Environment and Energy announces a 30-day extension to the public consultation period on proposed reforms to Ontario's environment and energy regulations (*Responsive Environmental Protection*). The extension reflects the enormity of the undertaking and the reaction by many stakeholders that the government's original timeframe was insufficient to allow a proper review of the proposed changes.

Oct 10/96

Ministry of Environment and Energy puts policy proposal entitled "Proposed Three Year Plan for Standard Setting" on Environmental Bill of Rights Registry for 30-day public comment period. The plan identifies standards that need to be established over the next three years in the areas of air, soil, ground, drinking and surface water, sediment, tissue residue, sewage sludge, and compost.

Oct 10/96

Environmental Commissioner Eva Ligeti issues a special report citing the Ontario government for cutting environmental regulations without giving the public an adequate opportunity for comment. Criticisms include:

ministries are not posting environmentally significant decisions on the Environmental Registry:

public comment periods are unreasonably short or provided during inconvenient times; and

ministries are failing to assess and report potential environmental effects of decisions.

Oct 15/96

Provincial Auditor Erik Peters criticizes the conduct of the Ministry of Environment and Energy in a number of areas:

the use of the Hazardous Waste Information System. The Auditor reports that the ministry should be taking steps to identify registered generators of hazardous waste who do not report disposals;

his main criticism on air pollution abatement stems from a 1992 review conducted by the MOEE that showed that 226 of 289 air pollutant standards required reduction, reassessment, or further review, and this review was not followed up on by the ministry:

the Ministry of Environment and Energy's handling of its water well information

system is deficient. Of 200,000 well records submitted to the MOEE over the past 12 years, only about 30,000 have been entered into the water well information system; and

groundwater quality is not monitored systematically throughout the province.

Nov 13/96

Premier Harris defends the Ontario government regulatory streamlining initiative at the Ministry of Environment and Energy Technology Transfer Conference in Toronto. The Premier declares that there are too many needless regulations.

Jan 29/97

Release of the Red Tape Commission releases Final Report. Recommends extensive changes to environmental regulations, weakening may requirements, particularly with respect to waste management.

Feb 26/97

Ontario Government announces that five agencies are to be eliminated and another 35 with similar mandates are to be combined. One of the five to be eliminated is the Environmental Compensation Corporation which the government claims will be made obsolete after proposed changes to the *Environmental Protection Act* proceed. The Environmental Compensation Corporation makes decisions about compensation for those affected by toxic spills. Other changes:

The Ontario Municipal Board is to be consolidated with the Assessment Review Board and the Board of Negotiations and renamed the Property and Planning Tribunal:

The Environmental Assessment Board (including the Niagara Escarpment Hearing Office) and Environmental Appeal Board are to consolidated into the Environmental Appeals Tribunal;

Others to undergo consolidation with other agencies: Game & Fish Hearing Board, Farm Practices Protection Board, Ontario Drainage Tribunal, Building Code Commission, Fire Code Commission:

Those to remain relatively unchanged at the time of the announcement include: the Animal Care Review Board, the Conservation Review Board, Crown Timber Board of Examiners, Niagara Escarpment Commission and the Ontario Energy Board.

April 4/97

Charges laid against Inco Limited were dismissed in court as Ministry of Environment and Energy prosecutors failed to appear. The charges (five in total) relate to a massive sulphur dioxide gas leak on November 16,1995 which sent dozens of residents of Sudbury to hospital with breathing problems. This is the second time that charges have been dismissed on this basis which reflects the serious resource shortage at the MoEE for dealing with enforcement and prosecution matters. The MoEE is attempting to re-introduce the charges against Inco Limited.

Apr 22/97

Release of the Environmental Commissioner of Ontario's 1996 annual report (See *Environmental Bill of Rights & Public Participation in Decision-making* section).

Apr 23/97

Mr. Norm Sterling, Minister of Environment and Energy states: "That is why we [Ontario] are re-regulating, not deregulating as some would suggest....The fact is this government is not deregulating. We are simplifying and improving our regulations to set tough environmental standards and we will be vigilant in ensuring that these standards are met." in a letter to the Windsor Star.

May 21/97

A policy proposal is posted on the Environmental Bill of Rights Registry to establish an interim ambient air quality criterion for inhalable particulates (PM10) of 50 micrograms/m³ (24 hour average).

Jun 5/97

Bill 57, The Environmental Approvals Improvement Act is given royal assent.

Jun 10/97

Release of the Annual Report of the Ontario Ombudsman. In the report, the Ombudsman cites the Ontario government's delegation of decision-making authority to private sector bodies and the promotion of industry self-regulation as causes for concern, particularly the

Technical Standards and Safety Authority.

Jun 27/97

Linda Stevens transferred from position of deputy minister at the Ministry of Environment and Energy to Cabinet Office. The position of Deputy Minister of the Environment remains vacant until October 1997.

Nov 4/97

Ontario Environment Minister writes to federal Environment Minister Christine Stewart regarding the MoE's opinion that National Pollutant Release Inventory data does not provide an accurate indicator of environmental health. Furthermore, the data should not be used for reporting purposes (e.g. "Taking Stock/North American Pollutant Releases and Transfers") by the Commission for Environmental Cooperation in the MoE's opinion.

Nov 25/97

The Provincial Auditor Erik Peters submits his annual report to the Ontario Legislature. Among the key points:

the measuring of, and reporting on the Province's waste reduction targets needs to be strengthened;

the province needs to work with municipalities on reducing the cost of collecting and processing recycled materials as well as implementing a full costing approach for waste disposal:

the provincial goal of 50% waste diversion from disposal should be incorporated into the Ministry of the Environment's Waste Reduction Branch's business plan;

the Ministry should expedite the resolution of issues surrounding refillable soft drink containers and address municipal concerns;

the environmental assessment process requires better monitoring of the compliance with EA Act decision terms and conditions;

water or sewage expansion projects should not be funded by the province unless municipalities have implemented and maximized water conservation; documentation filing and grant overpayment need to be better monitored as well.

Nov 27/97

The Minister of the Environment releases "Better, Stronger, Clearer Environmental Regulation in Ontario" - a package of 38 amendments to the province's environmental regulations. These amendments evolved from the initial proposals contained in the August 1996 "Responsive Environmental Protection" initiative and will be implemented by summer 1998. The amendments will take place in the regulatory areas of: air quality, approval of technologies, energy, environmental assessment, the Environmental Bill of Rights, pesticides, spills, waste management and water quality. Some of the regulations amended include:

air quality (Vehicles and Fuels, Acid Rain, Air Regulation); approval of technologies (Technology Demonstration); energy (Energy Efficiency Standards Regulations); environmental assessment (EA Rules of Practice);

the Environmental Bill of Rights (Classification of Proposals of Instruments, Application of the EBR Act);

waste management (Deep Well Disposal, General Waste, Mobile PCB Destruction, PCB Waste Management, Recycling and Composting, Disposable Milk Containers, Waste Audits & Reduction Work Plans and Packaging & Packaging Reduction Work Plan) Refillable Containers at least at this date undergo no revision;

water quality (Water Wells, Regulations under MISA)

Final amendments are to be posted on the Environmental Bill of Rights of Registry by June 1998.

Jan 98

Final Agreement between Dofasco and the Ministry of the Environment posted on EBR Registry. Agreement commits Dofasco to "all reasonable efforts to meet several targets for reducing air and water emissions and solid waste production. In exchange, the Ministry of the Environment will use "all reasonable efforts" to exempt Dofasco from the requirement under Regulation 347 to manifest its shipments of hazardous and liquid industrial wastes on public roads.

The Red Tape Commission and the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing announce that they will initiate an industry consultation to explore the feasibility of a 'one-window' approach to building regulations and approvals. Such an approach will continue to limit the amount of review that the Ministry of the Environment has of land development projects and speed the approval of urban sprawl.

Mar 31/98 Proposals for revisions of standards for 10 hazardous air pollutants and 4 drinking water contaminants posted on EBR registry. Some of the proposed air standards have been weakened significantly from the proposals presented by the Ministry in January 1997.

Apr 27/98 Environmental Commissioner for Ontario tables Third Annual Report: "Open Doors - Ontario's Environmental Bill of Rights." The Commissioner states "I regret to report that in the past year there has been little substantive improvement in the actions taken by provincial ministries toward protecting the environment." Major areas of concern included Air Quality, Forest Management, Environmental Monitoring, Voluntary Agreements, Conservation Authorities and Watershed Management, the Plastimet Fire.

May 11/98 Information and Privacy Commissioner of Ontario orders the Ontario Ministry of the Environment to provide the Sierra Legal Defence Fund with a list of companies with violations of their operating permits as well as companies who have been convicted of an environmental offence. The MoE originally offered the information at a cost of \$19,868 but was ordered to provide at the cost of photocopying the information (about \$3000). The MoE has:

4,650 pages on water quality violations;

9,735 pages on air quality violations.

Formerly, the MoEE published this information in a format that made it easily publicly accessible. The last time was 1993/94.

Jun 17/98 Ontario Environmental Protection Working Group releases *Our Future, Our Health: The Consequences of Inaction*. The report synthesizes details actions, inaction and regulatory changes likely to make province's problems related to smog, acid rain and waste management worse.

Amendments to the *Election Finance Act* (Bill 36) receive Royal Assent. The Bill raises the expenditure limits for Party election campaigns and removed limits on certain types of spending.

Jul 23/98 1998-99 Business Plans for Ontario government ministries released to the public.

Jul 27/98 Public release of 1996 National Pollutant Release Inventory Data. Data shows decline in releases of pollutants to the environment, but a dramatic increase in transfers of pollutants in waste. The Ontario Minister of the Environment asserts that there are "serious flaws, inconsistencies and misinterpretations" in the National Pollutant Release Inventory system.

Aug 1/98 Three Party agreement between Environment Canada, MoEE and Dofasco Inc. adopted. Establishes voluntary targets for abatement in areas of air, water and waste management in exchange for commitments to reduce regulatory requirements.

Nov 3/98 Ministry of the Environment proposes initiative: "Recognizing and Encouraging Voluntary Actions (REVA)." Policy proposes reduced oversight for facilities on the basis of promises of good environmental performance, and that no new standards will be imposed without "quid pro quo" concessions to industry.

Nov 3/98 Provincial Auditor tables 1998 Annual Report:

Ministry of the Environment

Report is critical of Ministry of the Environment's failure to act on the Auditor's 1996 recommendations regarding the revision of the province's standards for hazardous air pollutants.

Jun 26/98

Ministry of Natural Resources

the Ministry had not developed proper effectiveness measures to assess the program's success in achieving the sustained development of the province's fish and widlife resources;

did not have adequate policies in place for the management of big game species (moose, dear and bear); and

information from the assessment of fish populations and other data were often not available to assist management in managing regeneration, stocking and harvesting.

Nov 7/98

It is reported that the head of the 'Red Tape Commission' urged the Ministry of the Environment to drop its prosecution of a company that violated a provincial regulation prohibiting the dumping of waste from outside of the approved service area of a landfill.

Nov 23/98

Environment Minister Norm Sterling introduces the *Environmental Statute Law Amendment Act*. The Act, if passed, would allow the MoE to:

seize licence plates and permits form vehicles used to commit environmental offences:

streamline the process by which environmental officers issue compliance orders in the field;

apply new monetary penalties for minor environmental infractions;

secure areas and facilities to ensure evidence is protected;

extend provisions for control of illegal dumping and cleanup to people who broker illegal waste disposal; and

use more modern investigative aids and techniques.

No new resources were announced to ensure that this legislation could be put to its full utility.

Dec 14/98

The Balanced Budget and Taxpayer Protection Act, 1998 introduced. The Bill requires a balanced provincial budget for each year, except in cases of emergencies, and requires a referendum or provision in a party election platform to increase certain taxes.

Dec 16/98

Bill 101 Red Tape Reduction Act #2) Introduced. Schedule M amends a number of natural resources acts including the following:

Aggregate Resources Act

permit site plans and licenses to take precedence over municipal rules and by-laws; permit regulations under the Act to adopt technical standards by reference.

Fish Inspection Act

permit arrest of persons involved in illegal sale of contaminated fish products. increase maximum penalties, and extend period of time over which prosecutions can be undertaken.

Forest Fires Prevention Act

provide authority to require that people who cause fires pay for fire suppression; various minor amendments.

Fish and Wildlife Act

remove requirement that pelts of fur bearing animals be marked "sealed."

Niagara Escarpment Planning and Development Act

"streamline" plan amendment process, reduce timelines, eliminate hearings in certain circumstances.

allow the Minister or hearing officers to dismiss notices of appeal of development permits where these are "frivolous, not made in good faith, made for purpose of delay or without merit on land-use planning grounds;

allow Commission decisions to be confirmed without approval by the Minister if they are the same as hearing officers reports;

extend the review period for the plan from five to ten years and "clarify" the ministers authority to prescribe the terms of reference for a plan review.

Oil, Gas and Salt Resources Act

minor amendments;

permit adoption of technical standards by reference.

Public Lands Act

permit unregistered letters patent to be cancelled, allowing for the faster execution of land sales.

Bill 101 died on the order Paper when the Legislative session ended on December 18, 1998.

Dec 18/98

Bill 82, An Act to Strengthen Environmental Protection and Enforcement receives Royal Assent.

introduces administrative monetary penalties for offences under the *Environmental Protection Act* and *Ontario Water Resources Act* strengthens penalty and enforcement provisions.

Dec 18/98

Bill 25, Red Tape Reduction Act, 1998. Receives Royal Assent.

Schedule I of the Bill amends a number of MNR statues including:

Conservation Authorities Act

Removes requirement for Conservation Authority permission for changing, diverting or interfering with watercourses, wetlands, Great-Lakes St. Lawrence shorelines, inland lakes; river and stream valleys, hazardous lands, for activities approved under the *Aggregate Resources Act*; and

removal of the requirement for provincial approval of Conservation Authority Regulations

Lakes and Rivers Improvements Act

permit delegation by cabinet and minister of approvals under the Act to conservation authorities, or other agencies or bodies;

permit the minister to approve plans for a dam, after the dam has been constructed; and

weaken the current prohibition in the Act against pollution.

Public Lands Act

provides for the delegation of the Minister's duties under the Act to "any person." removes limits on size or dollar value of public lands that can be leased or sold. provides statutory authority for the implementation of the 'Lands for Life' land-use planning process. Land-use plans outlining uses in specific zones will be subject to approval by the Minister following a 30 day public comment period.

The Bill also consolidated the *Trees Act, Woodlands Improvement Act, Forest Trees Pest Control Act*, and amended the *Crown Forest Sustainability Act, Forest Fires Prevention Act, Mining Act, Provincial Parks Act*, and the *Surveys Act and the Surveyors Act*.

Schedule 'C' of the Act, *Statute and Regulation Revision Act, 1998*, makes provision for the adoption of revisions to statutes by the Chief Legislative Council, without approval by the Legislature.

Dec 18/98

Greater Toronto Services Board Act, 1998 receives Royal Assent. The Act goes into being on January 1, 1999 and creates a board review integration issues, most notably transportation, for municipalities in the Greater Toronto Area.

Dec 18/98 Lobbyist Registration Act receives Royal Assent.

Feb 24/99

Revealed that the Ministry of the Environment had developed a delivery strategy for its operational staff, directing them not to respond to public complaints about a wide range of environmental problems, or to direct such complaints to other agencies and municipalities. Specific examples included problems arising from: activities related to agriculture; construction and demolition; diesel generators; gavel pits and quarries; mobile sources; oil from vehicles; septic systems; boating; sewers; drinking water quality; road salt; inert fill; pop bottles; industrial, institutional and commercial waste source separation; recycling and composting regulatory requirements; tire disposal sites with less than 5,000 tires; litter; abandoned vehicles; inquires about pesticide use; and residential pesticide use.

Mar 1/99 It is revealed the Ministry of the Environment laid only three charges and issued just one warning in 1996 despite having evidence of 1024 violations of provincial water quality regulations and guidelines. The revelation (*Ontario's Water Polluters: The Ontario Waste Water Discharge Violations Report*) was made by the Sierra Legal Defence Fund and is

based on a Freedom of Information Request.

Mar 2/99 Ministry of Natural Resources announces plans to train 500 volunteer nature 'guardians,' to assist with the enforcement of the laws administered by the Ministry. The decision follows the 1998 report of the Provincial Auditor, which raised questions over the ability of the Ministry

to adequately enforce its laws.

Mar 22/99 Former Attorney General Ian Scott criticizes the Ontario government for allowing the

successor corporations to Ontario Hydro to escape the requirements of the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act* through provisions of Bill 35, *The Energy*

Competition Act.

Apr 21/99 Ontario environmental organizations release "An Environmental Agenda for Ontario." The

document outlines recommendations for environmental improvement in six areas:

Protecting Human Health;

Food, Water, Materials and Energy; Building Sustainable Communities;

Protecting and Restoring Nature; and

Strengthening Democracy.

May 14/99 Revealed by the Canadian Institute for Environmental Law and Policy that fines levied against

polluters convicted of violating Ontario's environmental laws have dropped to their lowest level in more than a decade. The 1998 total for fines levied was \$863,840 compared to

\$3,065,504 in 1995.

May 18/99 Environmental Commissioner of Ontario recommends an independent review of the

province's air quality protections. The recommendation was made in response to an application for investigation by the Sierra Legal Defense Fund.

Environmental Standards & Regulatory Processes

LAND USE PLANNING

General and Southern Ontario Issues

Jul 13/95 Agriculture Minister announces the province will be withdrawing \$15 million in funding for the purchase of agricultural covenants to protect the Niagara Fruit Belt from urban development.

Oct 6/95 Government-wide operating budget reductions released by the Office of the Premier. The reductions were detailed for each of the years 1995-96 and 1996-97 but do not represent all the reductions that will take place. Effects to land use policy and protection due to cuts to the Ministry of Environment and Energy:

reduce conservation and planning spending by \$0.68 M for both years;

cuts to Ministry of Natural Resources;

conservation authorities' operating transfer payments cut by \$1.2 M in both years.

Nov 15/95 Interim report of the Golden Task Force on the Greater Toronto Area. If recommendations proceed sweeping changes could be introduced to the area's land use, service delivery, tax structure and administration.

Nov 16/95 Government introduces Bill 20, the *Land Use Planning and Protection Act*. The Bill will repeal many recommendations of the Commission on Planning and Development Reform in Ontario implemented through Bill 163.

Dec 13/95 Province announces it will market surplus government land throughout Ontario for productive development.

Jan 2/96 A revised draft Provincial Policy Statement to accompany Bill 20 is released by Minister of Municipal Affairs.

Jan 26/96 Ministry of Housing releases a consultation paper entitled "Back to Basics" which focuses on streamlining and simplifying the Building Code. Among other things, the paper proposes the removal of energy efficiency requirements from the Code.

Jan 29/96 The Ontario Legislature enacts Bill 26, the *Government Savings and Restructuring Act* and in so doing amends many acts governing land use including:

the *Public Lands Act*: amends work permit provisions; reduces capacity of courts to order restoration;

the *Municipal Act*: easier municipal restructuring, land annexation, and service cost or user fee implementation;

the *Conservation Authorities Act*: new provisions allow the dissolution of CAs and easier sale of CA lands. Limitations placed on scope of CA activities and funding.

Jan 29/96 Ministry of Environment and Energy releases its review of its land use planning process. If recommendations are adopted, it would create an approach consistent with Bill 20: the MoEE would shift its emphasis away from the review of site-specific applications to involvement in official plan policy formulation.

Mar 26/96 Bill 20, the *Land Use Planning and Protection Act* enacted. Reverses reforms adopted in 1995 to implement recommendations of Commission on Planning and Development reform in Ontario.

Apr 11/96 Ontario government releases "Interim Report on Business Planning and Cost Savings Measures" which outlines the re-shaping of government through "new business directions" for ministries and "cost-savings measures" that the province is implementing. Each ministry is responsible for carrying out its own business plan within the financial constraints that it is assigned. Effects of this initiative on land use:

the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing will become the principal or only body to deal with land use proposals;

Conservation Authorities transfer payments will be cut \$5.4 M in 1996-97 and \$7.4 M in 1997-98.

May 7/96

Ontario Budget unveiled which includes the suspension of the Land Transfer Tax on the purchase of new houses and the restoration of previously-eliminated funding for road construction.

May 22/96

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing announces proclamation of Bill 20, The *Land Use Planning and Protection Act.* Major changes under this legislation include:

streamlining the process by cutting approval times in half; and

eliminating the requirement that planning decisions "be consistent with" provincial policies, and replacing it with the old requirement that decisions "have regard to" provincial policies.

Jun 20/96

Ministry of Environment and Energy releases a revised soil cleanup guideline, *Guideline for Use at Contaminated Sites in Ontario*, which is intended to provide more specific and workable directions on managing and re-using contaminated sites.

Oct 23/96

The Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing approves Peel Region's first official plan. Under the plan, the region has agreed to incorporate provincial policies on several issues including:

the extraction of mineral aggregate resources for long-term use;

support for the region's desire to protect the environment;

support for the Caledon Community Resources Study which assesses future mineral aggregates in the region. This may result in the refinement of mineral aggregate policies; and

there will be no moratorium on new aggregate operations in "high potential" areas.

Oct 96

Municipal Affairs and Housing Minister Al Leach removes a freeze on aggregate extraction covering 8,000 hectares in the Caledon Region. Seventy appeals of the decision are filed with the Ontario Municipal Board.

Nov 4/96

The Who Does What Panel recommends to the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing that municipalities should deliver and pay for sewer and water systems. The panel recommends that the province:

transfer ownership of its sewer and water treatment facilities to appropriate municipalities;

discontinue sewer and water grant and loan programs; and

continue to set and enforce performance-based environmental standards and promote conservation.

The panel also recommends that while municipalities should decide on the method of charging for sewer and water services, users should be charged the full cost of providing them. The panel also recommends that the province:

continue to transfer to municipalities ownership of provincial highways that serve primarily local needs, provided municipalities are granted a revenue source to help with highway upkeep; and

discontinue transit financial support but play a role in setting safety standards, coordinating broader transportation planning and helping with inter-municipal coordination and integration.

Jan 16/97

Bill 106, *Fair Municipal Finance Act*, is introduced to the legislature. The legislation should improve tax treatment of conservation lands, managed woodlots and farmland.

Jan 20/97

Bill 107, *The Water and Sewerage Services Improvement Act*, is introducted. The Bill would provide for the transfer of the ownership and operation of provincially owned and operated sewer and water infrastructure to municipalities. The Bill would also transfer responsibility for

the regulation of most septic systems to the municipalities or the Ministry of Municipal Affairs.

Jan 28/97 Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs Posting on Farm Practices Protection Act. Ministry proposes to expand exemption for agricultural activities from environmental laws.

Feb 3/97 Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing implements a new policy (effective Feb. 1, 1997) geared to protect the economic interests of Ontario's major airports. The policy will prevent new residential development and other sensitive land uses near airport lands above 30 NEF/NEP (airport noise contour mapping - Noise Exposure Forecast/Noise Exposure Projection). The policy is in response to previous situations where noise problems in an area resulted in federal restrictions on airport operations.

Apr 1/97 The Ontario government announces that it will extend the land transfer tax refund (up to \$1725) offered to first-time home buyers upon the purchase of a newly built home. While the refund may encourage new home purchases it also may encourage urban sprawl as it applies only to newly built homes.

May 27/97 Bill 106 *Fair Municipal Finance Act* receives Royal Assent. This legislation will revise the property tax assessment of conservation, managed forest and farm lands. Some of its provisions offer certain landowners an incentive to undertake conservation initiatives.

May 28/97 Passage of Bill 107. The Bill provides for the transfer of the ownership and operation of provincially owned sewer and water infrastructure to municipalities and regulation of septic systems to municipalities and the Ministry of Municipal Affairs.

Dec 8/97 Bill 98, the *Development Charges Act* receives royal assent. The Bill which was introduced on November 15, 1996 will:

provide new means to limit the contributions of land developers to community benefits such as parks:

place limits on the use of development charges by municipalities to recoup the costs imposed by new developments;

require that existing municipal infrastructure be available for servicing new developments (in effect promoting urban expansion at the expense of compact urban form and infilling);

These provisions seem likely to facilitate and promote low density urban sprawl-type developments.

Dec 10/97 The Ministry of Natural Resources issues a request for proposals from parties knowledgeable about real estate to assist in the development of a disposition strategy for lands controlled by the MNR. The subject lands are located throughout the province.

Dec 12/97 Finance Minister Ernie Eves informs municipalities that they will need to make a further \$565 million in spending reductions. At the same time, municipalities are undertaking more responsibilities from the province. Areas relating to environmental protection that could be impacted by financial restructuring include transit, water and sewage works operation and conservation areas.

Dec 17/97 Bill 146, the Farming and Food Production Protection Act is referred to the Standing Committee on Resources Development.

Jan 1/98 The cities and borough of the Municipality of Metropolitan Toronto are officially amalgamated into the City of Toronto.

Jan 27/98 An attempt at financing \$400 million in sewage treatment facilities in Hamilton-Wentworth fails as the Ministry of Finance refuses to let the arrangement proceed on the basis that the deal's tax deferral structure was too generous for investors. Such deals involving private financing of public works infrastructure have been made possible by amendments to the

Municipal Act.

Feb 4/98

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing announces new Ontario Building Code Regulations for septic system management "Regulation to Amend Ontario Regulation 403/97 made under the *Building Code Act*, 1992." The new regulation will take effect April 6, 1998 and:

transfer authority for regulating smaller on-lot sewage systems to the *Building Code Act* for "one-window" permitting purposes;

introduce new certification requirements for installers/inspectors.

These changes have been brought as a consequence of Bill 107 amendments to the *Environmental Protection Act* regarding the regulation of septic systems.

Feb 11/98

The Red Tape Commission and the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing announce that they will initiate an industry consultation to explore the feasibility of a 'one-window' approach to building regulations and approvals. Such an approach will continue to exclude the Ministries of the Environment, Natural Resources and Agriculture, Food and Rural Development from the planning process, and limit the role of Conservation Authorities, weakening the protection of environmentally significant areas and important agricultural lands.

Feb 11/98

The province announces its intent to seek input by May 8, 1998 on a new *Municipal Act*. The Act if adopted will have wide ranging ramifications on the urban environment, natural environment and service impacting on the natural environment. The Act would give municipalities certain general powers and areas of responsibility called Spheres of Jurisdiction. These include the following:

health, safety, protection and well-being of people and the protection of property; public utilities;

waste management;

highways, including parking and traffic on highways;

transportation systems such as transit, ferries and airports;

the natural environment:

culture, parks, recreation and heritage;

economic development;

nuisance, noise, odour, vibration, illumination and dust;

drainage and flood control;

structures including fences and signs;

parking (other than on highways); and

animals.

Although municipalities already have authority in many of these areas, the amendments would permit its broader exercise in these areas. However, eight general limitations would be imposed on the exercise of these powers::

municipalities would not be able to regulate in a more restrictive way than a provincial regulation:

municipalities would not be able regulate in certain defined areas of exclusive provincial jurisdiction such as workplace health and safety;

municipal by-laws would be subject to any procedural requirements and limits contained in specific provisions of the new Municipal Act or any other Act;

municipalities would not be able to regulate or prohibit privately-owned systems under the "public utilities", "waste management", and "transportation systems other than highways" spheres of jurisdictions;

municipalities would not be able to grant any person a monopoly on carrying on any business, trade or occupation, unless specifically authorized to do so;

municipalities would not be able to set up corporations or purchase shares in a company:

municipalities would only be able to exercise their authority within their geographic boundaries with some exceptions;

and, of course,

municipal bylaws would not be able to conflict with federal or provincial bylaws.

Such a reworking of municipal roles and responsibilities calls into question the innovative role

that some municipalities have played in past, in particular setting standards that are more stringent than the province or acting when the province would not act. Anti-smoking municipal by-laws would unlikely be permissible. Information concerning municipal solid waste and diversion could become difficult to obtain if taken out of municipal hands. Private 'transit' operators could put pressure on the most lucrative routes driving municipal systems to the brink of infeasibility. Parks and conservation authority management could become very nonuniform. Traffic control systems will become unique to every municipality thereby reducing the uniformity of driving conditions across the province, potentially leading to unpredictable situations, diminished public safety and increased threat of spills to the environment.

Mar 13/98

The proposal for a Greater Toronto Services Board is released by Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing Al Leach. The proposed structure would make the body primarily a service coordinating agency with no executive powers other than the oversight of GO Transit. On GO Transit issues a 2/3 majority would decide municipal contributions to the transit system's operating and capital budgets. The 30 member board would have:

- 14 elected councillors from the City of Toronto:
- 5 from Peel Region;
- 4 from York Region:
- 3 from Durham Region:
- 2 from Halton Region; and
- 2 from Hamilton-Wentworth;

The Board will not have any direct decision making authority over matters such as waste disposal, sewer and water infrastructure or any other such common, region-wide issues. The Board can however offer advice on such matters. The combined region wide population is 4.5 million.

May 5/98 Provincial Budget. Land Transfer Tax Rebate program extended.

May 11/98 Bill 146, The Farming and Food Production Protection Act, receives Royal Assent.

June 26/98 Municipal Affairs Minister, Al Leach, discusses a proposed law that would create a coordinating agency for planning in the GTA. The proposed law would coordinate strategic

planning, economic development and tourism, and social assistance programs in the city.

The law is to be introduced in the Ontario legislature in late September.

Niagara Escarpment Commission

Dec 1/95 Niagara Escarpment Commission budget is reduced \$0.7 M as part of MoEE projected

operating budget cutbacks for the 1996/97 fiscal year.

Aug 13/96 Ministry of Environment and Energy posts a proposed exemption on the Environmental Bill of Rights Registry that would eliminate the need for pits and guarries on the Niagara Escarpment, that were in existence before June 1975, to obtain development permits for

expansion. The proposal affects more than 40 quarries on the Escarpment.

Aug 96 The terms of five Niagara Escarpment Commissioners expire without renewal.

Oct 17/96 Exemption from future permit requirements for expansions granted for pre-1975 pits and quarries on the Niagara Escarpment as per August 1996 proposals.

Mar 5/97 The Ministry of Natural Resources announces that Regulation 136/96 was approved without revision. The regulation exempted lands from Development Control on the Niagara

Escarpment near the Town of Hamilton.

Mar 97 Responsibility for the administration of the Niagara Escarpment Planning and Development Act and the Niagara Escarpment Commission transferred from the Ministry of the Environment to the Ministry of Natural Resources. Transfer is compared to putting "Dracula in charge of the blood bank," given the strong ties between MNR and the aggregates industry.

- May 15/97 The Niagara Escarpment Commission is unable to deal with a development permit request as the number of eligible and available board members was insufficient to form a quorum. Under the current government, the board has been reduced from 17 to 10 members.
- Jun 12/97 Appointment of seven Niagara Escarpment Commissioners, some of whom have called for the dissolution of the Niagara Escarpment Plan and the abolition of the designation of the escarpment as a World Biosphere Preserve by the United Nations.
- Aug 27/97 Norman Seabrook is appointed to the Niagara Escarpment Commission. The appointee has stated publicly that the Niagara Escarpment Commission should be abolished and that the United Nations Biosphere Reserve status is illegitimate.
- Apr 16/98 Government appoints David Arnill to the Niagara Escarpment Commission. Mr Arnill is the former campaign manager for Energy Minister Jim Wilson and the past president of the Aggregate Producers of Ontario.
- June 98 Niagara Escarpment Commission votes to reject advice of planning staff and approval a major tourist development on lands designated Escarpment Protection Area within the Niagara Escarpment Plan Area. Approval is criticized for setting a precedent for resort developments in the rural parts of the Plan Area.
- Dec 16/98 Bill 101 *Red Tape Reduction Act #2)* Introduced. Schedule M amends a number of natural resources acts including:

Niagara Escarpment Planning and Development Act

"streamline" plan amendment process, reduce timelines, eliminate hearings in certain circumstances.

allow the Minister or hearing officers to dismiss notices of appeal of development permits where these are "frivolous, not made in good faith, made for purpose of delay or without merit on land-use planning grounds:

allow Commission decisions to be confirmed without approval by the Minister if they are the same as hearing officers reports;

extend the review period for the plan from five to ten years and "clarify" the ministers authority to prescribe the terms of reference for a plan review.

Bill 101 died on the order Paper when the Legislative session ended on Dec 18, 1998.

Ministry of Natural Resources and Public Lands

Jan 29/96

The Ontario Legislature enacts Bill 26, the Government Savings and Restructuring Act and in so doing amends many acts governing land use including:

the Public Lands Act, amends work permit provisions; reduces capacity of courts to order restoration:

the Municipal Act: easier municipal restructuring, land annexation, and service cost or user fee implementation:

the Conservation Authorities Act: new provisions allow the dissolution of CAs and easier sale of CA lands. Limitations placed on scope of CA activities and funding.

Nov 5/96

Ministry of Natural Resources adopts regulations to guide activities on Crown land. The new regulations reduce the need for work permits by 80% in an effort to save over \$1 million. The regulations frequently except activities related to mineral exploration and logging but attempt to capture whatever activities remain. The regulations reflect many of the relaxations brought about by Omnibus Bill 26 (enacted on January 29, 1996), in particular they include:

the repeal of most fire, travel and work permit provisions:

the elimination of many permitting requirements when constructing, altering or using a dam, dock or other water works (some larger buildings still require a permit); the permitting of many types of bridges, culverts, agricultural drains, trenching and dams on private or municipal lands without a work permit; on Crown lands, bridges, culverts and dams do require a permit but agricultural drains and trenching for

private residences are exempt;

the use of regulations in place of statutory obligations which severely reduces the capacity of courts to order restoration in the case of damage to the natural environment;

the majority of activities on public lands and waters being made immediately permissible (fewer activities remain captured by the permitting process);

new trails through Crown land will mostly not require a permit; permit exemptions are clearly granted for trails for mineral exploration, timber or other resource extraction; dredging, controlling aquatic plants, building docks and boathouses and laying submarine cable are free from permitting requirements if they are private (as opposed to commercial) and if they are intended for a log salvage operation;

100 square metres of vegetation annually can be removed in waters in southern Ontario without a permit:

only exceptional burning will be captured by permit requirements (industrial slash pile burning and ecologically prescribed burns). All other small-scale incinerations are automatically permitted.

Jan 16/97

Bill 106, The Fair Municipal Finance Act introducted. The Bill would improve the tax treatment of conservation lands, farm lands and managed forest lands.

Feb 3/97

The Red Tape Reduction Act (Ministry of Natural Resources), 1997 goes to 1st Reading. If passed, the following amendments will be made to the Public Lands Act.

a land use planning process will be set up that allows for participation by stakeholders and controls activities that may be inconsistent with approved land use

the need for order in council approvals will be removed and authority will be delegated to the Minister;

the Minister may order the transfer of administration and control of public lands to other government bodies; and

administrative fees will be set by the Minister, rather than established by regulation.

Conservation Authorities Act:

authorities will be allowed to enter into agreements to permit exploration and extraction of oil and gas reserves on land adjacent to authority land;

authorities would be permitted to lease land for terms of up to five years without approval:

maximum fines for violations of the regulations will be increased from \$1,000 to

\$10,000, and from \$100 to \$1,000;

anyone convicted of constructing a building or dumping fill may be ordered by the court to restore the site to its previous state (or to pay for the authority to do the work if the order is not complied with); and

the Lieutenant Governor in Council would no longer be required to approve appointments of members to a Conservation Authority.

Apr 97

The Ministry of Natural Resources prepares to launch a year-long consultation and planning process for Crown lands called *Lands for Life* (process and committees officially launched on June 17/97). The program has three elements:

Nature's Best - a plan to create a network of protected wilderness areas in Ontario; Resource-Based Tourism Policy - a plan to identify resources for use by the tourism industry;

Forest Management - a plan to attempt to ensure that forests are managed sustainably.

Three roundtables have been proposed to undertake the consultation:

Great Lakes - St Lawrence:

Boreal East: and

Boreal West.

Their composition will be determined and appointed by the Minister and are expected to include 8-12 people. The consultation is scheduled to complete by the spring of 1998. The critical issue of forest industry tenure on Crown lands is being held outside of this process and is subject to discussions between the province and the industry only. It is expected to be determined after, not before this planning process.

May 97 The Fair Municipal Finance Act receives Royal Assent.

Dec 10/97

The Ministry of Natural Resources issues a request for proposals from parties knowledgeable about real estate to assist in the development of a disposition strategy for public lands controlled by the MNR. The subject lands are located throughout the province.

Oct 30/98

MNR releases the consolidated Lands for Life Recommendations. Lands for Life was established in the Spring of 1997 to determine the fate of 47% of the province's landbase, mostly in the central to north of the province. Three Round Tables conducted consultations over approximately a year. Criticisms were levied that the process was heavily weighted in favour of industrial forestry, mining and hunting interests. The recommendations included:

79% of the Crown land be open to forestry, mining and all other resource extraction industries;

completion of a park system that has "minimal impact on forestry or mining sectors"; 703,000 ha of new parks/protected areas (total area covered under the recommendations is 46 million hectares);

five new land use designations: stewardship areas, enhanced management areas, heritage waterways, Great Lakes heritage coastlines and general use areas;

support for resource based tourism;

angling allowed everywhere;

hunting in most new provincial parks and everywhere else;

snowmobile / all terrain vehicle use virtually everywhere.

Nov 11/98

Ministry of Natural Resources announced a "Strategic Lands Initiatives" to streamline, refocus and expand its Crown land disposition program. The Ministry states that it has disposed of 99 properties which accounted for 1,899 hectares of land with a value of just over \$8 million in 1997/98.

Dec 16/98

Bill 101 Red Tape Reduction Act #2) introduced. Schedule M amends a number of natural resources acts including:

Public Lands Act

permit unregistered letters patent to be cancelled, allowing for the faster execution of land sales.

Bill 101 died on the order Paper when the Legislative session ended on December 18, 1998.

Dec 18/98

Bill 25, *Red Tape Reduction Act, 1998.* Receives Royal Assent. Schedule I of the Bill amends a number of MNR statues including: *Public Lands Act*

provides for the delegation of the Minister's duties under the Act to "any person." removes limits on size or dollar value of public lands that can be leased or sold. provides statutory authority for the implementation of the 'Lands for Life' land-use planning process. Land-use plans outlining uses in specific zones will be subject to approval by the Minister following a 30 day public comment period.

The Bill also consolidated the *Trees Act, Woodlands Improvement Act, Forest Trees Pest Control Act,* and amended the *Crown Forest Sustainability Act, Forest Fires Prevention Act, Mining Act, Provincial Parks Act,* and the *Surveys Act and the Surveyors Act.*

March 29/99

Government Responds to Lands for Life Round Table Recommendations. Increases protected areas in planning area to 12%, but makes major concessions to the forestry and mining industries.

ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE & MONITORING

Oct 6/95 Government-wide operating budget reductions released by the Office of the Premier. Effect on the Ministry of Environment and Energy:

reduce environmental research grants \$1.0 M in 1995-96 and 1996-97; Reductions

to Ministry of Natural Resources:

science, management, Great Lakes, aboriginal and field programs \$10.2 M in each of 1995-96 and 1996-97.

Dec 1/95 The Ministry of Environment and Energy announces some projected operating budget

cutbacks for the 1996/97 fiscal year. Programs terminated: environmental research and public education \$2.3 M

April 11/96 MNR Business Plan released. Cuts by 1997/98 include:

Streamlined Data Acquisition and Management \$6.5 M; Reduced Resource Management Staffing \$18.1 M; and Streamlined Forest Management Activity \$45.9 M.

Jun 96 The release of the International Joint Commission 8th Biennial Report.

Sep 96 The Ministry of Environment and Energy and the Ministry of Health terminate the provision

of drinking water testing services to municipalities.

Mar 14/97 The Ministry of Environment and Energy acknowledges that a state of the environment report for the province was discontinued after partial completion in 1995. The partially completed report cites problems with high levels of ground level ozone, fecal coliform in water and

unchecked land development as needing attention.

Apr 22/97 The release of the Environmental Commissioner of Ontario Second Annual Report. See detailed listing in section *Environmental Bill of Rights & Public Participation in Decision*

Making.

May 6/97 Finance Minister Ernie Eves delivers the Progressive Conservative government's second

budget. In the budget, an R&D Challenge Fund is established. The Fund will provide tax credits and some direct support to industries conducting research and development primarily in advanced technology. Environmental Sciences is listed as one of four target areas after Natural Sciences and Engineering, Mathematics and Health Sciences. All disciplines,

however, are eligible to apply to the Fund.

May 14/97 Environment Minister Norm Sterling announces an environmental technology advisory project sponsored by the MoEE. Under the project, Ministry experts will be made available to provide written evaluations of new technologies. It is intended that this will give investors or buyers of the technology the confidence to proceed with its development or implementation. The

project will initially focus on:

evaluating methods for treating water and wastewater;

air pollution control;

site remediation and handling and treatment of hazardous waste;

Ontario-based companies with technologies that are generally unproven, or unproven in Ontario, are eligible to apply for this service.

May 97 Ministry of Environment and Energy announces a number of programs to speed the approval of, and promote new environmental technologies:

the New Environmental Technologies Evaluation (NETE) program will review the potential for a particular technology's application in Ontario. The review, if positive, will speed up the placement of the technology in site-specific applications;

Environmental technology development may also be supported through the R&D

Challenge fund which provides tax breaks for companies undertaking research development in several areas of science and engineering.

Jul 29/97

Release of report by the Commission for Environmental Cooperation "Taking Stock/North American Pollutant Releases and Transfers - 1994." The province of Ontario is ranked third in North America behind Texas and Tennessee as a source of release and transfer of matched NPRI and TRI substances. Ontario is also the leading recipient of waste exports from the United States. Canadian facilities are found on average, to generate twice the amount of pollutants than their American counterparts.

Jul 97

Environment Canada and U.S. EPA Release "State of the Great Lakes 1997." Report summarizes state of the Great Lakes Basin Ecosystem. Key conclusions:

aquatic community health: mixed/improving;

aquatic habitat and wetlands: poor;

state of human health in the Great Lakes basin, as reflected by human exposure to persistent toxic substances: mixed/improving;

and toxic contaminants: mixed/improving.

Jul 97

The "1996 Report on Federal Provincial Agreements for the Eastern Canada Acid Rain Program" by Environment Canada concluded that "even with full implementation of the U.S. Acid Rain Program, 791,000 km² is still expected to receive acid deposition in excess of critical loads or threshold levels."

Oct 97

The International Joint Commission publishes "The IJC and the 21st Century." The Commission states that transboundary air pollution problems will continue to worsen in the next century, threatening the health of wildlife and human populations in the area. Government down-sizing in Canada and the U.S. has decreased the level and extent of environmental monitoring along the border. Down-sizing has also undermined the capacity of governments to cooperate and coordinate to address environmental problems in the areas that are of common interest.

Nov 97

Environment Canada produced an executive summary for "The Canada Study: Climate Impacts and Adaptation." Global Circulation Models simulations predict an average annual warming of 2-5 C by the end of the 21st century. Increased air pollution will negatively affect human health and concurrent climate change will lead to an increase in the frequency of extreme weather events and high pollution episodes.

Mar 27/98

Board members appointed to province's Ontario Research and Development Challenge Fund. The Ontario government will contribute \$500 million over 10 years. Board members' backgrounds include: medicine, banking, electronics research, systems design engineering, pathology, agri-food biotechnology, biotechnology, materials research and environmental science. As well, six members of the board will come from the Ontario government departments of: Ontario Jobs and Investment Board; Energy Science and Technology; Finance; Economic Development, Trade and Tourism; Education and Training and Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs.

Apr 1/98

New elementary school cirriculum adopted. Environmental content significantly reduced.

Apr 8/98

Ontario government announces intention to review the possibility of privatizing ORTECH which has, in past, conducted research on environmental modelling, clean-up technology and waste materials.

Apr 29/98

Environmental Commissioner for Ontario tables Third Annual Report: "Open Doors - Ontario's Environmental Bill of Rights." The Commissioner states "I regret to report that in the past year there has been little substantive improvement in the actions taken by provincial ministries toward protecting the environment." Comments on environmental monitoring issues include that crucial environmental data is not being collected in such areas as: *Ministry of the Environment:*

loading of toxic substances into Ontario's lakes and rivers;

presence of persistent toxic substances in sewage treatment plant effluent;

total loadings of raw sewage spills into waterways:

the condition of the 1 million plus septic systems in the province; and

emissions of inhalable particulates.

Ministry of Natural Resources:

no analysis of figures for harvested forest areas since 1991;

does few population surveys of small game species or non-game wildlife;

has no population estimates for most wildlife species that are vulnerable, threaten or endangered:

is not analyzing data on big game mortality, and its not producing provincial or regional reports; and

has weak information on rare species in Northern Ontario.

Apr 30/98

Three former Premiers of Ontario (Davis, Peterson and Rae) join a campaign to complete the funding for a Great Lakes environmental research centre at the University of Windsor. \$3.6 million is needed to complete the project when the provincial government withdrew a

prior funding commitment in 1995.

May 8/98 In Ottawa, a forum called "Understanding and Coping with Weather Disasters" draws the conclusion that extreme weather events are becoming more frequent. Storm damage magnitude is increasing as well. Recent flooding and ice storms in eastern Ontario were cited

as examples.

May 98 At the 41st conference of the International Association of Great Lakes Research, delegates were told that more and better early-warning environmental monitoring systems are urgently needed. Issues

covered:

Biological systems respond to the hazards associated with the complex mixtures of toxic pollutants that exist in the environment today. These systems need monitoring; How political restructuring and reduced funding could harm the ecological health of the Great Lakes shoreline in Ontario:

The devastating impact of lampreys on the lake trout.

Jun 26/98

The Ontario MoE and Environment Canada co-fund the establishment of an air quality monitoring station in Windsor, Ontario, in large part, to monitor the effects of transboundary air pollution, particularly the emissions of the Detroit Edison coal-fired power generating station at Conners Creek in Detroit, Michigan. The station will continually monitor sulphur dioxides, nitrogen oxides, inhalable particulate matter and mercury.

Jul 27/98

Public release of 1996 National Pollutant Release Inventory Data. Data shows decline in releases of pollutants to the environment, but a dramatic increase in transfers of pollutants in waste. The Ontario Minister of the Environment asserts that there are "serious flaws, inconsistencies and misinterpretations" in the National Pollutant Release Inventory system.

Jul 98

International Joint Commission releases 9th Biennial Report on Great Lakes Water Quality. Report notes that despite significant progress, society has not gone far enough in its efforts to restore the Lakes. The report stresses the need to achieve 'virtual elimination' of persistent toxic substances, along with concerns over land use patterns, shoreline development, habitat modification, biological contamination and nutrient input.

Oct 6/98

North American Commission for Environmental Cooperation releases second "Taking Stock" report based on 1995 NPRI and TRI data. Ontario again ranked third largest source of releases and transfers of pollutants in Canada and U.S., after Texas and Louisiana.

Dec 7/98

Reported that government of Ontario considering amalgamation of scientific and technical staff from the Ministries of the Environment, Natural Resources, Northern Development and Mines and Agriculture into a central research agency.

April 1/99 Ontario adopts new Secondary School Curriculum.

AIR QUALITY

Sep 8/95 Minister of Municipal Affairs disallows City of Toronto anti-idling by-law. The by-law was intended to curb smog by reducing emissions from vehicles at rest. Oct 24/95 Ontario Minister of Environment and Energy endorses national clean air standards proposed by the Task Force on Cleaner Vehicles and Fuels. Proposal includes the promotion of: fuel efficient/alternate fuel vehicles; inspection and maintenance programs; low emission vehicles by 2001; and new fuel standards. Nov 20/95 Minister of Environment and Energy endorses National Action Plan and Voluntary Challenge Registry (the federal government's approach to greenhouse gas reduction) at a meeting of Canada's environment and energy ministers. Jun 3/96 Introduction of Bill 57, the Environmental Approvals Improvement Act. Jun 96 The Ministry of Environment and Energy releases Towards a Smog Plan for Ontario: A Discussion Paper. The plan is a "call to action" outlining ways in which the Ontario government intends to tackle the goal of a 45% reduction in nitrogen oxides and volatile organic compounds. Jul 31/96 Ontario government releases a discussion paper entitled Responsive Environmental Protection which makes over 80 recommended changes to environmental regulation. The recommendations include revising the Environmental Bill of Rights Classification of Proposals for Instruments Regulation to eliminate notice requirements for proposals with minimal environmental impact. Recommendations impacting air quality regulations include: a general air regulation which would consolidate 20 air quality regulations into four; the consolidation of five ozone-depleting substances regulation into one regulation; harmonization of federal and provincial regulations on production of ozone-depleting substances. many proposals to regulate or amend regulations governing incinerators. Sep 10/96 Energy and Environment Minister Norm Sterling calls on the federal government to release a report detailing threats to air quality in Ontario from U.S. sources. Oct 1/96 Ministry of Environment and Energy announces that a pilot study testing vehicle emissions for air pollutants will conclude at the end of October. The study, which began in April 1995, gave drivers free inspections at the CleanAir Centre in Mississauga. Data from the study will be reviewed but the ministry has not committed itself to setting up a permanent program. Dec 12/96 Ministry of Environment and Energy releases its report Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change: 1996 Update on Initiatives in Ontario to Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions. In it, initiatives undertaken by Ontario to reduce GHG emissions and to respond to the threat of climate change are outlined. New initiatives include:

the development of options for a vehicle emissions inspection and maintenance program for Southern Ontario;

development of guidelines for the control of methane gas from landfills;

completion of an action plan to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from government buildings and vehicles by 40 per cent by the year 2000.

Despite these initiatives, Ontario and Canada will not meet the year 2000 GHG stabilization target.

Jan 16/97 The first successful appeal under the Ontario Environmental Bill of Rights is announced. Five applications were received in June 1996 to appeal the air and sewage approvals issued to Petro-Canada by the MoEE. Sulphur dioxide emission levels were subsequently reduced by

Air Quality A.30

20%.

Feb 25/97 The Ministry of Environment and Energy announces that it has revised the Gasoline Volatility Regulation (Reg. 271/91) to reduce emissions by lowering summertime gasoline volatility requirements in Southern Ontario from 72 kiloPascals (kPa) to 62 kPa. This amendment was previously agreed to at the CCME meeting of October 23, 1995. Minister of Environment and Energy Norm Sterling travels to 11 US states to seek Apr 21/97 cooperation on the issues of smog and toxic cleanup. The Minister cites his intent as being: to enlist state support so that we can keep the pressure on our two national governments

for stricter standards for pollution control." In March, the Minister had written to US Environmental Protection Agency Administrator Carol Browner about smog issues. May 21/97 The Minister of Environment and Energy Norm Sterling announces a proposal to improve the standards governing airborne particulate matter which contributes to smog. The particles

> subject to review and regulation are those up to 10 microns in diameter which can cause lung damage when inhaled. The proposed interim ambient air criterion would be: no more than 50 micrograms of PM10 per cubic metre of air over a 24-hour period.

> The proposal was posted on the Environmental Bill of Rights Registry; citizens and organizations will have 30 days to comment.

Jun 3/97 Minister of Environment and Energy announces Partners in Air, a "student-led air quality initiative." Under the program students will monitor air quality, use their findings in the classroom and exchange findings with other students in the program over the Internet.

The Premier of Ontario acknowledges in the legislature that more efforts have to be taken Jun 10/97 to tackle the problems of smog in Ontario.

Jul 11/97 At a meeting with the Governors of U.S. states bordering Great Lakes, Premiers of Ontario and Quebec solicit U.S. support to combat transboundary air pollution. The Premier of Ontario urges the U.S. Great Lakes states to reduce their air emissions to help Ontario in its efforts.

Jul 23/97 Ontario Premier Mike Harris publicly criticizes Minister of Environment and Energy Norm Sterling, for failing to move quickly enough to develop a vehicle-emissions testing program for the province.

The Ministry of Environment and Energy releases "Draft Guideline for Preparing a Source Inventory and Dispersion Modelling Report" a guide for demonstrating compliance with section 5 of Regulations 346 General - Air Pollution.

The "1996 Report on Federal Provincial Agreements for the Eastern Canada Acid Rain Program" by Environment Canada concluded that "even with full implementation of the U.S. Acid Rain Program, 791,000 km² is still expected to receive acid deposition in excess of critical loads or threshold levels. "

Aug 14/97 Ontario Hydro reveals that the coming increase in fossil fuel use (because of NAOP nuclear shut-down) will greatly increase emissions of carbon dioxide and acid gas emissions (nitrogen oxides and sulphur dioxide).

Aug 22/97 The Minister of Environment and Energy announces a vehicle emissions testing program called "Drive Clean" (see also retraction on Apr 17/98). Under the program, heavy duty trucks and buses would be the first to have their emissions tested. The next phase would see cars and light trucks in the Greater Toronto Area and in Hamilton have their emissions tested. Within a period of five years, the program would extend to various centres from Windsor to Peterborough. Under the program:

vehicles would be tested every time they change ownership or at every other years'

Jul 97

Jul 97

licensing renewal for cars and light trucks that are 4-19 years old; if the vehicle's exhaust does not conform to the model year standards, the vehicle could be subject to repairs up to \$200.

The program is aimed at reducing volatile organic compounds, nitrogen oxides and particulates.

- Aug 97 The International Cooperative Programme on Assessment and Monitoring of Acidification of Lakes and Rivers released "The Nine Year Report: Acidification of Surface Water in Europe and North America - Long term Developments (1980s and 1990s)." The report concluded that Quebec and Midwest North America had shown either no signs of water quality recovery or had experienced an increase in acidification despite declining sulphur concentrations.
- Aug 97 The Office of the Ontario Fire Marshall releases "Protecting the Public and Environment by Improving Fire Safety at Ontario's Recycling and Waste Handling Facilities." The report found that there was strong potential for fires at sites where waste, recyclable materials and hazardous materials are stored. These combustibles pose unique fire, explosion and environmental risks making more stringent government regulatory controls necessary.
- Sep 97 The Commission for Environmental Cooperation prepared "Continental Pollutant Pathways: An Agenda for Cooperation to Address Long-Range Transport of Air Pollution in North America." The report makes it clear that long-range persistent air pollutants pose significant threats to human health and the environment. Pollution prevention, achieved through trilateral cooperation between Canada, the U.S., and Mexico, is the best strategy for significantly reducing emissions from present levels.
- Oct 97 The Acidifying Emissions Task Group reported in "Towards a National Acid Rain Strategy" that by 2010, 95,000 lakes in southeastern Canada will remain damaged by acid rain. The health of forests in the area will be compromised and the level of biodiversity in the acidified lakes will be reduced. In addition, particle pollution was found to have detrimental effects on human health by increasing the incidence of respiratory problems and diseases. The Task Force concludes that a 75% reduction in permitted emissions from sources in Eastern Canada and the United States is required to halt the environmental and health damage being caused by acid rain.
- Oct 97 The Commission for Environmental Co-operation prepared "Long-Range Transport of Ground level Ozone and its Precursors: Assessment of Methods and Quantify Transboundary Transport Within the Northeastern United States and Eastern Canada." The report expresses concern that any further closing of monitoring stations will jeopardize the ability to track emission reductions and their affects on ozone levels. Ozone and its precursors enter Canada from the U.S. mainly from the Ohio Valley into southern Ontario and up the northeast corridor of the U.S. into the Atlantic Provinces.
- Nov 18/97 PM10 standard is implemented on an interim basis. It is classified as interim as a 'national' standard is to be developed through the CCME.
- elements dealing with air issues intend to: consolidate the Gasoline Volatility Regulation, Motor Vehicles Regulation and Recovery of Gasoline Vapour in Bulk Transfers Regulation into one regulation. consolidate the four Countdown Acid Rain regulations into one and reduce reporting requirements from quarterly to annual reports. The regulations apply to the four largest sources of acidifying emissions in Ontario: Ontario Hydro, Inco, Falconbridge

and Algoma Steel. consolidate Ambient Air Quality and General - Air Pollution Regulations; revoke obsolete Air Contaminants from Ferris Foundries Regulation; retain Hot Mix Asphalt Facilities regulation and supplement with an industry code of practice. The Ministry had proposed to replace this regulation with a SAR; retain the Lambton Industry Meteorological Alert Regulation, and supplement with

Release of "Better, Stronger Clearer: Environmental Regulations for Ontario". Specific

Nov 27/97

a contractual agreement with the Lambton Industrial Society. The Ministry had proposed to repeal this regulation.

retain the Sulphur Content of Fuels Regulation and the Boilers Regulation. The Ministry had proposed to repeal these regulations and replace them with a SAR.

Nov 97

Environment Canada produced an executive summary for "The Canada Study: Climate Impacts and Adaptation." Global Circulation Models simulations predict an average annual warming of 2-5 C by the end of the 21st century. Increased air pollution will negatively affect human health and concurrent climate change will lead to an increase in the frequency of extreme weather events and high pollution episodes.

Dec 6/97

The MoE wins the right to prosecute Inco Limited over a massive sulphur dioxide leak to the atmosphere in Sudbury in November 1995. The charges were temporarily in doubt after a hearing on April 4/97 in which the MoE did not appear as it had requested the relocation of the trial to Provincial Court.

Dec 10/97

Ontario Hydro becomes the first company in Canada to purchase credits for carbon dioxide emission reductions made outside of the country. The utility purchased 10,000 tons of carbon dioxide reduction credits from the Southern California Edison electric utility. The purchase was viewed as lending support to the concept of an international emissions trading program, one of the options under discussion at the Kyoto Conference on Climate Change.

Dec 18/97

Ministry of the Environment releases the study "Air Quality in Ontario 1995." The report indicates that:

between 1970 and 1995 carbon monoxide decreased by 87%; between 1970 and 1995 sulphur dioxide decreased by 86%

between 1970 and 1995 total suspended particulates decreased by 54%; and between 1974 and 1995 nitrogen oxides were reduced by 46% and nitrogen dioxide

by 22%.

Dec 30/97

EBR posting proposing to consolidate four Countdown Acid Rain regulations into one and reduce reporting requirements from quarterly to annual reports. The regulations apply to the four largest sources of Acidifying emissions in Ontario, Ontario Hydro, Inco, Falconbridge and Algoma Steel.

Dec 30/97

EBR posting of decision not to proceed with proposed SAR for Hot Mix Asphalt Facilities and to retain existing regulation 349 and supplement with an industry code of practice.

Jan 20/98

Ministry of Environment launches Ontario's Smog Plan. The goal of the plan is to reduce smog causing emissions by 45% by 2015. The plan attempts to rely upon:

a vehicle inspection and maintenance program called "Drive Clean" (which was announced but never implemented);

public involvement in smog reduction efforts;

efforts in the U.S. to reduce transboundary pollution; and

developing strategies for particulate emission reduction.

Environmental and public health organizations criticize the plan as being grossly inadequate with reference to its slow time line, reliance on voluntary action by industry, lack of source/sector targets, and lack of monitoring and reporting mechanisms.

Jan 98

The Institute for Environmental Studies (University of Toronto) and Pollution Probe release "Emissions for Coal-Fired Electric Stations: Environmental Health Effects and Reduction Options." The report concludes:

emissions of several key pollutants from coal-fired electric stations are at levels which represent a threat to human health and the environment. This threat remains despite emission reductions which have already been achieved.

over 90% of each of the five pollutants investigated are generated in the region defined as the Ohio Valley/Great Lakes States. Emissions from this region have a

Air Quality

direct impact on air and water quality in Ontario. Government action in Canada and the U.S. is required to achieve the coal station emission reductions necessary to obtain acceptable air quality standards to protect human and ecosystem health.

Jan 98

The Northeast States for Coordinated Air Use Management (NESCAUM) prepared "Air Pollution Impacts of Increased Deregulation in the Electric Power Industry: An Initial Analysis." NESCAUM is concerned that deregulation will result in "significantly increased power production at low-cost, highly polluting coal-fired plants." Deregulation will also cause a boost in smog levels unless NO_x and CO₂ emission caps are established.

Feb 27/98

Ontario Hydro decides against installing the modern air pollution control equipment at its Lennox Power Generating Station near Kingston. The equipment would reduce levels of nitrous oxides. Recently, Ontario Hydro has elected to install emission control devices at its Lambton and Nanticoke stations.

Mar 3/98

It is revealed that gasoline sulphur levels are higher in Ontario than anywhere else in North America and even other parts of the world. As a consequence, automakers say they will not agree to the provincial plan for smog reduction until gasoline refining improves. Average sulphur levels for various jurisdictions were:

Canada (1995) 343 ppm Ontario (1996) 533 ppm Atlantic (1995) 276 ppm Quebec (1995) 364 ppm Prairies (1995) 228 ppm B.C. (1995) 273 ppm

The US average is 260 ppm while the average in California is 30 ppm. The MoE estimates that 1800 premature deaths are caused by air pollution each year. Sulphur dioxide is a significant lung irritant.

Mar 13/98

Environment Canada and Ontario Ministry of Environment fail to file full submissions with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency before the 120 day consultation period for a proposed tougher limit on smog expired. Environment Canada filed a letter while, the MoE suggested that it might comment at a later date. Ontario is one of the regions of Canada most impacted by transboundary sources of smog.

Mar 19/98

Minister of Environment places a hold on the approval of any new small space heaters that burn waste oil pending "public input on the environmental impact of the heaters." The MoE estimates that about 10 million litres of oil per year are disposed of this way each year in the province.

Mar 31/98

Proposals for revisions of standards for 10 hazardous air pollutants posted on EBR registry. Some of the proposed air standards have been weakened significantly from the Ministry's January 1997 proposals. See "Standards Setting and Regulatory Processes" for more detail.

Apr 17/98

Premier indicates that a possible delay of up to one year to initiate "Drive Clean" the province's vehicle emission testing program is unacceptable. The MoE had indicated that it would be operating by Spring 1999.

heavy trucks and buses were to be tested this summer across southern Ontario followed by cars and light trucks in Hamilton and the Greater Toronto Area in autumn;

by the year 2000 vehicles in 13 cities were to be subject to mandatory testing.

April 23/98

Speech from the Throne makes vague references environmental protection: "Understanding the role that a clean environment plays in attracting jobs and investment, your government is determined to improve our air and water quality through initiatives such as Drive Clean." The Drive Clean program has still not yet been implemented.

Apr 29/98

The International Joint Commission calls upon the Canadian and U.S. governments to make a major reduction in the sulphur content of gasoline. Ontario gasoline has the highest sulphur content (550 ppm) in the western world. The IJC calls for the current California standard of an annual average of 30 ppm and a maximum of 80 ppm by the year 2001, and not later than

Air Quality A.34

2005.

Apr 29/98

The Environmental Commissioner of Ontario releases her annual audit of Ontario government environmental policies and programs. Air quality programs were identified as being particularly deficient: "even if all of the ministry's proposed pollution-control activities are carried out, 20 years from now Ontario's air quality will be worse than it is today. Notable points include:

even where the government has adequate regulation, they tend to go under-enforced as a result of substantial budget cuts;

Ontario's Smog Plan has almost no details as to how it will achieve one-half of the required reduction in smog agents;

the MoE is relying heavily on voluntary actions by industry to meet air quality targets; new technology exists to cut air emissions but the government has no plan to phase out the older equipment in use under certificates issued in past;

the vacating from the municipal transit sphere by the provincial government; Ontario Hydro's new heavier reliance on coal.

May 8/98

Ontario Hydro announces that it has sold emission credits worth \$500,000 to a Connecticut company (Hartford Co-generation Ltd) in order for that company to achieve its state-directed emission targets. 500 tonnes of nitrogen oxides were sold under the Pilot Emission Reduction Trading Project. The credits were reviewed in Canada by the PERT Project. and approved in the US by the Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection. Ontario Hydro created the credits by reducing nitrogen oxide emissions through the use of new burners and other modification to its Nanticoke and Lambton generating stations in 1995 and 1996.

May 12/98

The Ontario Medical Association (OMA) states publicly that it is dangerous to breath the air during smog episodes when air pollution exceeds provincial guidelines. In summer, emissions from automobiles, equipment and plants combine with sunlight to produce smog conditions which reduce lung function, worsen asthma symptoms and even cause premature death. The OMA called for:

equivalent of California standards for sulphur in gas (no more than 30 ppm). Ontario is currently at about 550 ppm;

reduced acid emissions from coal-fired electricity stations; and

a complaint under the US Clean Air Act to reduce emissions emanating from US sources.

May 13/98

Toronto City Council unanimously endorses a plan to reduce smog. The plan could involve the following measures on smog prone days:

suspension of road paving and pesticide spraying activities; shutting off lawnmowers and other gasoline-powered equipment; asking Ontario Hydro to reduce its atmospheric emissions; and

reducing the amount of sewage sludge incineration at the city's main waste treatment plant.

May 15/98

Province issues first smog alert of the season. The episode is the earliest smog incident since 1988. A rating of 50 is considered poor, the day's rating is 59 (scale is 0 to 100 with 100 the worst). The year's above average temperature trend suggests that more smog days may lay ahead if the trend continues.

July 7/98

In 1995, the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME) concluded that a sulphur level of 200 parts per million (ppm) should be a target for gasoline. In July of 1998, a survey of gas stations across the country determined that Ontario was the province with the highest level of sulphur content in gasoline and that Imperial Oil was the gasoline company with the highest levels of sulphur, both substantially higher than 200 ppm. The major concern that arises from high levels of sulphur is their contribution to smog--a problem that the Ontario Medial Association (OMA) claims to be responsible for approximately 1,800 premature deaths in the province. The OMA would like to see the gasoline sulphur content

Air Quality

at 30 ppm.

July 7/98	Minister of the Environment announces the Ontario Smog Patrol program. First, drivers of vehicles that visibly emit smoke will be given a warning that they need to have their vehicle emissions tested and get the vehicles repaired. Later, offending drivers will be fined approximately \$300 for a light-duty vehicle and \$500 for a heavy-duty vehicle. Critics argue that this program is masking the delay of the Drive Clean program.
July 10/98	Ontario's Environment Minister, indicates that Ontario's Drive Clean program, which will apply to Ontario vehicles as well as visiting U.S. vehicles, and that Ontario will refuse to import electricity from companies that do not meet the province's air quality standards.
July 13/98	Environmental Practices Guide adopted to supplement Regulation 349 (Hot Mix Asphalt Facilities). Guide is intended to reduce air pollution associated with hox mix asphalt facilities.
July 15/98	Twenty-three Ontario truckers are issued warnings as part of the Ontario Smog Patrol. The primary objective of the program is to 'clean up' approximately 2.5 million vehicles throughout the province that are over 10 years old and/or have inadequate pollution control equipment. Fines of \$300 for personal vehicles and \$500 for commercial vehicles are to be issued in August when equipment to test emissions levels is acquired.
July 16/98	Major increases in emissions of sulphur dioxide reported from the U.S. electric utility sector for 1996.
July 17/98	Ontario Premier is criticized for not attending the Annual State Governors and Canadian Premiers meeting on the Great Lakes. The meeting was viewed as an opportunity for Ontario to state position regarding the control of smog entering Ontario from the United States.
July 25/98	Council of Great Lakes Governors rejects requests from Canada's Ambassador to the United States, and the Premier of Quebec to support tougher air pollution regulations in the United States.
Aug 21/98	MoE announces that 7,000 automotive repair shops have been contacted about operating as an emissions testing centre under the province's Drive Clean Program. The program's implementation has been significantly delayed but is slated to commence in April 1999. Details can be found in the August 1997 brief entitled "Ontario's Drive Clean Program", released by the Ministry of the Environment.
Aug 22/98	Environment Minister, Norm Sterling, announces that Ontario's Drive Clean program will no longer be managed by a private sector company (SHL Systemhouse Inc.). Critics argue that this announcement illustrates that the Minister has not taken any substantial action to ensure the implementation of this program or improve the province's air quality.
Sep 8/98	MoE signs letter of understanding with 15 projects under the Pilot Emission Reduction Trading (PERT) Program.
Sep 9/98	The MoE announces that Ontario Hydro has been continuing to meet its emission caps for acid gases (215 kilotonnes) under Regulation 355/90. Concern has been expressed that as a result of the Nuclear Asset Optimization Plan, Hydro's emissions would exceed its cap (See Feb 10/99).
Sep 28/98	US EPA announces new plan requiring major reductions in Nitrogen Oxide emissions in 22 eastern states.
Sept 30/98	First air AERs (Approval Exemption Regulation) come into effect. See entry under approvals for details.

Air Quality A.36

Oct 5/98

Ministry of the Environment posts proposal to transfer responsibility for the administration and operation of the Lambton Industry Meteorological Alert program to the Lambton Industrial Society. LIS will monitor ambient SO_2 concentrations and weather conditions; notify the Ministry spills action centre when concentrations are such that a LIMA needs to be initiated or terminated; and will notify the affected industries. The air monitoring station at Port Huron Ontario will be removed as part of the proposal.

Oct 7/98

David Suzuki Foundation releases a report concluding that air pollution causes the premature deaths of 16,000 Canadians per year.

Oct 18/98

Bill 35, *The Energy Competition Act, 1998*, receives Royal Assent. Bill is intended to introduce competition into the electricity market in Ontario. The Bill divides Ontario Hydro into three entities:

Ontario Electricity Generation Corporation with generating assets;

Ontario Services Corporation to operate transmission and distribution infrastructure; and

Ontario Hydro Financial Corporation to hold Ontario Hydro's debt.

Service Corporation and Generation Corporation are to be incorporated under the *Business Corporations Act* held in right of her majesty in Right of Ontario. Among other things, they will escape application of *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act* and other accountability mechanisms that apply to public entities.

Financial corporation continued as corporation without share capital made up of its board of directors.

Bill also creates an Independent Market Operator (IMO) another corporation without share capital made up of its board of directors, to operate the market.

The Bill creates an Electrical Safety Authority, to assume electrical safety regulation functions of Ontario Hydro. It is a delegated regulatory organization similar to the Technical Standards and Safety Authority.

The Ontario Energy Board is provided with a regulatory function through requirements for licensing as a condition of market access.

The Act makes provision for the requirement of electricity suppliers to be in compliance with environmental performance standards as a condition of market access, but makes no provision regarding the nature of those standards.

Oct 19/98

Energy and Environment Ministers announce *Canada-Wide Acid Rain Strategy for Post-2000*. The Strategy contains no specific reduction goals or timetables. In October 1997, the Acidifying Emissions Task Group of the National Air Issues Coordinating Committee concluded that a 75% reduction in current regulatory limits for sulphur dioxide emissions was necessary to halt damage to lakes and human health.

Oct 19/98

Ontario Ministers of the Environment, Transportation and Economic Development write to the federal environment Minister opposing lowering permitted sulphur content of fuel to 30 ppm by 2005.

Oct 20/98

Ministry of the Environment expands regulatory exemptions from approval processes to include air conditioning units of any size; and equipment for the transfer of outdoor air into a building.

Nov 3/98

Provincial Auditor tables 1998 Annual Report:

Ministry of the Environment

Report is critical of Ministry of the Environment's failure to act on the Auditor's 1996 recommendations regarding the revision of the province's standards for hazardous air

Air Quality A.37

pollutants.

Nov 20/98 Proposal to exempt certain modifications to boilers from requirements of Regulation 338 (Boilers). Minister states this is to facilitate combustion efficiency improvements.

Dec 2/98 Ministry of the Environment proposes following regulatory exemptions from air Approval requirements:

> contaminants from the grounds of a race track, if the emission of contaminants is attributable to the racing of horses, dogs, or motorized or non-motorized vehicles: emissions of contaminants from the grounds or premises upon or in which a special amusement, entertainment, charitable, political, education, artistic, musical or sporting event is held, if the emission of contaminants is attributable to the special event;

natural gas or propane gas dispensing units;

emission of contaminants from a shooting range, if the contaminants are attributable to the firing of a gun or guns;

any equipment, apparatus, mechanism or thing that is used for the ventilation of emissions resulting from vehicles, trains, forklifts, etc used in warehouses and enclosed storage areas: and

any equipment, apparatus, mechanism or thing that is used solely to mitigate the effects of an emergency declared to exist under the Emergency Plans Act.

Dec 23/98 Ministry of the Environment adopts revised air standards for 9 substances (1,4 Dichlorobenzene, Acetalkehyde, Carbon Tetrachloride, Ethylene Dichloride, Formaldehyde, Methylene Chloride, Tetrachloroethylene, Styrene, Trichloroethylene). In some cases, new standards are unchanged from existing standards (1,4, Dichlorobenzene, formaldehyde, Tetrachlorethylene (Pol), Syrene, Methylene Chloride.

Jan 22/99 Ministry of the Environment invites input on revision of air standards for 18 substances (Acrylonitrile, Ammonia, Chlorine, Chloroform, Ethylbenzene, Ethyl Ether, Hydrogen Chloride, Isopropylbenzene, methanol, Methyl Ethyl Ketone, Methyl Isobutyl Ketone, Mineral Spirits. n-Heptane, n-Hexane, Propylene Oxide, Toluene, Vinylidene Chloride, and Xylenes).

Feb 10/99 Premier and Minister of the Environment announce intention to join US EPA court action to force 22 states to comply with nitrogen oxide standards announced in September 1998.

Reported Ontario Hydro approaching Countdown Acid Rain program regulatory caps for Feb 17/99 emissions of SOx and NOx as a result of implementation of August 1997 Nuclear Asset Optimization Plan. SOx emissions have risen 15% and NOx emissions by 30% between 1997 and 1998.

Apr 1/99 The first day of implementation of Ontario's Drive vehicle inspection and maintenance program.

Apr 22/99 Ministry of Environment posting (EBR # RA9E0003) indicates its intent to adjust the emission standards under its Drive Clean program in a manner that would harmonize them with those of the US EPA. The standard revision will be made by amendment 86/99 to Ontario Regulation 361/98 under the Environmental Protection Act.

May 18/99 Environmental Commissioner of Ontario recommends an independent review of the province's air quality protections. The recommendation was made in response to an application for investigation by the Sierra Legal Defense Fund.

Air Quality

A.38

WASTE MANAGEMENT

Jul 5/95	Ontario government announces the dismantling of the Interim Waste Authority.
Jul 31/95	Ontario government formally posts its proposal to repeal the ban on new municipal solid waste incinerators on the <i>Environmental Bill of Rights</i> environmental registry. Proposal includes new emission standards for incinerators. Ontario Government proposes exemption order under the <i>Environmental Assessment Act</i> so that municipalities will not be required to consider incineration as an alternative in waste management planning.
Aug 19/95	Ontario Northland Transportation Commission given approval to actively plan for use of Kirkland Lake abandoned mine for waste disposal.
Aug 31/95	The wrap-up of the Ontario Waste Management Corporation.
Oct 6/95	Government-wide operating budget reductions released by the Office of the Premier. Cutbacks affecting waste management include: redesign municipal recycling support program (\$3.22 M); elimination of OWMC and three advisory committees: ACES, EAAC, MISA total \$0.8 M.
Oct 20/95	Minister of Environment and Energy announces that the Ontario government will review the Environmental Assessment process for waste disposal sites. A possible outcome of the review could be the exemption of new landfills from the EA process.
Dec 1/95	The Ministry of Environment and Energy announces some projected operating budget cutbacks for the 1996/97 fiscal year. Terminated programs include: recycling, reduction, reuse support (\$5.6 M); household hazardous waste funding (\$0.2 M); home green-ups (\$8.4 M);
Dec 13/95	Ministry of Environment and Energy lifts ban on new municipal solid waste (MSW) incinerators.
Dec 18/95	Minister of Environment and Energy announces a new policy governing the liability of lenders when they assume a site with environmental damage. An exemption from environmental liability has been granted to lenders for the clean-up of sites of which they take possession.
Jan 2/96	A new guideline for emissions from new municipal solid waste incinerators issued by the Minister of Environment and Energy. Limits are performance-based and require continuous stack monitoring.
Jan 11/96	The MoEE announces new guidelines on the EBR Registry: "Guidelines for the Utilization of Biosolids and Other Wastes on Agricultural Land." These will amalgamate former guidelines for sewage sludge with draft interim guidelines on the agricultural application of waste other than sewage sludge.
Jun 3/96	The Minister of Environment and Energy tables the <i>Environmental Approvals Improvement Act</i> in the legislature. The Act is intended to alter the environmental approvals process and a variety of acts and bodies: the repeal of the Ontario Waste Management Corporation Act and the shut-down of the Environmental Compensation Corporation; the repeal of the Ontario Waste Management Corporation Act; the creation of authority for the MoEE to recover administrative cost from activities such as waste generator registration and manifests, water well records and permits to take water.

Waste Management A.39

to take water.

(for a fuller description of Bill 57 see Jun 3/96 listing under *Environmental Standards & Regulatory Processes*).

Jun 17/96

Ministry of Environment and Energy announces new landfill standards to guide ministry approvals. The proposed standards emphasize community input and include requirements for siting, design, operation, monitoring, protecting ground and surface waters, controlling landfill gas, contingency planning and financial assurance. Changes to the environmental assessment process however could mean that community input provisions are ineffective.

Jul 19/96

Taro Aggregates Ltd. receives approval under the *Environmental Assessment Act* to establish a landfill site in Stoney Creek.

Jul 96

Ministry of Environment and Energy releases a revised soil cleanup guideline (*Guideline for Use at Contaminated Sites in Ontario*).

Jul 31/96

Ontario government releases a discussion paper entitled *Responsive Environmental Protection* which makes over 80 recommended changes to environmental regulation. The recommendations include revising the Environmental Bill of Rights Classification of Proposals for Instruments Regulation to eliminate notice requirements for proposals with minimal environmental impact. Recommendations impacting waste management regulation include:

designating standards and approval requirements according to four classes of facility, based on potential environmental risk;

establishing comprehensive and specific standards for the design and operation of landfills:

revising the definition of "recyclable material" and harmonizing the federal and provincial definitions of "hazardous waste";

consolidating all waste management requirements into a single regulation; and setting of approval requirements for mobile PCB destruction facilities.

Oct 31/96

Ministry of Environment and Energy confirms that the Ontario Cabinet will not intervene in last year's decision to reject Redland Quarries landfill site proposal. The proposal called for quarry lands in the town of Flamborough to be converted into a 26-million-tonne industrial waste landfill site. Residents had been fighting the proposal for 10 years.

May 21/97

Ministry of the Environment and Energy issues an exemption order which allows municipalities to not consider municipal waste incinerators as an alternative in current municipal waste management plans for the purposes of the *Environmental Assessment Act*.

Jun 10/97

Ontario Court decision that only "unusable leftovers" from processing or recycling operations should be considered 'waste.' The Court also concluded that 'chop line residue' (PVC wire coating) did not meet this definition and was therefore exempt from the waste management requirements of the *Environmental Protection Act*. The Ministry of the Environment had argued before the court that the material was a hazardous waste and should be regulated as such. The Court decision greatly expands the scope of the exemptions for 'recycling' from Ontario waste management regulations.

Jun 12/97

Ministry of Transportation posts decision on EBR registry stating that it will no longer test, prior to approval, materials used to minimize dust during road construction and on unpaved rural roads. Instead, the Ministry will depend on the list of dust suppressants issued by the Ministry of Environment. However, the MoE's list comes with the disclaimer: "The MoE does not endorse any of the following products nor does it guarantee that the products are environmentally benign."

Jul 6/97

Ontario Environment Minister Norm Sterling announces that the MoEE will spend \$18 million to clean up the hazardous materials, including low level radioactive wastes, left behind at the Deloro Mine north of Belleville. Mine wastes have been leaching into the Moira River that flows south into the Bay of Quinte at Lake Ontario.

Jul 11/97

A fire begins at a plastics recycling operation in Hamilton known as Plastimet. The fire burns for nearly 72 hours before it is brought under control. The MoEE is criticized for the length of time it took (12 hours) to respond with on-site testing and monitoring. Details of the incident:

650 persons were evacuated due to smoke hazard (benzene);

water entering Hamilton Harbour from the fire site has 2000 times the normal level for zinc:

chromium, lead and cadmium are also of concern;

during and after the blaze, concerns are raised about levels dioxins and furans in the immediate vicinity;

for the most part, the province has resisted getting involved, preferring instead to regard the incident as a municipal matter.

Jul 29/97

Release of report by the Commission for Environmental Cooperation "Taking Stock/North American Pollutant Releases and Transfers - 1994." The province of Ontario is ranked third in North America behind Texas and Tennessee as a source of release and transfer of matched NPRI and TRI substances. Ontario is also the leading recipient of waste exports from the United States. Canadian facilities are found on average, to generate twice the amount of pollutants than their American counterparts.

Aug 20/97

The Office of the Fire Marshall submits its report to the Minister of the Solicitor General and Correctional Services on fire safety at recycling and waste handling facilities. The report is a follow-up to the July 1997 Plastimet fire. Some of the twelve recommendations in the report include:

new recycling facilities should be monitored much more closely for compliance with local zoning by-laws and fire safety requirements;

facilities without a Regulation 347 Certificate of Approval should require similar identification and control measures;

examining the establishment of a provincial contingency fund;

update the fire code provisions for storage and handling of flammable liquids:

increase fines and allow municipalities to retain fine revenue;

develop a coordinated training plan for and with fire experts and recycling facility operators;

the recycling industry should set up an industry-wide council and code of conduct; more resources are needed for local fire departments to handle such situations.

Aug 26/97

Aquatech Blue Ltd., an oil recycling firm is charged with dumping waste oil containing toxic materials in Toronto Harbour. Previously it had been convicted of discharging metal-based releases into sanitary sewers. The Ontario government seeks extradition of three US citizens charged with the Lake Ontario dumping.

Aug 29/97

A spill at a manufacturing unit in Guelph dumps 3000 litres of an industrial lubricant into the water supply system prompting health officials to warn northern half of the city i.e. about 50,000 people, not to use the water.

Sep 97

Ministry of the Environment grants approval for 1.9 million cubic metre expansion of the Laidlaw hazardous waste landfill at Sarnia, Ontario. This is expected to provide landfill capacity for approximately 20 years. Although the undertaking was designated under the *Environmental Assessment Act*, a public hearing was not required by the Minister before the Environmental Assessment Board prior to the approval of the facility.

Oct 6/97

Amendments to Fire Code announced. The province will adopt an Ontario version of Part 4 of the National Fire Code which attempts to ensure that flammable and combustible liquids are properly stored. No changes are announced which relate to the recommendations of the Ontario Fire Marshal (See Aug 20/97) in the wake of the Plastimet Fire.

Oct 21/97

Ministry of the Environment posts proposed amendments to Regulation 347 on EBR

environmental registry. Proposed amendments include:

redefine 'waste' to include residues from recycling operations;

exempt 'chop line' residue (wire recycling residue) recycling from the requirements of the regulation;

exempt photochemical recycling activities from the requirements of the regulation; exempt the use of spent 'pickle' liquor in sewage treatment plants from the requirements of the regulation; and

exempt wood waste recycling sites from the requirements of the regulation.

Oct 29/97

The *Fire Protection and Prevention Act* is proclaimed into law. The Act moves in the opposite direction of the recommendations made by the Ontario Fire Marshal in the wake of the Plastimet Fire in Hamilton in July 1997. The Act sets out to reinforce the voluntary fire-fighting system and private sector participation in prevention and education as well as more local autonomy. The August 20th Fire Marshal's report called for more provincial supervision, more resources for training and information exchange among fire departments and the establishment of a provincial contingency fund. Under the new act, municipalities and residents will be left to "determine the level of fire service they need."

Oct 97

In the "1997 Annual Report of the Provincial Auditor of Ontario to the Legislative Assembly" it was revealed that the MoEE has not assessed the waste reduction programs it established in 1989, since 1994. The province currently diverts 32% of its waste, leaving only two years for it to reach its goal of 50% diversion by 2000. Assessment is necessary to adjust strategies or develop appropriate action plans so that goals can be achieved on a timely basis.

Nov 18/97

MoE issues a Certificate of Approval to burn waste derived fuel at a maximum rate of 23,000 litres per year with a maximum storage capacity of 13,650 litres. The proponent is Frank Kelly & Sons Garage Ltd. and the site is the Town of Mitchell.

Nov 25/97

The Provincial Auditor Erik Peters submits his annual report to the Ontario Legislature. Several environmental programs are targeted:

the measuring of, and reporting on the Province's waste reduction targets needs to be strengthened;

the province needs to work with municipalities on reducing the cost of collecting and processing recycled materials as well as implementing a full costing approach for waste disposal;

the provincial 50% reduction goal should be incorporated into the Waste Reduction Branch business plan;

the Ministry should expedite the resolution of issues surrounding refillable softdrink containers and address municipal concerns.

the environmental assessment process demands better monitoring of the process and compliance with EA terms and conditions;

water or sewage expansion projects should not be funded by the province unless municipalities have implemented and maximized water conservation; documentation filing and grant overpayment need to be better monitored as well;

Nov 27/97

Ministry releases document "Better, Stronger, Clearer: Environmental Regulations for Ontario." Specific proposals related to waste management include:

revoke a regulation permitting eight waste disposal sites to receive Liquid Industrial Wastes. None of the sites currently receive such wastes:

amend the regulation governing deep well disposal to bring oil field brine disposal under the *Environmental Protection Act*, eliminate the oil field brine exemption, and consolidate the requirements into a revised general waste regulation;

amend definition for agricultural wastes, waste-derived fuel, and clarify the management requirements for biomedical waste and asbestos waste;

simplify approval and administrative requirements for "manufacturer controlled networks," to promote "product stewardship";

introduce four classes of approvals: Class I: mandatory hearings under EPA and as required under EAA; Class II: Discretionary hearing under EPA; Class III:

Standardized Approvals; and Class IV: exemptions from waste approval requirements.

numerous changes related to hazardous waste management including:

reducing reporting requirements for small movements of hazardous wastes; amending the definition of a "site" (presumably to include all facilities within a given municipality as proposed in July 1996);

remove generator registration requirements for registerable solid waste; exempt battery and precious metal bearing waste recycling activities from regulatory requirements;

modify (weaken) the definition of PCB wastes and establish standardized approvals for PCB storage and transfer sites;

numerous changes related to municipal solid waste management:

amend Recycling and Composting Municipal Waste Regulations to allow two stream collection systems, amend the 50 metre buffer requirement, and allow food composting at leaf and yard composting facilities;

revoke regulations related to the types of disposable containers than may be used to package milk:

retain refillable and non-refillable soft drink container regulations:

amendment of the Waste Audits and Waste Reduction Workplan Regulations and Packaging Audits and Packaging Reduction Workplan Regulations to "streamline" the regulations, "increase their flexibility" and "reduce the paper burden on the regulated community;"

Proposed changes related to spills include:

proposal to eliminate reporting requirements for notification of "insignificant" spills under the *Environmental Protection Act*.

Dec 2/97

Minister of the Environment and Energy approves 3 environmental assessments for the following three waste related undertakings:

Green Lane Landfill in the Township of Southwold.

Adams Mine Landfill in the township of Boston.

Ridge Landfill site in the Township of Harwich.

The scope and timeline for the Environmental Assessment Board hearing the Adams Mine waste disposal proposal will be limited to two issues about the site: its hydrogeology and surface water characteristics and leakage containment.

Dec 2/97

A fire in Brantford at tire yard consumes 7000 tires. MoE orders to have the tire number reduced both before and after the fire were not obeyed. As of Dec 16/97 12,700 were still on site.

Dec 4/97

Environmental Assessment Board approves use of scrap metal smelting furnace in Northumberland County to destroy low level PCB's. The facility is the first permanent PCB destruction facility to be approved in Ontario. In its decision the Board expressed concern over the province's failure to designate the undertaking under the *Environmental Assessment Act*, its implications for non-incineration PCB destruction technologies, the inability of public interest intervenors to participate effectively in the hearing due to the lack of intervenor funding, and the operator's lack of previous experience in the handing of hazardous wastes.

Dec 5/97

Ministry of the Environment centralizes approvals functions by transferring the issuing of all waste-related provision certificates of approval from MoE regional offices to the MoE Approvals Branch.

Feb 10/98

Proposal for SARs posted on EBR registry for:

municipally operated waste transfer or processing facilities handling up to 300 tonnes/day;

use of municipal sewage sludge (biosolids) as a soil conditioner.

Under the SAR proposal neither type of activity would be required to obtain a Certificate of

Approval under the Environmental Protection Act if they complied with conditions set out in the SAR.

Feb 18/98 Canadian Institute for Environmental Law and Policy releases report "Hazardous Waste Management In Ontario: A Report and Recommendations." The report highlights major gaps in the available information and regulatory framework for hazardous waste management in Ontario. A request for review of the province's hazardous waste regulations and policies is

filed under the *Environmental Bill of Rights* on the basis of the report's findings.

Feb 19/98 The Ministry of the Environment releases figures for the provincial waste diversion rate. The province is currently diverting 32% of its waste from landfill, however, the goal is to achieve a rate of 50% by the year 2000. The Minister indicated that the province is still committed to the goal but that the province is unlikely to meet the target by that year.

Feb 26/98 The Minister of Environment announces that the province will act soon to clean up a landfill site in Egremont Township. The site contains 33,000 buried tires. Citizens in the area have launched a lawsuit against the province. The Minister recognizes that the problems with the site demonstrate the shortcomings of environmental law in trying to stop illegal actions. He indicates that his ministry is "looking at ways of amending the law to give our environmental officers a much stronger hand in dealing with bad actors."

Mar 16/98 Minister of Environment announces agreement between the County of Grey and the MoE to recycle 20,000 tires from a waste tire site in Egremont Township. The site is a fire and groundwater safety hazard.

Mar 19/98 Minister of Environment places a hold on the approval of any new small space heaters that burn waste oil pending "public input on the environmental impact of the heaters." The MoE estimates that about 10 million litres of oil per year are disposed of this way each year in the province.

Mar 30/98 A landfill site (Greenlane Environmental) may be considered eligible to expand in southwestern Ontario despite its manager having been convicted of issuing death threats against MoE inspectors and the owner's history of fines for environmental violations (\$45,000.00) including accepting waste from outside his licensed jurisdiction and filling the site beyond its approved capacity. In addition, the owner's Elgin County waste transfer station is being investigated for receiving liquid wastes beyond its license. The owner is proposing to double its current 500 tonne per day limit. The owner has close ties to the Provincial Progressive Conservative Party.

The Ministry of Environment orders further clean-up at the site of the Plastimet plastics recycling site in Hamilton as a consequence of continued high levels of dioxins, furans, and heavy metals after the July 1997 fire. Previous clean-up orders have not been complied with.

Amendments adopted to Regulation 347 to declare residues from recycling operations to be waste, and to exempt recycling of four waste types from waste approvals and regulatory requirements: chop line residue; pickel liquor used in sewage treatment plants; photochemical wastes; and wood chips.

Metropolitan Toronto's Keele Valley landfill site may face a class action lawsuit from 30,000 nearby landowners. The suit would seek \$600 million in damages from nuisance odours, dust and gases. The facility handles waste from York, Durham and Toronto.

Ministry of the Environment rejects CIELAP's Request for Review of the province's laws and policies related to hazardous wastes under the Environmental Bill of Rights, stating that a review would "not be in the public interest."

Apr 28/98 Thomasburg tire fire. Fire involving more than 1,000 tires requires six fire departments more

Waste Management A.44

Mar 30/98

Mar/98

Apr 10/98

Apr 20/98

than two hours to bring under control. Some homes are evacuated as a result of the fire.

Apr 30/98 Report submitted by the Recycling Council of Ontario to the Minister of the Environment concerning Blue Box financing and LCBO deposit return systems. The report lists a number of options one of which is to employ user fees on municipal solid waste (for disposal) as means of encouraging consumers to divert recyclable materials to the Blue Box).

May 2/98 City of Toronto Council bans wine and spirit containers from its Blue Box collection program. The Council also approves a recommendation that residents be advised to return their empty bottles to the LCBO store where they bought them.

May 20/98 The owner of Plastimet Inc. and the owner of its site drop their legal challenge of the MoE's clean-up order and agree to undertake legal and financial responsibility for the clean-up of the site. The owners also plan to apologize to the community.

May 21/98 Domtar Limited's dust suppressing product Dombind is causing elevated dioxin levels in the environments near the roads on which it is sprayed according to a Ministry of the Environment investigation. Levels varied widely with one test above the acceptable provincial limit for dioxin. 100 million litres per year of the product, which is a pulp and paper waste liquor, are sprayed on Ontario gravel-top roads.

May 1998 Ministry of the Solicitor General and Correctional Services, Office of the Fire Marshal, release implementation strategy for the Fire Marshal's recommendations contained in the report "Protecting the Public and the Environment by Improving Fire Safety at Ontario's Recycling and Waste Handling Facilities" made in the aftermath of the July 1997 Plastimet Inc. fire. The implementation strategy fails to implement key recommendations contained in the original report.

Jun 6/98 Environmental groups such as Pollution Probe as well as the oil industry, urge the Ontario government to decrease the use of oil heaters that are operated by car dealerships and service stations. The groups contend that the heaters release high levels of toxins and that the used oil should be funnelled to recycling plants that can clean the liquid so that it may be reused in cars. Auto dealers say that the heaters are economic for them and that they are not a significant source of pollution.

Jun 16/98 Ministry of the Environment posts proposed revisions to the Model Sewer Use By-Law on the EBR Registry. The new Model By-Law includes new standards for certain persistent toxic pollutants, but removes standards for some metals, and removes prohibitions on the disposal of certain types of hazardous waste in sanitary and storm sewers.

Jun 16/98 MoE will remove 20,000 illegally dumped tires after citizen complaints/civil suit launched against the province. The Ministry states that tests will be performed at the site and if problems develop, contaminated water will be taken to a toxic waste disposal site.

Jun 2/98 Ministry of the Environment posts proposals for major changes to Regulation 347 on the EBR Registry. The proposals include 'standardized' approvals for on-site storage of hazardous wastes, including PCBs, expanding exemptions from approval requirements for hazardous waste 'recycling' activities, and eliminating requirements for public hearings prior to the approval of expansions of hazardous or municipal solid waste disposal facilities.

Jun 20/98 The Adams Mine garbage proposal is the first major environmental assessment under the new *Environmental Assessment Act*. Under new regime, the assessment process was streamlined so the proponents of the project did not have to consider alternatives, such as recycling or waste reduction, to their proposal.

recycling or waste reduction, to their proposal.

Jun 22/98

Community members in and near Kirkland Lake hope that an appeal to the provincial cabinet regarding the conversion of Adams mine to municipal waste landfill, will allow time for Notre Developments (the project proponent) to seek alternative waste disposal methods.

Jun 26/98 The Ontario Ministry of the Environment proposes changes to model sewer-use by-law. The new by-law includes new standards for persistent organic pollutants, but drops standards for some metals and removes general prohibitions on the disposal of hazardous wastes and waste blood from the model by-law. Jul 2/98 Community residents and local councillors in Northeastern Ontario raise concerns regarding the recent approval of the Adams Mine Waste Proposal by the Environmental Assessment Board. David Ramsay, Liberal MPP for Timiskaming (a community near the site) contends that the project is very high-risk and that it is being driven by short-term economic imperatives, which are not properly accounting for environmental/social concerns. Jul 9/98 Controversy emerges in Ontario communities over the use of a recycling byproduct--sludge. Land application is preferred method of generators. Some farmers have allowed the spreading of sludge on their farms. Questions arise about the effectiveness of the material, its odour and appearance of land where sludge has been spread. Jul 13/98 Great Lakes United commences public hearings on the restructuring of the Great Lakes Water Quality Agreement amidst the contention that government cutbacks and industry pressures have led Canadian and American governments to shift to 'risk management' instead of virtual elimination of persistent toxic substances. Jul 17/98 Regulation 348 revoked. Permitted disposal of hauled liquid industrial wastes at eight municipal landfills. Jul 27/98 Public release of 1996 National Pollutant Release Inventory Data. Data shows decline in releases of pollutants to the environment, but a dramatic increase in transfers of pollutants in waste. The Ontario Minister of the Environment asserts that there are "serious flaws, inconsistencies and misinterpretations" in the National Pollutant Release Inventory system. Aug 8/98 MoE proposes criteria for management of excess soil. Among other things provisions would permit deposit of contaminated soil on clean sites zoned industrial, and in ecologically significant areas. MoE proposes to revoke Regulation 344 - Disposable Containers for Milk and amend Aug 14/98 Regulation 345 - Disposable Paper Containers for Milk under the Environmental Protection Act (remove restrictions on milk packaging that are 2 litre and under in size). Aug 26/98 The Ontario cabinet approves the conversion of the Adams mine pit in Kirkland Lake to a privately operated landfill. The site is expected to serve mainly Toronto residents as well as York Region. Environmental groups fear the decision will undermine waste diversion initiatives. Oct 7/98 Environment Minister announces plan to alter the funding and guidance of, and expand the Blue Box waste diversion system. The plan includes the formation of a waste diversion organization that will attempt to guide municipalities on cost control as well as sponsor new waste diversion initiatives. The province intends to seek contributions from the food, beverage and consumer products industries to assist financing Blue Box operations and has begun by securing \$4 million from the Liquor Control Board of Ontario. Oct 13/98 Reported that the Ministry of the Environment instructed Philip Services Corporation to stop disposing of a chemical sludge from Detroit in its Taro landfill, while the Ministry of the Environment investigates the practice. The landfill is not approved for hazardous waste disposal. Nov 4/98 Regulation made exempting establishment of hazardous waste disposal site (i.e. landfill) at

Waste Management A.46

Environmental Protection Act.

the Deloro Abandoned Mine site from a requirement for a public hearing under Part V of the

Dec 8/98	Ministry of the Environment states that it has given Normapac Inc. (Formerly Domtar) 30 days to develop a plan to end the use of "Dombind," phasing out its use over two years.
Jan 20/99	Philip Services Corp. disbands Taro Landfill Community Liaison Committee. The establishment and operation of the Committee is one of the Terms and Conditions of the facility's Certificate of Approval.
Jan 22/99	Report by Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Development, concludes that spreading of paper mill sludge (a mixture of waste fibres, ink, clay and water) on farmlands is "of no benefit to agriculture."
Feb 3/99	Ministry of the Environment states it can find no evidence that the Taro landfill in Stoney Creek Ontario violated its Certificate of Approval by accepting hazardous wastes.
Mar 1/99	Draft Certificate of Approval granted for Adams mine landfill in Kirkland Lake.
Mar 5/99	Ministry of the Environment extends Certificate of Approval for use of paper mill sludge as a soil conditioner for an additional two years.
Mar 18/98	Revealed that hazardous waste imports into Ontario have risen by a factor of four between 1993 and 1997. Manifested waste quantities of domestically generated waste have risen by 50% between 1994 and 1997.
Mar 18/99	Coalition seeks judicial review of the government's approval of the Adams mine landfill.
Mar 20/99	Normapac Inc. agrees to phase out th eproduction of Dombind, a pulp and paper waste liquid used as a dust supressant. Dombind had been found to contain levels of dioxin 15-20 times provincial standards.
Apr 24/99	Notre Development receives it certificate of approval for the Adams Mine Landfill. A judicial review of the environmental assessment process leading to the approval was unsuccessful at nullifying the EA.
May 3/99	Trial of Aquatech Blue delayed. The company was charged, in August 1997, with illegally discharging chemical industrial waste into Lake Ontario. The case had previously been delayed by the departure of the original Ministry of Environment prosecutor.

WATER

Sep 26/95 Amendments proposed on the EBR to revise MISA Regulations. Provisions include exemption from MISA effluent requirements for mine tailings.

Sep 29/95 Environment and Energy Minister Brenda Elliott announces the termination of MAC (the Municipal Industrial Strategy for Abatement Advisory Committee) and two other committees. MAC provided independent advice on pollutant limits in industrial waste water developed under the MISA program.

Oct 6/95 Government-wide operating budget reductions released by the Office of the Premier. Cutbacks to MoEE capital budget include:

> \$31.8 M from the Ontario Clean Water Agency in the 1995-96 year. More reductions are detailed on April 11, 1996.

Reductions to Ministry of Natural Resources:

Conservation Authorities' operating transfer payments \$1.2 M in both 1995-96 and 1996-97; this reduction is increased on April 11, 1996.

Oct 9/95 Exemption from the Environmental Assessment Process granted to the City of Toronto Western Beaches stormwater storage tunnel by the Minister of Environment and Energy.

Dec 1/95 The Ministry of Environment and Energy announces some projected operating budget cutbacks for the 1996/97 fiscal year. The following programs terminated include:

> urban and rural beach cleanup/restoration (\$8.2 M); home green-ups including water conservation (\$8.4 M).

Jan 29/96 Bill 26, the Government Savings and Restructuring Act enacted by the Ontario legislature. Summarized briefly are the changes to:

> the Lakes and Rivers Improvement Act. reduce or eliminate permitting requirements when constructing, altering or using a dam or other water works; permits for virtually any activity on public lands and waters unless the minister responsible has prescribed regulations to the contrary:

> the Conservation Authorities Act: new provisions permit the dissolution and facilitate the sale of CA lands. Limitations placed on scope of CA activities and funding sources.

Apr 11/96 Ontario government releases "Interim Report on Business Planning and Cost Savings Measures" which outlines the re-shaping of government through "new business directions" for ministries and "cost-savings measures" that the province is implementing. Each ministry is responsible for carrying out its own business plan within the financial constraints that it is assigned. Effects of this initiative on water-related policies, institutions and regulations:

> The Ontario Clean Water Agency which manages municipal assistance for sewers and water treatment will have its budget reduced \$111.4 M in 1996-97 and \$142.5 M in 1997-98;

> Conservation Authorities transfer payments will be cut \$5.4 M in 1996-97 and \$7.4 M in 1997-98.

Minister of Environment introduces Bill 57, The Environmental Approvals Improvement Act. The Bill provides for:

> the exemption by the Lieutenant-Governor in Council of any person from any provision of the Environmental Protection Act or Ontario Water Resources Act or any regulation made under those Acts;

> the prohibition of any action against the Crown arising out of any exemption from an approval requirement under the Environmental Protection Act or Ontario Water

Jun 3/96

Water

Resources Act.

(for a fuller description of Bill 57 see section on Environmental Standards & Regulatory Processes).

Jun 96

The release of the International Joint Commission 8th Biennial Report. The report highlights the impact of budgetary reductions and weakening of environmental laws on Great Lakes restoration programs. Ontario is specifically cited in the report for its actions over the preceding year.

Jul 31/96

Ontario government releases a discussion paper entitled *Responsive Environmental Protection* which makes over 80 recommended changes to environmental regulation. The recommendations include revising the Environmental Bill of Rights Classification of Proposals for Instruments Regulation to eliminate notice requirements for proposals with minimal environmental impact. Recommendations impacting water quality regulations include:

controlling municipal discharges through a performance-based regulation for sewage treatment plants:

updating the Ground Source Heat Pumps Regulation to restrict the use of methanol; removing the requirement in the *Municipal-Industrial Strategy for Abatement*'s Pulp and Paper Regulation for the pulp and paper sector to submit reports on how to reach zero AO_X by 2002 and removal of the reference to a goal of zero AO_X ; and reducing monitoring frequency for facilities surpassing effluent limits.

Sep 96

The Ministry of Environment and Energy and the Ministry of Health announce that will be terminating the drinking water quality analysis service that they previously offered to municipalities.

Nov 4/96

The Who Does What Panel recommends to the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing that municipalities should deliver and pay for sewer and water systems. The panel recommends that the province:

transfer ownership of its sewer and water treatment facilities to appropriate municipalities:

discontinue sewer and water grant and loan programs; and

continue to set and enforce performance-based environmental standards and promote conservation.

The panel also recommends that while municipalities should decide on the method of charging for sewer and water services, users should be charged the full cost of providing them.

Nov 5/96

Ministry of Natural Resources adopts regulations to guide activities on Crown land. The new regulations reduce the need for work permits by 80% in an effort to save over \$1 million. The regulations:

eliminate of many permitting requirements when constructing, altering or using a dam, dock or other water works; some larger buildings still require a permit:

most bridges, culverts agricultural drains, trenching and dams do not require work permits on private or municipal lands; on Crown lands, bridges, culverts and dams do require a permit but agricultural drains and trenching for private residences are exempt;

dredging, controlling aquatic plants, building docks and boathouses and laying submarine cable are free from permitting requirements if they are private (as opposed to commercial) and if they are intended for a log salvage operation;

100 square metres of vegetation annually can be removed in waters in southern Ontario without a permit.

remove permit requirements for mineral exploration on Crown lands.

Jan 17/97

Ministry of Environment and Energy announces transfer of provincially operated water and sewer works to municipalities. The Minister states that the province will continue to set and enforce performance standards and ensure that water quality continues to be safeguarded despite the acknowledgement that the Ministry's investigation and enforcement resources

Water

have been severely diminished after several budgetary reductions.

Jan 20/97

Bill 107, The *Water and Sewage Services Improvement Act* introduced to the legislature. The Bill provides for the transfer of provincially operated sewer and water works to municipalities and the downloading of the regulation and approval of most septic systems to municipal governments, or the Ministry of Municipal Affairs in areas without municipal organization.

Feb 3/97

The Red Tape Reduction Act (Ministry of Natural Resources), 1997 goes to 1st Reading. If passed, the following amendments will be made to the Conservation Authorities Act:

authorities will be allowed to enter into agreements to permit exploration and extraction of oil and gas reserves on land adjacent to authority land;

authorities would be permitted to lease land for terms of up to five years without approval;

maximum fines for violations of the regulations will be increased from \$1,000 to \$10,000, and from \$100 to \$1,000:

Conservation Authorities are important guardians of natural drainage systems. The impact of development on CA lands could be quite negative for water quality and flood management.

If passed, the RTRA would also amend the Lakes and Rivers Improvement Act so that:

debt collection will be consolidated through municipal taxes (to allow Minister to recover money spent by province on public health and safety issues caused by unsafe dam structures);

the Minister will be given explicit power to enter into cost-sharing agreements;

the Minister's orders and approvals will be explicitly made binding on the original recipient and any successor or assignee;

the Minister will be authorized to issue stop work orders on unauthorized dams while compliance issues are resolved; and

maximum fines for violations of the Act will be increased.

Regrettably, the Ministry may be unaware of a large number of dam and waterway alterations or constructions as a result of the scaling back of the permitting process. These developments also continue the trend of placing a large measure of decision-making authority with the minister.

Feb 26/97

The Ministry of Environment and Energy announces the finalization of: Determination of Treatment Requirements for Municipal and Private Combined and Partially Separated Sewer Systems (Procedure F-5-5). The procedure specifies:

that each municipality or operating authority develop a pollution prevention or control plan;

that sewer designs meet minimum combined sewer outflow controls;

additional controls be provided where beaches are impaired;

the level of treatment, disinfection of effluent and monitoring criteria.

Feb 97

Ministry of Environment cancels funding for Great Lakes cleanup programs. Since the mid-1980s the ministry has spent \$280 million on rehabilitating the most polluted parts of the Great Lakes. The government now wants the private sector (industries, municipalities, concerned citizens) to finance cleanup programs. This signals a retreat by the Ontario government from a 1994 agreement with the federal government in which they pledged to cooperate to eliminate 60 per cent of the pollution at the 16 "hot spots" by the year 2000 and to try to completely rehabilitate eight of them.

Mar 8/97

Ministry of Environment and Energy announces that Ontario's fish appear to be getting safer to eat in terms of their contaminant levels. Some fish from some lakes have shown a consistent decline in contaminant accumulation.

May 6/97

In the 1997 budget, \$200 million is allocated for municipal sewer and water services.

May 17/97

Revelation that Ontario Hydro's Pickering Nuclear Generating Station has released more than 1,000 tonnes of copper and zinc into Lake Ontario over the past 25 years. The

emissions are toxic and bioaccumulative and arise from the scouring of brass (copper-zinc) condenser tubes in the plant's heat exchanger systems. The discharges were never reported, but should have been, under the Municipal Industrial Strategy for Abatement regulations. It is also thought to violate the MISA Power Generation Sector Regulation (Regulation 215/95). The problem had been known to exist since at least 1981.

May 21/97

Ministry of the Environment and Energy makes a decision on the "Draft Effluent Limits regulation for the MISA Iron and Steel Manufacturing Sector" to control industrial wastewater discharges. The proposed major features are:

Maximum daily and monthly average loading limits for up to 12 parameters.

All process and cooling water must not kill fish or water fleas.

All process effluents must be within pH range of 6.0 to 9.5 at all times.

May 27/97 Bill 107, The Water and Sewage Services Improvement Act receives Royal Assent.

Jun 5/97 Bill 57, The Environmental Approvals Improvement Act, receives Royal Assent.

Jun 10/97 A Request for Investigation under the Environmental Bill of Rights is filed concerning Ontario Hydro's metal emissions from corroding condensers.

It is reported that levels of radioactivity in fish near Ontario Hydro's Bruce Nuclear Generating Jun 21/97 Station on Lake Huron are 9 times higher, and rising, than the levels of radioactivity in fish in Lake Ontario.

Jul 6/97 Ontario Environment Minister Norm Sterling announces that the MoEE will spend \$18 million to clean up the hazardous materials, including low level radioactive wastes, left behind at the Deloro Mine north of Belleville. Mine wastes have been leaching into the Moira River that flows south into the Bay of Quinte at Lake Ontario.

Release of the "Report on the Evaluation of Emissions from Ontario Hydro's Admiralty Brass Condensers to the Great Lakes." The report indicates that over the past 25 years, 1,813 tonnes of metals predominately copper and zinc, have been discharged to the Great Lakes by Ontario Hydro electricity generating stations. The releases exceed the Provincial Water Quality Objective for copper and would likely have a toxic impact on aquatic life.

Environment Canada and U.S. EPA Release "State of the Great Lakes 1997." Report summarizes state of the Great Lakes Basin Ecosystem. Key conclusions:

aquatic community health: mixed/improving;

aquatic habitat and wetlands: poor;

state of human health in the Great Lakes basin, as reflected by human exposure to persistent toxic substances: mixed/improving; and

toxic contaminants: mixed/improving.

Aug 18/97 York Region and Metro Works Department step up testing and monitoring the Don River system in the wake of a sewage spill from 200,000 homes (22 million litres) into German Creek, a tributary of the Don River. An application is filed in January 1998 under the Environmental Bill of Rights for a provincial review. The spill is being linked to rapid urban development in York Region.

Aug 26/97 MoE approves a mine water treatment system for River Gold Mines Ltd. located in Jacobson Township. The treatment system will treat a maximum flow of 12.6 L/sec of excess mine water containing suspended solids, ammonia, and some heavy metals.

Aug 26/97 Aquatech Blue Ltd., an oil recycling firm is charged with dumping waste oil containing toxic materials in Toronto Harbour. Previously it had been convicted of discharging metal-based releases into sanitary sewers. The Ontario government seeks extradition of three US citizens charged with the Lake Ontario dumping.

Jul 8/97

Jul 97

Water

A.51

Aug 28/97

Ministry of Environment and Energy establishes a \$200 million fund to assist municipalities to upgrade water and sewage systems. The Fund was established in response to a recommendation from the Who Does What Panel and will make funding available to municipalities over the next 3 years. The funds are intended to be used by municipalities to upgrade their water and sewage systems in response to specific health and environmental problems. The Fund appears to be intended to replace the \$140 million/yr Municipal Assistance Program, whose termination was announced in the April 1996 budget.

Sep 15/97

MoE approves the drainage water the underground working to be discharged in the existing water settling pond in the Township of Beatty. The water treatment will be the sedimentation of suspended solids. The volume of water that will be pumped per day is estimated at 82,000 litres/day meaning a retention time of 12 days. If the water does not meet the standard, McWatters Mines Inc. will take measures such as building another pond.

Sep 30/97

MoE approves a permit allowing Hamilton Sod/Greenhorizons to take 1,135,000 litres per day or 250,000 Imperial gallons per day, 30 days per year from a dugout pond located in Glanbrook. The water will be used for irrigation of a sod farm.

Oct 9/97

Unimin Canada Ltd. submits proposal to the Ministry of Environment requesting a permit to take water from Midland Bay. Water will be used to suppress dust on active rock stockpiles and will be removed from the bay at a daily maximum rate of 720,000 L.

Oct 31/97

Canada-Ontario Agreement Respecting the Great Lakes Basin Ecosystem Second Progress Report is released jointly by Environment Canada and the Ontario Ministry of the Environment. The report indicates that zero discharge has been achieved for five toxic substances: aldrin/dieldrin, chlordane, DDT, toxaphene and mirex at least in terms of these products not being imported to, sold or used in the province (residual of these compounds could still be active in the environment). Other highlights of the report include:

reduced discharge levels for some Tier 1 compounds;

50% of required remedial actions completed:

5000 hectares of wetlands protected and rehabilitated:

almost 30% of stored high level PCBs destroyed.

The report also acknowledges that certain commitments under the Agreement have not been met due to budget cuts at both levels of government.

Oct 97

The International Joint Commission publishes "The IJC and the 21st Century." The Commission states that transboundary air pollution problems will continue to worsen in the next century, threatening the health of wildlife and human populations in the area. Government down-sizing in Canada and the U.S. has decreased the level and extent of environmental monitoring along the border. Down-sizing has also undermined the capacity of governments to cooperate and coordinate to address environmental problems in the areas that are of common interest.

Nov 5/97

Madsen Gold Corp. applied for a permit allowing it to augment water taken from Beaverdam Lake for industrial purposes in Madsen with water from Russett Lake at a rate of 360,000 Imperial gallons per day (1,634,400 lpd) for 244 days seasonally for five years. The Ministry of the Environment and Energy approves this with the following conditions:

Should the quantity of water change, an amendment is required.

Copy of permit must be posted.

Company must ensure all staff are knowledgeable about the permit.

No more than 10% of the natural flow of Russett Lake at outlet.

Water for augmentation of water levels in Beaver Dam Lake.

Nov 20/97

The Ontario Ministry of Environment has asked an environmental group for financial assistance to help stop hazardous chemical leaking from an abandoned mine at Deloro mine site in Eastern Ontario.

Nov 25/97

The Provincial Auditor Erik Peters submits his annual report to the Ontario Legislature. Several environmental programs undergo criticism:

water or sewage expansion projects should not be funded by the province unless municipalities have implemented and maximized water conservation;

documentation filing and grant overpayment need to be better monitored as well.

Nov 27/97

Ministry releases document "Better, Stronger, Clearer: Environmental Regulations for Ontario." Proposed changes related to water include:

ban the use of methanol as a heat transfer fluid in heat pumps;

amend the Water Wells regulation to improve the transmission of water well data: increase licensing fees for well drillers and contractors/technicians; and provide new standards for well construction;

Amend the MISA Regulations to:

reduce the frequency of chronic toxicity testing semi-annually to annually; remove effluent limits for substances that are not used, produced or stored on site:

reduce daily monitoring requirements for some parameters if a sites performance surpasses permitted limits for 12 consecutive months; permit the transmittal of data in alternative formats;

amend the Pulp and Paper Sector Regulation to remove the requirement that facilities submit plans on the elimination of AOX, and advance the date for the AOX limit of 0.8kg/tonne to December 1997 from December 1999.

retain the Marinas Regulation, which the Ministry had proposed to repeal in July 1996, and supplement it with a voluntary Code of Practice Developed by the Marina Industry.

Nov 27/97

The Ministry of Environment and Energy has received a proposal from Agrium Products Inc. for the establishment of an open-pit mine in Cochrane Ontario. Approval is sought for dewatering activity which will occur in two stages:

open pit dewatering for bulk sampling of ore body at 4,900,000 L/day for 60 days; mining ore body, dewatering working area of the pit at 5,800,000 L/day for 13 years.

Dec 9/97

Ministry of the Environment approves an Interim Provincial Water Quality Objective for hexachlorocyclopentadiene. The Interim PWQO is 0.06 ug/L.

Dec 23/97

MoE renews the existing permit allowing Aquafarms 93 in Osprey Township to take water from 3 boreholes and from Beaver River for fish farm operations and for bulk water sales.

Dec 24/97

Ministry posts on the Ontario Environmental Bill of Rights Registry a number of planned revisions to permitted discharge limits for organic and inorganic manufacturing sector firms under the MISA. The proposals raise the permissible discharge limits for a number of facilities.

Dec 30/97

Ministry posts proposed amendments to MISA discharge regulations for 8 industrial sectors (Electric Power: Iron and Steel; Industrial Minerals; Inorganic Manufacturing; Metal Casting; Metal Mining; and Organic Chemicals) The amendments would:

reduce the monitoring frequency for chronic toxicity from semi-annually to annually (provided three years of monitoring have been completed an enough data collected to ascertain safety of effluent);

reduce monitoring requirements from daily to three days week if sites surpass monthly average loading limits for 12 consecutive months; and

remove of effluent limits for substances that are not used, produced or stored on the site. Requires monitoring of effluent for parameter once per year.

The proposal for the pulp and paper sector would remove the requirement that kraft pulp mills submit reports on how to achieve goal of zero discharge of AOX. The proposal also indicates that the Ministry may advance date that mills are required to reach a loading limit of 0.8kg AOX per tonne of pulp by December 31, 1999.

Jan 31/98

The Ontario Ministry of Environment announces that it is raising discharge limits for two companies (GE Plastics and Geon Canada) to allow for a change in production. The

amendments involve, in one case, a 63% increase in dissolved organic carbon, a 241% increase in oil and grease discharges and a 38% increase in phenolics. These amendments were originally posted on the Environmental Bill of Rights Registry on Dec 24/97.

Feb 4/98

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing announces new Ontario Building Code Regulations for septic system management "Regulation to Amend Ontario Regulation 403/97 made under the *Building Code Act*, 1992." The new regulation will take effect April 6, 1998 and:

transfer authority for regulating smaller on-lot sewage systems to the *Building Code Act* for "one-window" permitting purposes;

introduce new certification requirements for installers/inspectors.

Feb 98

The International Joint Commission releases "Unsafe Dams? A Report by the IJC" The Report concludes:

that some regulated facilities are not subject to comprehensive government safety inspections and oversight by governments is unsatisfactory;

in Canada, "there does not appear to be any way of obtaining regular government safety inspections for Regulated Facilities."

without government oversight there is "no effective means of ensuring accountability for activities that can put the lives and property of Canadian and United States citizens in jeopardy."

The report recommends regular, periodic, complete and independent on-site inspections by qualified experts; timetables for the implementation of all inspection report recommendations; establishment and testing of emergency action plans; and public access to all reports and documentation relating to safety issues.

Mar 9/98

The Minister with Responsibility for Privatization and the Minister of Environment announce the referral of the Ontario Clean Water Agency (OCWA) to the Office of Privatization to review the provincial government's role in operating municipally owned water and sewage treatment systems. OCWA operates and maintains 123 municipal water treatment facilities and 234 municipal waste treatment facilities.

Mar 23/98

44 water treatment plant operators in 23 communities in southwestern Ontario are warned by the MoE that their drinking water testing programs are inadequate. The minimum standards for drinking water have been violated. In 1996, the MoEE and MoH terminated their municipal water testing programs. Locations included:

Towns of Wingham, Exeter, Petrolia, Seaforth, Durham, Hanover, North Perth and East Perth:

Villages of Bayfield, Blyth and Zurich;

Townships of Goderich, Ashfield, Colborne, East Wawanosh, Morris, Tuckersmith, Teaswater-Culross, Sarawak, Derby, Brant, Kincardine and Bruce.

Mar 29/98

Ontario Hydro receives its second assessment of its program to repair its brass condenser cooling equipment. The program flows from recommendations from the July 1997 report "Evaluation of Emissions from Ontario Hydro Admiralty Brass Condensers to the Great Lakes." Some dates have slipped but overall the program is said to be on track.

Mar 31/98

Ministry posts proposed revisions to Provincial Water Standards on EBR Registry, including: proposed Provincial Water Quality Objectives for Cadmium (based on Canadian Water Quality Guideline):

proposed Provincial Water Quality Objectives for Carbaryl (based on Canadian Water Quality Guideline);

proposed Provincial Water Quality Objectives for Trivalent and Hexavalent Chromium (based on Canadian Water Quality Guidelines);

proposed Provincial Water Quality Objectives for Arsenic (based on Canadian Water Quality Guidelines);

scientific criteria documents for development of Interim Provincial Water Quality Objectives for Molybdenum, Vanadium, and NDMA.

Apr 3/98 A Ministry of Environment investigation concludes that the release of 1800 tonnes of copper and zinc from Ontario Hydro's Pickering Nuclear Generating Stations has had no measurable effect on drinking water quality or fish life near the plant. The investigation was carried out in response to an EBR request.

Apr 30/98 Three former Premiers of Ontario (Davis, Peterson and Rae) join a campaign to complete the funding for a Great Lakes environmental research centre at the University of Windsor. \$3.6 million is needed to complete the project when the provincial government withdrew a prior funding commitment in 1995.

May 1/98 Permit granted to Nova Group by the Ontario Ministry of the Environment to take water from Lake Superior takes effect. The permit allows for a maximum taking of 600 million litres per year for the next five years and is intended for export to Asia. This permit possibly violates the International Boundary Waters Treaty with the U.S. government as well as a long-standing policy against water exports from the Great Lakes Basin. Environment Minister Norm Sterling issued the permit without consultation with either federal environment or provincial natural resources departments and defended the permit as an action that will not cause significant environmental damage.

May 6/98 Nova Group, the company that was awarded a permit to take 600 million litres of water from Lake Superior for Export to Asia, decides to relinquish the permit because of the controversy that it generated.

May 8/98 Michigan Congressman Bart Stupak introduces a non-binding House resolution that would have the US Congress block the sale of Great Lakes water for export to Asia. The transaction that the resolution refers to is the proposal by Nova Group (see May 1/98) to export 590 million litres of water per year from the lake to Asia. Canada has asked that the issue be referred to the International Joint Commission rather than quashing the proposal with a ban on exports.

May 15/98 Province moves toward arriving at a policy that would ban transfers of water from one drainage basin to another. This in effect should quell any possibility of an export of water form the Great Lakes basin as was proposed by the Nova Group (See May 1/98). The Minister implies that the Ontario government would be more comfortable having the federal government implement a bulk water export ban.

May 20/98 Ontario Hydro Nuclear has submitted three separate proposals to the Ministry of the Environment to re-test its treatment equipment allowing them to meet the effluent requirements of the Clean Water Regulation. The company has informed the Ministry that this re-testing is necessary to consistently meet all the effluent limits imposed by the regulation at its: Pickering Generating Station; Bruce Nuclear Generating Stations A & B; and Darlington Generating Station.

May 98 At the 41st conference of the International Association of Great Lakes Research, delegates were told that more and better early-warning environmental monitoring systems are urgently needed. Issues covered:

Biological systems respond to the hazards associated with the complex mixtures of toxic pollutants that exist in the environment. These systems need monitoring; How political restructuring and reduced funding could harm the ecological health of the Great Lakes shoreline in Ontario;

The devastating impact of lampreys on the lake trout.

June 16/98 Ministry of the Environment posts proposed revisions to the Model Sewer Use By-Law on the EBR Registry. The new Model By-Law includes new standards for certain persistent toxic pollutants, but removes standards for some metals, and removes prohibitions on the disposal of certain types of hazardous waste in sanitary and storm sewers.

July 8/98 The reappearance of a deep-water sculpin fish in Lake Ontario, leads scientists to believe

that the quality of the lake has been improving. This species of fish has not been seen in the lake in approximately 50 years.

July 13/98

Great Lakes United commences public hearings on the restructuring of the Great Lakes Water Quality Agreement amidst the contention that government cutbacks and industry pressures have led Canadian and American governments to shift to 'risk management' instead of virtual elimination of persistent toxic substances.

Jul 98

International Joint Commission releases 9th Biennial Report on Great Lakes Water Quality. Report notes that despite significant progress, society has not gone far enough in its efforts to restore the Lakes. The report stresses the need to achieve 'virtual elimination' of persistent toxic substances, along with concerns over land use patterns, shoreline development, habitat modification, biological contamination and nutrient input.

Sep 1/98

During the upcoming second phase of public information meetings, residents in York and Durham regions will have the opportunity to voice their opinions regarding the long-term water supply project for York Region. In order to meet the region's demand for water, the project would require the pumping of water from Lake Ontario through stations in the Durham region. Key concerns to be addressed during the assessment process include the protection of threatened or endangered wildlife, and the potential displacement of people, businesses or significant historical sites in the areas.

Sep 8/98

Data obtained by Canadian Institute for Environmental Law and Policy through Freedom of Information request shows that 25% of Ontario metal mines failed (between August and December 1997) requirement of MISA regulations that their discharges not be acutely toxic (i.e. lethal) to fish.

Sep 30/98

First water AERs (Approval Exemption Regulation) come into effect.

Dec 2/98

Ministry of the Environment proposes following regulatory exemptions from water Approval requirements:

the establishment, alteration, extension or replacement of, or a change in a water or sewage works that is used solely to mitigate the effects of an emergency declared to exist under the *Emergency Plans Act*;

the taking of more than 50,000 litres a day to mitigate the effects of an emergency under the *Emergency Plans Act*; and

the taking of water and establishment, alteration, or replacement of drains, pump devices and appurtenances for the collection and disposal or drainage from building foundations.

Dec 18/98

Bill 25, Red Tape Reduction Act, 1998. Receives Royal Assent.

Schedule I of the Bill amends a number of MNR statues including:

Conservation Authorities Act

Removes requirement for Conservation Authority permission for changing, diverting or interfering with watercourses, wetlands, Great-Lakes St. Lawrence shorelines, inland lakes; river and stream valleys, hazardous lands, for activities approved under the *Aggregate Resources Act*; and

removal of the requirement for provincial approval of Conservation Authority Regulations

Lakes and Rivers Improvements Act

permit delegation by cabinet and minister of approvals under the Act to conservation authorities, or other agencies or bodies;

permit the minister to approve plans for a dam, after the dam has been constructed; and

weaken the current prohibition in the Act against pollution.

Dec 18/98

Ministry of the Environment proposes Regulation under *Ontario Water Resources Act* to prohibit transfers of surface water out of defined (Great Lakes St. Lawrence, Nelson River

and Hudson Bay/James Bay) Ontario water basins. Exemptions are provided for water which is used to manufacture a product which is then transferred out of the basin, and for potable water contained in consumer sized containers, not more than 20 litres in volume.

March 1/99 Sierra Legal Defence Fund Reports that only three of 134 companies and sewage treatment plants that had violated water pollution control requirements had been successfully prosecuted by the Ministry.

Mar 8/99 Canadian Institute for Environmental Law and Policy releases report on progress of Canada and Ontario governments under the July 1994 Canada-Ontario Agreement Respecting the Great Lakes Basin Ecosystem. Report concludes that most of the commitments made in COA will not be met by the time of the Agreement's expiry in March 2000.

May 1/99 Revealed by the Sierra Legal Defense Fund that water pollution occurrences in Ontario are rising while enforcement remains weak. In 1997, there were 2000 water pollution violations in Ontario, twice as many as the previous year. The number of facilities violating standards increased 17% over 1996 (154 up from 132). Seventy of the facilities that were on the list in 1996 were on again in 1997.

May 3/99 Great Lakes water levels reach their lowest point in a decade. Record dry and warm temperatures in 1998 are cited as the cause. Concern is expressed for fish habitat and navigability as well as hydro-electricity and some industrial activities.

May 3/99 Trial of Aquatech Blue delayed. The company was charged, in August 1997, with illegally discharging chemical industrial waste into Lake Ontario. The case had previously been delayed by the departure of the original Ministry of Environment prosecutor.

May 15/99 Ontario Regulation 285/99, The Water Taking and Transfers Regulation, made under the Ontario Water Resources Act, is gazetted. The regulation was made in response to the proposal for a large scale water taking and export from Lake Superior in May 1998 and severely restricts inter-basin transfers of water.

ENERGY

Jul 26/95	Minister of Environment and Energy opens the hourly electricity market to spot market electricity sales on an experimental basis.	
Oct 3/95	Minister of Environment and Energy announces that a 5-year rate freeze is being instituted at Ontario Hydro.	
Oct 6/95	MoEE energy conservation grants are reduced \$0.7 M as part of government-wide operating budget reductions announced by the Office of the Premier. The Ministry of Environment and Energy will have its operating budget reduced by \$14.9 M in each of the years 1995-96 and 1996-97.	
Oct 24/95	Minister of Environment and Energy endorses national clean air standards proposed by the Task Force on Cleaner Vehicles and Fuels. Proposal includes the promotion of: fuel efficient and alternate fuel vehicles; inspection and maintenance programs; low emission vehicles by 2001; and new fuel standards.	
Nov 2/95	Minister of Environment and Energy announces the establishment of the Advisory Committee on Competition in Ontario's Electricity System.	
Nov 28/95	Advisory Committee on Competition in Ontario's Electricity System appointed.	
Dec 1/95	The Ministry of Environment and Energy announces some projected operating budget cutbacks for the 1996/97 fiscal year: Green Communities (\$1.7 M); home green-ups (\$8.4 M); energy education, training, standards development & conservation (\$1.2 M); Ontario Energy Board (\$0.5 M).	
Dec 22/95	Minister of Environment and Energy requests Ontario Energy Board to seek stakeholder input on exempting utilities from their prior OEB approval requirements.	
Jan 10/96	Positions of five board members of Ontario Hydro revoked by the Minister of Environment and Energy. The members were considered to be the strongest advocates of environmental protection on the board.	
Jan 19/96	Ontario Divisional Court Judge overturns the Environment Minister's decision of Jan 10, 1996 to relieve five Ontario Hydro Board members of their positions.	
Jan 26/96	Ministry of Housing releases a consultation paper entitled "Back to Basics" which focuses on streamlining and simplifying the Building Code and removing energy efficiency provisions.	
May 96	The Advisory Committee on Competition in Ontario's Electrical System submits report to the Ontario Government.	
May 96 The Ontario Energy Board issues a response to the Minister of Environment and Energy's request regarding its views and the views of stakeholders on exemptions for certain OEB approvals.		

permit Ontario Energy Boards to sit in panels of one member; amend the *Ontario Energy Board Act* to allow the Minister (rather than the Lieutenant Governor) to refer a request for inquiry to the board and to require a hearing into the

Minister of Environment and Energy introduces Bill 66, *Government Process Simplification Act* which proposes to amend the *Consolidated Hearings Act* and *Environmental Protection*

Energy A.58

Jun 5/96

Act. This could:

reasonableness of gas rates under section 13. (A more complete description of Bill 66 is listed in the section *Environmental Bill of Rights and Public Participation in Decision-Making*).

Jun 7/96

Advisory Committee on Competition in Ontario's Electricity System advises that more competition in the electricity system will end Ontario Hydro's monopoly and increase competition among power generators. The Ministry of Environment and Energy promises consumers and industry representatives a chance to review and comment on the report, *A Framework for Competition*, before deciding whether to adopt its recommendations. The Committee's report proposes:

the privatization of most of Ontario Hydro's thermal and hydro-electric generating stations: and

the consolidation of municipal electric utilities.

Jul 31/96

Ontario government releases a discussion paper entitled *Responsive Environmental Protection* which makes over 80 recommended changes to environmental regulation. The recommendations include revising the Environmental Bill of Rights Classification of Proposals for Instruments Regulation to eliminate notice requirements for proposals with minimal environmental impact. Recommendations that would affect regulations governing energy in the province include:

removing all exemptions under the Ontario Energy Board (OEB) General Regulation relating to transactions that have been completed;

revocation of the now obsolete Ontario Hydro Exemption Regulation;

amendments to the Efficiency Standards Regulation for various new products.

Sep 20/96

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing releases nearly 650 amendments to the Ontario Building Code for public consultation. The amendments, intended to cut 'red tape', include: the option for home builders to greatly reduce or eliminate insulation coverage in new homes: and

replacing various energy conservation provisions in the Code since 1985 with mandatory labelling systems (similar to EnerGuide labels on appliances) despite advice that the labelling systems would be largely ineffective in the home market.

May 17/97

Revelation that Ontario Hydro's Pickering Nuclear Generating Station has released more than 1,000 tonnes of copper and zinc into Lake Ontario over the past 25 years.

May 22/97

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing Building Code Committees report back on changes proposed to the Ontario Building Code. The Committees recommend:

maintaining the requirement to design buildings to incorporate energy efficiency; withdrawing the proposal to use labels to indicate a home or building's energy efficiency level;

maintaining energy efficiency as one of the major objectives of the code;

including minimum standards for energy efficiency on the code;

maintaining insulation levels at current levels;

The recommendations were filed with the Director of the Housing Development and Buildings Branch, however the final decisions on the proposed changes are expected to be made by the Minister's Office.

Jun 11/97

Filing of an EBR Request for Investigation regarding Ontario Hydro's discharge of more than 1800 tonnes of copper and zinc into Lake Ontario from Pickering Nuclear Generating Station.

Jun 21/97

It is reported that levels of radioactivity in fish near Ontario Hydro's Bruce Nuclear Generating Station on Lake Huron are significantly higher than levels in fish in Lake Ontario. The difference is approximately 9 times and rising. The findings have implications for Ontario Hydro's plan to store more used radioactive fuel on site and for Ontario's electricity supply as the Bruce Station has provided, in past, almost one quarter of Ontario's electricity.

Jul 8/97

Release of the "Report on the Evaluation of Emissions from Ontario Hydro's Admiralty Brass

Energy

Condensers to the Great Lakes." The report indicates that over the past 25 years, 1,813 tonnes of metals predominately copper and zinc, have been discharged to the Great Lakes by Ontario Hydro electricity generating stations. The releases exceed the Provincial Water Quality Objective for copper and would likely have a toxic impact on aquatic life.

- Aug 1/97 It is revealed that a spill of radioactive tritium from Ontario Hydro's Pickering Nuclear Generating Station contaminated ground water in the vicinity 18 years ago (1979) and that the spill was never reported.
- Aug 2/97 Ministry of Environment and Energy presents Ontario Hydro with a draft order that would require it to eliminate the cause of increased tritium levels at its Pickering Nuclear Generating Station, clean up or contain previous tritium leaks and disclose any other potential contamination at this or any of its other facilities.
- Aug 13/97 Release of "Report to Management IIPA/SSFI Evaluation Findings and Recommendations." This report finds Ontario Hydro's nuclear operations at three plants (Pickering A&B, Bruce A&B and Darlington) to be operating at a "minimally acceptable level." Ontario Hydro announces that it is preparing to undertake a massive overhaul of its nuclear generating capacity in the province (the Nuclear Asset Optimization Plan). The plan will cost \$5 to \$8 billion over four years and temporarily shutdown 7 of 20 reactors.
- Aug 14/97 Ontario Hydro reveals that the coming increase in fossil fuel use (because of nuclear shutdown) will greatly increase emissions of carbon dioxide and acid gas emissions (nitrogen oxides and sulphur dioxide).
- Sep 15/97 The Ontario legislature forms the Select Committee on Ontario Hydro Nuclear Affairs to scrutinize Ontario Hydro's nuclear recovery plan and the serious assertions made about Hydro in the recent Independent Integrated Performance Assessment (IIPA) report on nuclear safety at the utility.
- Oct 10/97 The Provincial Cabinet is reorganized. The Ministry of Environment and Energy separates into two different entities. Norm Sterling remains the Minister of the Environment while Jim Wilson becomes the Minister of Energy, Science and Technology.
- Nov 6/97 Ministry releases White Paper on restructuring Ontario Hydro. The paper proposes to create a competitive market in the year 2000 for wholesale and retail customers.
- Nov 27/97 Ministry releases document "Better, Stronger, Clearer: Environmental Regulations for Ontario." Proposed changes related to energy include:

repeal of regulations related to electric stationary water heaters under the Energy Efficiency Act, as this type of heater is no longer permitted for sale or lease in Ontario;

establish energy efficiency standards for gas-fired room heaters; wall furnaces; and fluorescent lamps:

establish uniform systems of accounting for utilities regulated by the Ontario Energy Board:

Remove obsolete exemptions related to completed transactions regulated by the Ontario Energy Board; and

permit the Ontario Energy Board to set its own rules of procedure.

- Nov 97 Environment Canada produced an executive summary for "The Canada Study: Climate Impacts and Adaptation." Global Circulation Models simulations predict an average annual warming of 2-5 C by the end of the 21st century. Increased air pollution will negatively affect human health and concurrent climate change will lead to an increase in the frequency of extreme weather events and high pollution episodes.
- Dec 1/97 Richard Dicerni, a former Deputy Minister of Environment and Energy, is appointed Vice-President, Corporate and Environmental Affairs, for Ontario Hydro.

Energy A.60

Dec 10/97

Ontario Hydro becomes the first company in Canada to purchase credits for carbon dioxide emission reductions made outside of the country. The utility purchased 10,000 tons of carbon dioxide reduction credits from the Southern California Edison electric utility. The purchase was viewed as lending support to the concept of an international emissions trading program, one of the options under discussion at the Kyoto Conference on Climate Change.

Dec 31/97

Ontario Hydro fails to meet a deadline for filing information with the Atomic Energy Control Board on its plan to improve nuclear plant operating performance at its Bruce B nuclear facility.

Dec 97

Report of the Ontario Legislature's Select Committee on Ontario Hydro Nuclear Affairs concludes that the failure to properly manage nuclear assets, through prudent preventative maintenance or other methods, is unacceptable, regardless of rationale. A more formal approach is necessary to ensure that safety standards are maintained at a high level. Any replacement power obtained from the Ohio Valley, while making repairs, would result in increased emissions of greenhouse gases and transport of other pollutants in Ontario.

Jan 1/98

Ontario Hydro begins shutdown of three reactors at its Pickering A facility. Each reactor can produce 540 megawatts of power and will be laid up until at least the year 2000.

Jan 16/98

The province and Ontario Hydro announce the establishment of an interim market for replacement electricity. The interim market will open up the supply side of Ontario Hydro to other generators. "Energy from competitively-priced renewable sources such as small hydroelectric, solar and wind power will be selected over non-renewable sources." Given the large economies of scale and purchasing power of coal fired facilities, this type of power is likely to be more "competitively-priced." Also to be factored into decisions would be transmission and operational factors. These factors would tend to favour large established producers including Ontario Hydro. As well, purchase contracts are short (2-4 years) which limits the ability to invest in renewable infrastructure.

Jan 20/98

Minister of Energy, Science and Technology Jim Wilson establishes the Market Design Committee to restructure Ontario's electricity industry. The committee will advise the government on market rules, powers and responsibilities of the regulatory agency. The committee will be guided by the Government's White Paper *Direction for Change: Charting a Course for Competitive Electricity in Ontario* which sets out principles to ensure that the market is fair and equitable to all operators and includes the consideration that environmental protection measures be incorporated into the market design.

Jan 28/98

Floyd Laughren is appointed to the Chair of the Ontario Energy Board.

Jan 98

The Institute for Environmental Studies (University of Toronto) and Pollution Probe release "Emissions for Coal-Fired Electric Stations: Environmental Health Effects and Reduction Options." The report concludes:

emissions of several key pollutants from coal-fired electric stations are at levels which represent a threat to human health and the environment. This threat remains despite emission reductions which have already been achieved.

over 90% of each of the five pollutants investigated are generated in the region defined as the Ohio Valley/Great Lakes States. Emissions from this region have a direct impact on air and water quality in Ontario. Government action in Canada and the U.S. is required to achieve the coal station emission reductions necessary to obtain acceptable air quality standards to protect human and ecosystem health.

Jan 98

The Northeast States for Coordinated Air Use Management (NESCAUM) prepared "Air Pollution Impacts of Increased Deregulation in the Electric Power Industry: An Initial Analysis." NESCAUM is concerned that deregulation will result in "significantly increased power production at low-cost, highly polluting coal-fired plants." Deregulation will also cause a boost in smog levels unless NO_x and CO_2 emission caps are established.

Energy A.61

Feb 3/98 Minister of Energy Science and Technology establishes Electricity Transition Committee to advise minister on proposed changes to Ontario's electricity system. Specifically, the Committee will solicit input from affected stakeholders. The Committee is chaired by David McFadden, a partner in the Toronto law firm Smith Lyons and Arthur Kroeger, Chancellor of Carleton University.

Feb 19/98 The President of Ontario Hydro makes an unprecedented appearance before hearings of the Atomic Energy Control Board to offer reassurances that it will not again miss a deadline for filing information on its nuclear plant operating performance improvement commitments. The utility missed a filing deadline on December 31, 1997.

Feb 98 The Ontario Ministry of Housing moves away from its original proposal to dramatically reduce the insulation requirements for new homes contained in the Ontario Building Code. The standard for new homes will be set at R17 above grade and R8 below grade.

Feb 27/98 Ontario Hydro decides against installing the modern air pollution control equipment at its Lennox Power Generating Station near Kingston. The equipment would reduce levels of nitrous oxides. Recently. Ontario Hydro has elected to install emission control devices at its Lambton and Nanticoke stations.

Mar 6/98 Ontario Hydro receives its second progress report of its program to repair its brass condenser cooling equipment. The program flows from a recommendation from the report "Evaluation of Emissions form Ontario Hydro Admiralty Brass Condensers to the Great Lakes" (see Jul 8/97) The progress report indicates that some dates have slipped but overall the program is on track.

Mar 18/98 Ontario Hydro affirms its earlier decision to mothball the final two nuclear reactors at its Bruce A Nuclear Generating Station. Bruce A reactors may restart in 2003. The Bruce B plant is attempting to improve its performance.

Mar 22/98 Minister of the Environment rejects a request by the Town of Pickering, Ajax, Whitby, Uxbridge, Durham Region, Durham Nuclear Awareness and concerned residents for an environmental assessment on the future of the Pickering nuclear power station. 18,000 Pickering residents had voted for an assessment in the November 1997 municipal election.

Mar 27/98 Ontario Hydro's Pickering Nuclear Generating Station is granted a one year operating licence (a five year licence was requested). Many local interests requested a maximum 9 month licence given Ontario Hydro's nuclear operating performance. Ontario Hydro and is required to report back in six months.

Union Gas Ltd. asks the Ontario Energy Board to financially penalize Pollution Probe for generating negative media reports about its water heater deregulation proposal. Union Gas is seeking permission from the board to shift its water-heater rental business to an unregulated affiliate. Pollution Probe estimates that reorganization could cost ratepayers \$27.1 million in additional charges each year and is worried that higher rates will encourage the use of electric water heaters, leading to higher emissions of pollutants from coal-fired electric power plants.

Apr 3/98 A Ministry of Environment investigation concludes that the release of 1800 tonnes of copper and zinc from Ontario Hydro's Pickering Nuclear Generating Stations has had no measurable effect on drinking water quality or fish life near the plant. The investigation was carried out in response to an EBR request.

Apr 22/98 The Ontario government receives a proposal for industry self-regulation from the Ontario Energy Marketers Association (the province's natural gas brokers). While the plan applies primarily to consumer relations, the concept is consistent with many other schemes in which governments turn over the management of concerns about environment, health, safety and the public interest to private sector bodies (usually the same bodies that caused the concern

Mar 31/98

Energy

for environment, health, safety and the public interest in the first place).

Apr 25/98

A 100 litre spill of radioactive heavy water causes a station emergency declared at Ontario Hydro' Darlington Nuclear Generating Station triggering standby of provincial nuclear emergency response. Concern is expressed for workers who may have been exposed to high levels of radiation.

May 8/98

Ontario Hydro announces that it has sold emission credits worth \$500,000 to a Connecticut company (Hartford Co-generation Ltd) in order for that company to achieve its state-directed emission targets. 500 tonnes of nitrogen oxides were sold under the Pilot Emission Reduction Trading Project. The credits were reviewed in Canada by the PERT Project. and approved in the US by the Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection. Ontario Hydro created the credits by reducing nitrogen oxide emissions through the use of new burners and other modification to its Nanticoke and Lambton generating stations in 1995 and 1996.

May 20/98

Ontario Hydro Nuclear has submitted three separate proposals to the Ministry of the Environment to re-test its treatment equipment allowing them to meet the effluent requirements of the Clean Water Regulation. The company has informed the Ministry that this re-testing is necessary to consistently meet all the effluent limits imposed by the regulation at its: Pickering Generating Station; Bruce Nuclear Generating Stations A & B; and Darlington Generating Station.

May 21/98

The Atomic Energy Control Board criticizes Ontario Hydro for a spill of 400 kilograms of radioactive heavy water in April 1998 (see above). The Board concluded that the spill could have been avoided had the utility expedited its nuclear operations improvement plan.

May 29/97

Ontario Energy Board issues decision approving Union Gas Ltd.'s proposal to deregulate the water-heating rental activity. This could lead to shift to electric water heaters whose energy source (coal-fired electricity) is more emission intensive. The OEB declined to penalize Pollution Probe for releasing to the media Union Gas Ltd.'s proposal.

June 6/98

Bill 35 The Energy Competition Act that would split Ontario Hydro into two companies, thereby creating a competitive provincial electricity market, is to be introduced into legislature. The bill is expected to rewrite the Power Corporation Act and the Ontario Energy Board Act. The proposed law will also give government regulatory power to direct the restructuring of Ontario Hydro and the creation of a competitive market.

June 6/98

Calgary's TransAlta Corp. wins a contract to build a \$400-million co-generation power plant in Sarnia Ontario. Co-generation involves the production of electricity and steam, resulting in a process that has been described as energy efficient and cost effective. The project is scheduled to be completed by 2001.

June 16/98

Pollution Probe states that the Ontario Energy Board's decision to allow Union Gas to increase water heater rental prices will negative ramifications on energy conservation.

July 9/98

A report produced by the provincial government indicates that electricity prices will not rise as a result of Ontario Hydro's restructuring. The report indicates that Hydro's current debt will be covered in two ways. First, money will be generated from a series of charges instead of municipal taxes to be imposed on Genco and Servco. If this does not fully cover the debt, then a special fee--Competition Transition Change fee, will be imposed on consumers and electricity producers.

July 10/98

Ontario's Environment Minister, indicates that Ontario's Smog Plan, chk which will apply to Ontario vehicles as well as visiting U.S. vehicles, and that Ontario will refuse to import electricity from companies that do not meet the province's air quality standards.

July 16/98

Major increases in emissions of sulphur dioxide reported from the U.S. electric utility sector

Energy

for 1996.

July 17/98 Efficiency Standards for fluorescent lamps, gas-fired wall furnaces and gas-fired room

heaters adopted under the Energy Efficiency Act, and standards references for electric water

heaters, dusk to dawn luminaries, and cobra-head type luminaries.

July 17/98 Regulation 933 (water heaters) revoked under the Power Corporation Act. Water heaters

now regulated under the *Energy Efficiency Act*.

July 17/98 A working group made up of citizens, government representatives and special interest groups, is formed and asked to advise Ontario Hydro during an environmental review

process of the Pickering nuclear power plant. The Atomic Energy Control Board ordered the

review process.

Aug 21/98 The Atomic Energy Control Board (AECB) finds that Ontario Hydro failed to follow regulations regarding the operations of four nuclear power stations. AECB suggests that some of the

problems are related to lack of employee compliance with procedures as well as outdated training manuals. Despite lax operating and maintenance practices, both the AECB and

Ontario Hydro say that risk to the public is low.

Aug 29/98 Ontario's new Nuclear Emergency Plan, adopted on April 15 1998 as a working guide for

responses during a nuclear emergency, makes headlines. The plan has two key features that set it apart from its 1986 predecessor. First, to the satisfaction of anti-nuclear energy groups, this document explicitly addresses the possibility of a severe nuclear accident. A second and more controversial feature, is the inclusion of a policy that would encourage the

venting of radioactive materials gathered at a reactor, when meteorological conditions would likely carry the pollutants over the Great Lakes and into regions of the United states.

Date N/A A report by the Market Design Committee, an advisory group to the government on the issue of creating a competitive energy market, finds that in order to create such a market, Ontario

Hydro must be broken into more pieces than currently planned. The report determined that the current plan still allows Ontario Hydro to exercise too much power over the market and limits government involvement. Consequently, the report concludes that under this plan,

Ontario consumers would not receive the benefits of a truly efficient and competitive market.

Sep 9/98 The MoE announces that Ontario Hydro has been continuing to meet its emission caps for

acid gases (215 kilotonnes) under Regulation 355/90. However, emissions of SOx and NOx have risen dramatically as a result of the implementation of the August 1997 Nuclear Asset Optimization Plan. Hydro's emissions were well below the cap prior the NAOP

implementation.

Oct 18/98 Bill 35, The Energy Competition Act, 1998, receives Royal Assent. Bill is intended to introduce competition into the electricity market in Ontario. The Bill divides Ontario Hydro into

three entities:

Ontario Power Generation Corporation with generating assets;

Ontario Services Corporation to operate transmission and distribution infrastructure;

Ontario Hydro Financial Corporation to hold Ontario Hydro's debt.

Service Corporation and Generation Corporation are to be incorporated under the Business Corporations Act held in right of her majesty in Right of Ontario. Among other things, they will escape application of Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act and other

accountability mechanisms that apply to public entities.

Financial corporation continued as corporation without share capital made up of its board of directors.

Bill also creates an Independent Market Operator (IMO) another corporation without share

Energy A.64 capital made up of its board of directors, to operate the market.

The Bill creates an Electrical Safety Authority, to assume electrical safety regulation functions of Ontario Hydro. It is a delegated regulatory organization similar to the Technical Standards and Safety Authority.

The Ontario Energy Board is provided with a regulatory function through requirements for licensing as a condition of market access.

The Act makes provision for the requirement of electricity suppliers to be in compliance with environmental performance standards as a condition of market access, but makes no provision regarding the nature of those standards.

- Feb 17/99 Reported Ontario Hydro approaching Countdown Acid Rain program regulatory caps for emissions of SOx and NOx as a result of implementation of August 1997 Nuclear Asset Optimization Plan. SOx emissions have risen 15% and NOx emissions by 30% between 1997 and 1998.
- Mar 22/99 Former Attorney General Ian Scott criticizes the Ontario government for allowing the successor corporations to Ontario Hydro to escape the requirements of the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act* through provisions of Bill 35, *The Energy Competition Act*.
- April 1/99 Successor corporations to Ontario Hydro under Bill 35 come into being.

Energy A.65

PESTICIDES & AGRICULTURE

Feb 96	Consultation paper on Farm Practices Protection Act released by the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs.
Jun 5/96	Minister of Environment and Energy introduces Bill 66, Government Process Simplification Act which proposes to amend the Consolidated Hearings Act and Environmental Protection Act. This could: allow the Minister of Environment and Energy to amend the Pesticides Act to allow classification of pesticides by the Minister or a delegate.
Jul 31/96	Ontario government releases a discussion paper entitled <i>Responsive Environmental Protection</i> which makes over 80 recommended changes to environmental regulation. The recommendations include revising the Environmental Bill of Rights Classification of Proposals for Instruments Regulation to eliminate notice requirements for proposals with minimal environmental impact. Recommendations impacting pesticide regulation include: replacing the provincial pesticides classification system with a national system; decreasing the number of different pesticide licenses from 53 to 15; requiring licensed exterminators to become recertified every five years; requiring at least \$1 million in third party liability for pest control businesses; and replacing underground disposal of pesticide containers with new recycling requirements.
Aug 13/96	Amendments to Regulation 914 placed on the EBR Registry dealing with a host of pesticides, their use, containers and licensing.
Jan 28/97	Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs Posting on Farm Practices Protection Act. Ministry proposes to expand exemption for agricultural activities from environmental laws.
Jan 30/97	Ministry of Environment and Energy reveals that it does not have the financial resources to undertake the testing of pesticide samples due to budgetary reductions.
Jun 26/97	Bill 146, the Farming and Food Production Protection Act receives first reading. The Bill, if enacted, would maintain current prohibition in the Farm Practices Protection Act barring neighbours of farms from undertaking actions in relation to nuisances which arise as a result of 'normal' farm practices, and adds a mechanism through which the Farm Practices Protection Board can overturn municipal by-laws that attempt to control such nuisances.
Sept 19/97	Premier attends unveiling of one of 75 Ontario developed transgenic grape vines at Chateau des Charmes vineyard in Niagara. The grape has been given genes from arabidopsis, a Canadian wild plant related to broccoli and cauliflower.
Sept 24/97	Bill 146, the Farming and Food Production Protection Act passes Second Reading.
Nov 13/97	Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs (OMAFRA) posts a proposal on the EBR Registry to alter its Statement of Environmental Values (SEV). OMAFRA proposes to alter its SEV to reflect the priorities in its business plan which are: to foster competition, increase exports and encourage investment.
Nov 27/97	Ministry releases document "Better, Stronger, Clearer: Environmental Regulations for

Pesticides & Agriculture A.66

Ontario." Proposed changes related to pesticides include:

prohibition of the burial of empty pesticide containers and the required recycling of agricultural and commercial containers made of plastic or metal;

elimination of the sections of Regulation 914 dealing with obsolete pesticides that are no longer available; and

consolidation and clarification of the sections of Regulation 914 on fumigants.

simplify the licensing system and reduce the number of types of licences; upgrade training requirements for exterminators; and

eliminate exterminator licences requirement for the use of some "low risk" pesticides.

introduce Standardized Approvals for applications of "low risk" pesticides.

Dec 17/97 Bill 146, the Farming and Food Production Protection Act is referred to the Standing Committee on Resources Development.

Dec 24/97 The Ministry of Environment proposes changes to grower certification requirements under regulation 914 of the Pesticides Act. If the proposals are accepted, all growers, including assistants, using Schedule 2 and 5 (commercial) pesticides would require certification. In, addition, agriculturalists using Schedule 3 (low toxicity) pesticides would require certification beginning in April 1, 1998.

May 11/98 Bill 146, The Farming and Food Production Protection Act, receives Royal Assent.

Aug 1/98 Amendments to Regulation 914 under the *Pesticides Act* to:

clarify requirements re: fumigants;

limit ability to bury empty pesticide containers; require, where appropriate and dependent on type of pesticide, containers be rinsed and recycled and reused; all pesticide wastes to be disposed of in compliance with Part V of the *Environmental Protection Act*.

clarifications on restrictions on use of structural pesticides:

limit applications by certified agriculturalists to lands other than their own;

permit granting of applicator's licenses on the basis of equivalent out-of-province training and certification:

remove licence requirements for specific low toxic, innocuous products including:

tree wound dressings;

pesticides to be injected into trees;

pole and stump wood preservatives:

dog and bear personal repellants;

sealed bait stations; and

products containing a single active ingredient soap, mineral oil or silicon dioxide.

Sep 16/98 Amendments to Ontario Pesticide Licensing System adopted:

number of licences reduced from 53 to 18;

exterminator's licenses required for pesticide extermination businesses;

proposal for exterminator re-certification every 5 years dropped;

proposal for licensing of assistants to exterminators dropped, except where not supervised by a licenced exterminator;

no requirements for renewal of technician status; and requirement for comprehensive insurance set at \$1 million.

Pesticides & Agriculture

FORESTRY

Oct 6/95 Government-wide operating budget reductions released by the Office of the Premier. Reductions to Ministry of Natural Resources:

fire management \$0.5 M;

sustainable forestry/environmental assessment implementation program \$19.1 M; nursery closures \$0.4 M.

Jan 29/96

Bill 26, the *Government Savings and Restructuring Act* enacted by the Ontario legislature. The Bill contained amendments to the *Forest Fire Prevention Act* as summarized below: repeal fire, travel and work permit provisions which will allow people into and activities to take place in forest fire prevention zones in an unregulated manner.

Feb 9/96 Managed Forest Tax Rebate Re-Instatement announced.

April 3/96 Introduction of Bill 36, the *Ministry of Natural Resources Statute Law Amendment Act*.

Apr 11/96 Ontario government releases "Interim Report on Business Planning and Cost Savings Measures" which outlines the re-shaping of government through "new business directions" for ministries and "cost-savings measures" that the province is implementing. Each ministry is responsible for carrying out its own business plan within the financial constraints that it is assigned. Effects of this initiative on forestry policy and practices:

streamline forest management to reduce budget by \$34.6 M in 1996-97 and \$45.9 M in 1997-98:

wind down the Temagami Comprehensive Planning Council to save \$0.3 M in 1996-97 and again in 1997-98;

reduce fire fighting operations by \$4.0 M in 1996-97 and again in 1997-98;

May 17/96

New Burning Guidelines announced under the *Forest Fires Prevention* Act. The new standards eliminate the requirement to obtain a fire permit for "small fires." This includes:

burning piles of wood brush, or wood by-products, so long as the pile is less than two metres in height and the fire is two metres away from any flammable material; burning grass or leaves if the total area to be burned is less than 1 hectare; burning in incinerators so long as they are closed devices and at least five metres from any forest and two metres from any flammable material; and cooking fires.

May 28/96

The Ministry for Natural Resources announces that it will restructure forest management in the province. Implementing the Forest Management Business Plan means that the MNR will:

reduce its direct involvement in forest management operations;

shift new and/or additional responsibilities to forest industries along with the costs of meeting those responsibilities;

concentrate on managing information required for forest management;

no longer consider forest management a core ministry business;

rely on forest company reports as its primary source of information when verifying compliance;

Details include:

all current management units to be covered by a Sustainable Forest Licence (or equivalent);

SFLs will be longterm licensing arrangements (greater than 5 years) that will afford the licensee more direct control over a forest as well as greater responsibilities:

forest companies with the existing Forest Resource Licence (short term, limited responsibility) will be bumped up to an SFL;

independent audits will be used to determine sustainable practices if ever deemed required;

Forest industries will be involved:

Forestry A.68

in the development of policies, standards and guidelines for forest management;

in the development and implementation of ecological land use plans;

Forest industries will be responsible for:

silviculture, pre and post harvest activities;

surveys and assessments, road and bridge construction;

monitoring, inventory and data collection;

wood measurement, seed and seedling production;

preparing forest compliance plans;

conducting inspections of their operations;

identifying areas where standards and guidelines have not been followed;

undertaking and paying for remedial work;

ensuring that staff are properly certified and re-certified.

Jun 28/96

Ontario government releases its land-use strategy for Temagami. The strategy permits logging of 35 per cent of the old-growth forests in Temagami. The government contends the strategy will protect old growth sites and resolve land-use issues in Temagami. Highlights of the strategy include:

a limited prohibition on clearcutting of some of Temagami's old growth red and white pine:

mineral exploration activity in the Temagami area with some limited prohibitions; and the creation of Protected and Special Management Areas where resource extraction will be prohibited or carefully managed.

Sept 11/96

Two organizations, the Sierra Legal Defense Fund and Algonquin Wildlands League file a suit against the MNR alleging non-compliance with the requirements of a Class Environmental Assessment of Timber Management on Crown Land and the *Crown Forest Sustainability Act*.

Sep 25/96

Two environmental organizations (Algonquin Wildlands League and Friends of Temagami) seek a court order which would prevent further logging of old growth red and white pine in Temagami's Owain Lake Forest.

Oct 2/96

Ontario Court General Division refused to grant a court order sought by two environmental organizations that would have temporarily stopped logging in Temagami's Owain Lake Forest.

Nov 4/96

Forest Planning Manual published by the Ministry of Natural Resources.

Nov 5/96

Ministry of Natural Resources adopts regulations to implement Bill 26 amendments to the Forest Fires Prevention Act, Public Lands Act, and Lakes and Rivers Improvements Act. The regulations

the repeal of most fire, travel and work permit provisions.

the elimination of many permitting requirements when constructing, altering or using a dam, dock or other water works; some larger buildings still require a permit; most bridges, culverts agricultural drains, trenching and dams do not require work

most bridges, culverts agricultural drains, trenching and dams do not require work permits on private or municipal lands; on Crown lands, bridges, culverts and dams do require a permit but agricultural drains and trenching for private residences are exempt;

using regulations in place of statutory obligations severely reduces the capacity of courts to order restoration in the case of damage to the natural environment;

the majority of activities on public lands and waters are permissible; fewer activities remain captured;

new trails through Crown land will mostly not require a permit; permit exemptions are clearly granted for trails for mineral exploration, timber or other resource extraction; dredging, controlling aquatic plants, building docks and boathouses and laying submarine cable are free from permitting requirements if they are private (as opposed to commercial) and if they are intended for a log salvage operation;

Forestry

100 square metres of vegetation annually can be removed in waters in southern Ontario without a permit;

only exceptional burning will be captured by permit requirements (industrial slash pile burning and ecologically prescribed burns). All other small-scale incinerations are automatically permitted.

Nov 19/96

Royal assent given to Bill 76, amending the *Environmental Assessment Act*. Bill includes provisions which may provide mechanism for cabinet to modify Terms and Conditions of Environmental Assessment decisions, including the Class Environmental Assessment of Timber Management on Crown Lands.

Dec 11/96

A Request for Investigation is filed under the Environmental Bill of Rights concerning the construction of a logging road near Cross Lake.

Jan 16/97

Bill 106, *The Fair Municipal Finance Act*, introduced. Bill would improve the tax treatment of conservation, farm and managed forest lands.

Feb 3/97

Bill 199, the *Red Tape Reduction Act (Ministry of Natural Resources), 1997* goes to 1st Reading. If passed, *The Crown Forest Sustainability Act, 1994* will be amended to:

clarify that assets of the Forest Renewal Trust Fund are Crown assets;

remove the requirement that Area Charges be determined by regulation and make Minister responsible for setting them;

allow the Minister to declare Restricted Fire Zones by amending the *Forest Fires Prevention Act*:

consolidate the *Forestry Act*, the *Forest Tree Pest Control Act*, and the *Woodlands Improvement Act* (all of which deal with forestry on private land) into one act (the *Forestry Act*). Under the new act, maximum fines for violation of county and regional municipality tree-cutting by-laws will be increased to \$20,000;

amend the *Public Lands Act* and *Lakes and Rivers Improvements Act* to permit delegation of decision-making to third parties.

Apr 16/97

Draft MNR Policy on Wilderness released.

Apr 17/97

The Ministry of Natural Resources is charged by Ministry of the Environment with contravening the *Environmental Assessment Act* by allowing the construction of a road to Cross Lake.

Apr 97

The Ministry of Natural Resources prepares for a year-long consultation and planning process for Crown lands called *Lands for Life* (launch of process and committees on June 17, 1997). The program has three elements:

Nature's Best - a plan to create a network of protected wilderness areas in Ontario; Resource-Based Tourism Policy - a plan to identify resources for use by the tourism industry;

Forest Management - a plan to attempt to ensure that forest's are managed sustainably.

Three roundtables have been proposed to undertake the consultation:

Great Lakes - St Lawrence;

Boreal East; and

Boreal West.

Their composition will be determined and appointed by the Minister and are expected to include 8-12 people. The consultation is scheduled to complete by the spring of 1998. The critical issue of forest industry tenure on Crown lands is being held outside of this process and is subject to discussions between the province and the industry only. It is expected to be determined after, not before this planning process.

May 14/97

A hearing is held in Ontario Divisional Court to determine whether the Minister of Natural Resources, Chris Hodgson, violated the *Crown Forest Sustainability Act* and the

Forestry

Environmental Assessment Act. The dispute arises from the allegations made by two organizations, Algonquin Wildlands League and Friends of Temagami, that the Minister exceeded his jurisdiction by approving plans and work schedules without providing for the sustainability of Crown forests.

May 27/97

The Ministry of Natural Resources proposes and adopts a Wilderness Area Policy. The policy fails to satisfy a longstanding obligation of the MNR to establish a policy for roadless wilderness areas under the Class Environmental Assessment on Timber Management. The implementation of a roadless area policy is very likely to conflict with the Lands for Life land tenure process.

Jun 17/97

The minister announces nomination of 40 persons as members of the three regional round tables as part of the Lands for Life process devised for the management of Crown lands in Ontario. These committees are to make recommendations on the use of Crown lands in their respective areas. Concerns over the process include:

land uses may be designated for large portions of Ontario on a perpetual basis (between 37 and 46 million hectares or about 47% of Crown lands in Ontario; that the process includes no objectives for protected areas:

As this process is continuing, the MNR is also in discussions to allocate up to 60% of non-protected public lands to "intensive forestry" and to strengthen the tenure of forest companies on public lands.

Sep 13/97

The Ministry of Natural Resources submits a plea of guilty with respect to the charges laid against it, under the *Environmental Assessment Act*, for the construction of an access road to Cross Lake.

Oct 10/97

The Provincial Cabinet is reorganized. John Snobelen becomes the Minister of Natural Resources. Chris Hodgson vacates Natural Resources but retains Mines and Northern Development.

Dec 15/97

The Ministry of Natural Resources accepts the Prescribed Burn Planning Manual as containing the guidelines for planning and conducting prescribed burns in Ontario. Each plan will include:

- a statement of objectives to be achieved;
- a burn prescription that will meet the objectives;
- a list of all areas of concern;
- a description of the methods used to notify the public;
- a description of ignition, suppression, safety and support measures;
- an outline of the requirements for a post-burn analysis.

Dec 19/97

The Ministry of Natural Resources approves the inception of the Forest Resource Assessment Policy as the successor to the Forest Production Policy (1972). The new policy provides an analytical framework within which forest resource use decisions are to be made and ensures that assessments of Ontario's Crown forest resources will be updated every five years.

Dec 19/97

The Ministry of Natural Resources approves a policy directed towards classifying the Seed Zones of Ontario more accurately by using information from the Ontario Climate Model. The control of tree seed and stock transfer helps to maintain genetic diversity and the high effectiveness of artificial regeneration programs by ensuring the use of well adapted plant material.

Jan 30/98

Minister of Natural Resources extends deadline for Lands for Life roundtable reports. Originally the recommendations were to be submitted to the minister by March 1998 but now are requested by June 30, 1998. The recommendations from these consultations could determine the fate of between 37 and 46 million hectares or about 47% of Crown lands in Ontario. Timber, tourism or parks are the three designated land use options.

Forestry A.71

Feb 7/98

An Ontario Divisional Court declares three Northern Ontario timber management plans to be "of no force and effect." The panel that hears the case gives the province 12 months to bring the Elk Lake, Upper Spanish and Temagami plans into compliance with the *Crown Forest Sustainability Act*. The most contentious actions by the Ministry of Natural Resources included:

approving work schedules without proof that the forest would managed sustainably; approving plans which lacked any sustainability indicators and frequently allowed for clear-cutting; and

timetables for phasing in new standards were arbitrarily extended.

Apr 28/98

Publication of report by Wildlands League and Sierra Legal Defence Fund indicating pattern of serious failure to enforce environmental regulations applicable to forestry industry in Algoma Highlands. Publication of report is accompanied by the filing of a request for investigation under the *Environmental Bill of Rights*.

Apr 29/98

Environmental Commissioner for Ontario tables Third Annual Report: "Open Doors - Ontario's Environmental Bill of Rights." The Commissioner states "I regret to report that in the past year there has been little substantive improvement in the actions taken by provincial ministries toward protecting the environment." Comments on specific issues include the following:

Forest Management

despite its budget and staff being cut in half, the Ministry of Natural Resources is faced with increasing pressures from rising demand for wood, the need to complete the provincial parks system, and conflicts between forestry, tourism and natural heritage values.

report is critical of the pace of the 'Lands for Life' process and lack of adequate public consultation in this program to determine the uses for 46% of the province's land area.

The Commissioner also expresses concern over some of the approaches to forest management being adopted or considered by the Ministry of Natural Resources including: tenure in perpetuity for forestry companies; compensation if the land licences to companies is later re-allocated; industry self-monitoring of compliance with forestry regulations; and streamlining the sale of crown lands.

May 1/98

Minister of Natural Resources John Snobelen signs the Canada Forest Accord. The accord helps ensure that forest industries sustain a competitive position in a global market. Ontario's contributions to advance the accord include:

the longterm tenure for forest companies on Crown land that is to be allocated through the Lands for Life process;

efforts to understand and define forest management;

attempting to complete a system of parks in the province;

trying to understand climate change impacts on forests:

improving public information.

May 10/98

Ontario Court rejects application to amend its February 1998 decision regarding the failure of the Ministry of Natural Resources to comply with the requirements of the *Crown Forest Sustainability Act* and the Environmental Assessment Board's decision regarding the Class Environmental Assessment of Timber Management on Crown Lands. The Court grants the original applicants in the case, the Wildlands League and the Friends of Temagami, a costs award of \$127,000 in relation to the Ministry's application.

July 31/98

Minister of Natural Resources receives Lands for Life Recommendations (see Oct 30/98 for further details).

Oct 27/98

Ontario Court of Appeal upholds February 1998 decision of Ontario Divisional Court regarding MNR compliance with the *Crown Forest Sustainability Act* and Terms and Conditions of the Class Environmental Assessment on Timber Management on Crown Lands.

Forestry

Oct 30/98

MNR releases the consolidated Lands for Life Recommendations. Lands for Life was established in the Spring of 1997 to determine the fate of 47% of the province's landbase, mostly in the central to north of the province. Three Round Tables conducted consultations over approximately a year. Criticisms were levied that the process was heavily weighted in favour of industrial forestry, mining and hunting interests. The recommendations included:

79% of the Crown land be open to forestry, mining and all other resource extraction industries:

completion of a park system that has "minimal impact on forestry or mining sectors"; 703,000 ha of new parks/protected areas (total area covered under the recommendations is 46 million hectares);

five new land use designations: stewardship areas, enhanced management areas, heritage waterways, Great Lakes heritage coastlines and general use areas; support for resource based tourism;

angling allowed everywhere;

hunting in most new provincial parks and everywhere else; snowmobile / all terrain vehicle use virtually everywhere.

Dec 16/98

Bill 101 *Red Tape Reduction Act #2)* Introduced. Schedule M amends a number of natural resources acts including:

Forest Fires Prevention Act

provide authority to require that people who cause fires pay for fire suppression; various minor amendments.

Bill 101 died on the order Paper when the Legislative session ended on December 18, 1998.

Mar 29/99

Government responds to 'Lands for Life' Round Table Recommendations. Announces protection of 12% of planning area. Major concessions to the forest industry include: no long-term reduction in wood supply; no net increase in cost of wood supply; application of intensive silviculture including potential exemptions from *Crown Forest Sustainability Act* biodiversity protection requirements; forest industry veto over creation of future protected areas; \$21 million in compensation and subsidies to the forest industry.

Apr 6/99

MNR posts decision to proceed with amending the Forest Renewal Trust Agreement (FTRA) established under the *Crown Forest Sustainability Act*. The FTRA will be amended as follows:

"5.02(c) Where the Minister determines that there is a surplus of funds in one or any individual management unit account licensed to a single sustainable forestry license holder, the Minister may instruct the Trustee to transfer such surpluses between or among the individual management units to that sustainable licence holder."

Careful oversight of this mechanism (ie. public notification of fund transfers) will be required to ensure that all parties are in agreement, including the public, that renewal activities have been carried out properly and that the transfer of funds is deserved in light of drastic MNR inspection, compliance and enforcement resource cuts.

Apr 22/99

Ministry of Natural Resources posts a decision (EBR # PB8E6006) to establish a new policy and procedure to govern the retrieval of sunken logs from Ontario's waterways. The policy update reflects the "growing interest in providing wood fibre to Ontario forest companies and in manufacturing specialty wood products form logs that have been submerged."

July 16/99

Ministry of Natural Resources annouces 'decision' on March 29/99 'Lands for Life' proposals. Key elements include:

- mineral exploration will be permitted in areas have very high mineral potential in new provincial parks and conservation reserves under controlled circumstances. If a site is to be developed for a mine, the area would be removed from the park or conservation reserve by deregulating, and another area would be added to the park or conservation reserve to replace the deregulated area;
- existing bait fishing, commercial fishing, commercial fur harvesting and wild rice harvesting will be permitted to continue indefinitely in existing provincial parks,

Forestry

except in wilderness and nature reserve parks and zones in parks, where these activities would be phased out by 2010. Where these activities occur in new parks, they would be permitted to continue indefinitely except in nature reserve parks and zones:

- sport hunting would be permitted in all new provicinal parks and park additions except in nature reserve parks and zones;
- existing authorized seasonal recreation camps will be permitted to continue indefinitely in new provincial parks and will be eligible for enhanced tenure, but not purchase of land;
- existing authorized tourism facilities and recreation trails will be permitted to continue in new provincial parks, subject to management prescriptsions determined through management planning;
- the establishment of new toursim facilities may be considered in planning for individual conservation reserves; and
- efforts will be made to identify potential locations for future road crossings for forestry purposes prior to regulation of new provincial parks or conservation reserves.

The government also states that "MNR will consider opportunities to provide additional hunting opportunities during park management planning for existing parks, including existing wilderness parks."

Forestry A.74

WILDLIFE AND PROTECTED AREAS

Aug 95	The MNR releases a proposed land use plan for the Temagami Region which would open virtually all of the lands outside of provincial parks to mining, forestry, and other forms of development.
Oct 6/95	Government-wide operating budget reductions released by the Office of the Premier. These reductions are in addition to those made in July. Reductions to the Ministry of Natural Resources: park staff reductions \$0.06 M in 1995-96 and 1996-97; more reductions announced
	on April 11, 1996
Nov 17/95	Cautions placed on land titles in Temagami Area lifted.
Nov 95	The Minister of Natural Resources dispatches correspondence to Federal Environment Minister opposing the time line for the phase-out of lead shot for water fowl hunting.
Jan 5/96	"Temagami Area Draft Land Use Proposal" placed on EBR Registry. The Comprehensive Planning Council will submit its recommendations to the MNR on March 1, 1996.
Jan 29/96	Bill 26, the <i>Government Savings and Restructuring Act</i> enacted by the Ontario legislature. Bill amends the <i>Game and Fish Act</i> to permit the creation of an account separate from the consolidated revenue fund to manage monies collected from fees and licenses; expenditures at Minister's discretion.
Feb 23/96	Minister of Natural Resources makes a number of fish and game policy announcements: MNR is seeking delay in implementation of federal lead shot ban; two fishing rods per angler now effective on Lake Erie; and pursue changes to allow the hunting of migratory birds with raptors.
April 3/96	Bill 36, the <i>Ministry of Natural Resources Statute Law Amendment Act</i> introduced. The Bill includes amendments to the <i>Game and Fish Act</i> and the <i>Provincial Parks Act</i> .
Apr 11/96	Ontario government releases "Interim Report on Business Planning and Cost Savings Measures" which outlines the re-shaping of government through "new business directions" for ministries and "cost-savings measures" that the province is implementing. Each ministry is responsible for carrying out its own business plan within the financial constraints that it is assigned. Effects of this initiative on the protection of wilderness: streamline forest management to reduce budget by \$34.6 M in 1996-97 and \$45.9 M in 1997-98;
	reduce park financing \$9.1 M in 1996-97 and again in 1997-98; consolidate or close 60 of the Province's 251 parks to save \$5.1 M in 1996-97 and again in 1997-98; wind down the Temagami Comprehensive Planning Council to save \$0.3 M in 1996-97 and again in 1997-98;
Apr 17/96	Temagami Comprehensive Planning Council Report Released.
Apr 28/96	Lease on Serpent Mounds Provincial Park expires. Province does not attempt to extend.
Apr 31/96	World Wildlife Fund Canada issues the Province of Ontario an "F" in its Endangered Spaces Campaign (an effort which seeks to protect ecologically significant areas in the province).
May 1/96	Ontario Parks announcement: the creation of an agency to: "improve the delivery of programs and services in key parks to increase revenues and, in turn, sustain other parks."

Jun 5/96

Regulation 257/96, exemption from s.51 of *Game and Fish Act* for sale of hides of black bear, deer, moose, or cast antlers of caribou, deer or moose promulgated.

Jun 28/96

Ontario government releases its land-use strategy for Temagami. The strategy permits logging of 35 per cent of the old-growth forests in Temagami and also lifts a 24 year-old mining ban in the area. Highlights of the strategy include:

a limited prohibition on clearcutting of some of Temagami's old growth red and white pine:

mineral exploration activity in the Temagami area with some limited prohibitions; and the creation of Protected and Special Management Areas where resource extraction will be prohibited or carefully managed.

Jun 96

Bill 36 enacted. Amends *Provincial Parks Act* to permit delegation of park operations to "any person."

Jun 96

The Ministry of Natural Resources releases a summary of the Ontario Parks Business Plan. The Plan will become part of the MNR's corporate business plan. The division of responsibilities will be:

Ontario Parks will develop policies for the planning, management and development of the provincial parks system.

Ontario Parks will participate in the identification and acquisition of candidate sites for inclusion into Natural Heritage Areas.

The MNR will ultimately determine whether sites are added.

The MNR will develop policies for ecological sustainability and a system of Natural Heritage Areas for the province.

The Ontario Parks Business Plan will:

allow the Minister to establish a new board of directors chaired by the Deputy Minister of Natural Resources. It will have 5-8 members from outside the Ontario government:

introduce revenue retention (to improve customer service and financial accountability, encourage entrepreneurialism and allow for greater merchandising opportunities within parks;

will allow Ontario Parks to set or change park fees and charges subject to Minister approval;

require that parks are more dependent on fees for their revenues;

allow Ontario Parks to receive corporate sponsorship and private donations for land acquisition or facility upgrading and enter into corporate sponsorship agreements (the acceptance of donations is pending negotiations on tax receipting).

These changes are intended to promote natural and cultural protection, move the park system toward financial self-reliance, improve park business practices and product marketing and involve private sector contracting.

The current park system includes 265 provincial parks (of which 106 are operating parks), occupies 6.2 million hectares and attracts 8.5 million visitors per year.

Jun 96

The Ministry of Natural Resources unveils its Fish and Wildlife Management Business Plan. The policy change is precipitated foremost by "expenditure reduction and Government downsizing" and incorporates the "dedication of revenues from fines, royalties and license fees prescribed by the Game and Fish Act." Plan includes:

a significant shift in delivery of products and services to the non-government sector and increased participation by clients (anglers and hunters) in resource management;

increased non-government role in delivery of services, embracing beneficiary pay and accountability and more local decision-making;

new staffing and funding for delivery of hunting and fishing licensing services and the likelihood of contracting outside agencies (lodges, fur managers, hunting groups) to deliver and manage recreational licenses;

field assessment programs to be severely curtailed (ie. science, fisheries and Great

Lakes assessment units); oversight by The Fish and Wildlife Advisory Board (see below).

Jul 2/96

Ministry of Natural Resources lists appointees to The Fish and Wildlife Advisory Board (created under the *Natural Resources Act* in November 1995). The Board was created to provide advice on re-investing revenue from fish and wildlife license fees, royalties and fines. Board members, their residence and affiliation are:

Phil Morlock, Whitney (Canadian National Sportfishing Foundation);

Charles Alexander, Dryden (Ontario Fed. of Anglers and Hunters);

Gary Ball, Peterborough (Hunting Heritage / Hunter Futures Board);

Walt Crawford, Elora (Trout Unlimited Canada);

Sandy Dickson, Atikokan (Canoe Canada Outfitters);

Brian Dykstra, Marten River (Beaverland Camp);

Sandi Johnson, London (Ontario Fed. of Anglers and Hunters);

Pat Kennedy, Haliburton (Haliburton Highlands Outdoors Assoc.);

Jack Newton, Huntsville (Ontario Hunt Clubs Association):

George Purvis, Gore Bay (commercial fishing operator);

Duncan Sinclair, Aylmer (Ducks Unlimited).

Jul 4/96

Ministry of Natural Resources offers reduced camping and day-use fees to encourage persons with disabilities to use provincial parks.

Aug 12/96

Natural Resources Minister Chris Hodgson officially opens the Hillardton Marsh Provincial Wildlife Area. The Marsh is a wetland habitat populated by wildlife and waterfowl.

Sep 25/96

Two environmental organizations (Algonquin Wildlands League and Friends of Temagami) seek a court order which would prevent further logging of old growth red and white pine in Temagami's Owain Lake Forest.

Oct 2/96

Ontario Court General Division refused to grant a court order sought by two environmental organizations that would have temporarily stopped logging in Temagami's Owain Lake Forest.

Oct 96

Ministry of Natural Resources releases fact sheet on red and white pine in Ontario. In it, the MNR announces it has adopted a Conservation Strategy For Old Growth Red and White Pine Ecosystems in Ontario.

Nov 5/96

Ministry of Natural Resources adopts regulations to implement Bill 26 amendments to *Public Lands Act, Lakes and Rivers Improvements Act,* and *Forest Fires Prevention Act. The regulations*:

the repeal of most fire, travel and work permit provisions;

the elimination of many permitting requirements when constructing, altering or using a dam, dock or other water works; some larger buildings still require a permit; most bridges, culverts agricultural drains, trenching and dams do not require work permits on private or municipal lands; on Crown lands, bridges, culverts and dams do require a permit but agricultural drains and trenching for private residences are exempt;

using regulations in place of statutory obligations severely reduces the capacity of courts to order restoration in the case of damage to the natural environment;

the majority of activities on public lands and waters are permissible; fewer activities remain captured;

new trails through Crown land will mostly not require a permit; permit exemptions are clearly granted for trails for mineral exploration, timber or other resource extraction; dredging, controlling aquatic plants, building docks and boathouses and laying submarine cable are free from permitting requirements if they are private (as opposed to commercial) and if they are intended for a log salvage operation;

100 square metres of vegetation annually can be removed in waters in southern Ontario without a permit;

Chtano without a permit,

only exceptional burning will be captured by permit requirements (industrial slash pile burning and ecologically prescribed burns). All other small-scale incinerations are automatically permitted.

Dec 12/96

Ministry of Natural Resources announces final public review of proposed boundary for the expansion of Wabakimi Provincial Park. The MNR proposes to add over 700,000 hectares to the 155,000 hectare park, making it the largest provincial park in the forested region of Ontario. Ministry of Natural Resources releases summary of "key park values" for expansion of Wabakimi Provincial Park. The key values focus on woodland, caribou, landscape features, watershed integrity, Aboriginal values, canoeing and remote tourism.

Dec 27/96

Minister of Natural Resources Chris Hodgson announces efforts to expand recreational lake trout fishing in south-central Ontario. As of January 1, 1997 48 lakes will be open to trout fishing. Another 6 lakes that are stocked by the MNR (dubbed "put, grow and take" by the MNR) the length of the fishing season will be expanded. Additional provisions include permission to use two fishing lines per angler and to use live bait but the catch is limited to two fish per day.

Jan 9/97

Ministry of Natural Resources announces it provided \$515,000 in funding to its Community Fisheries Involvement Program (CFIP) in 1996. CFIP supports volunteers in 242 fishery improvement projects across Ontario. The 1996 contribution was the highest amount the MNR has ever invested in the program.

Jan 16/97

Bill 106, The Fair Municipal Finance Act, introduced. The Bill would improve the tax treatment of conservation, farm and managed forest lands.

Jan 20/97

Ministry of Natural Resources announces that it provided \$191,000 to the Community Wildlife Involvement Program (CWIP) in 1996. The money was spent to fund volunteers working on 140 CWIP projects in Ontario. These projects included:

the erection of osprey platforms by the Friends of Charleston Lake: wild turkey trapping and relocations performed by the South-Central Big Game Association.

Jan 21/97

Ministry of Natural Resources announces it will take measures to restore the elk population in Ontario. The MNR has formed elk restoration technical and advisory committees to undertake the task. Initial plans call for 50 elk to be obtained from Elk Island National Park in Alberta.

Feb 3/97

Bill 119, the Red Tape Reduction Act (Ministry of Natural Resources), 1997 goes to 1st Reading. If passed, the following amendments will be made to the Provincial Parks Act: changes in fines and enforcement powers; and

mining and prospecting activities which are prohibited in provincial parks will be clarified.

If passed, the Parks Assistance Act will be repealed.

The Act will make amendments to the *Public Lands Act*:

a land use planning process will be set up that allows for participation by stakeholders and controls activities that may be inconsistent with approved land use plans:

the need for order in council approvals will be removed and authority will be delegated to the Minister:

the Minister may order the transfer of administration and control of public lands to other government bodies; and

administrative fees will be set by the Minister, rather than established by regulation.

Conservation Authorities Act:

authorities will be allowed to enter into agreements to permit exploration and extraction of oil and gas reserves on land adjacent to authority land;

authorities would be permitted to lease land for terms of up to five years without approval:

maximum fines for violations of the regulations will be increased from \$1,000 to \$10,000, and from \$100 to \$1,000:

anyone convicted of constructing a building or dumping fill may be ordered by the court to restore the site to its previous state (or to pay for the authority to do the work if the order is not complied with);

the Lieutenant Governor in Council would no longer be required to approve appointments of members to a Conservation Authority.

Lakes and Rivers Improvement Act.

debt collection will be consolidated through municipal taxes (to allow Minister to recover money spent by province on public health and safety issues caused by unsafe dam structures);

the Minister will be given explicit power to enter into cost-sharing agreements;

the Minister's orders and approvals will be explicitly made binding on the original recipient and any successor or assignee;

the Minister will be authorized to issue stop work orders on unauthorized dams while compliance issues are resolved; and

maximum fines for violations of the Act will be increased.

The Act will make the following amendments to the Mining Act.

references to boring permits will be removed (these are covered under the *Petroleum Resources Act*); and

the areas in which the issuing of oil and gas exploration licenses and production leases are restricted to will be redefined.

If passed, the *Mining Act* will undergo several amendments. The Crown Forest Sustainability Act, 1994 will be amended to:

clarify that assets of the Forest Renewal Trust Fund are Crown assets;

remove the requirement that Area Charges be determined by regulation and make Minister responsible for setting them.

allow the Minister to declare Restricted Fire Zones by amending the *Forest Fires Prevention Act*;

consolidate the *Forestry Act*, the *Forest Tree Pest Control Act*, and the *Woodlands Improvement Act* (all of which deal with forestry on private land) into one act (the *Forestry Act*). Under the new act, maximum fines for violation of county and regional municipality tree-cutting by-laws will be increased to \$20,000.

Feb 27/97

The Ontario government announces 4 new parks, 5 park expansions and 18 new conservation reserves.

New parks include: Tide Lake and Maynard Lake near Kenora, White Lake Peatlands between Thunder Bay and Sault Ste Marie, Blue Jay Creek on Manitoulin Island.

Expansions include: Mississagi River, Obabika River, French River, Hardy Lake and Charleston Lake.

New conservation reserves: Painted Rock, Miles Bay, Greenwood Lake, Shook Lake, Jog Lake, Tikamaganda Lake, Ranger North, Mac's Bay, Indian Bay South, Matabitchuan River, Narrows Island, Ottertail Creek, Rabbit Lake West, Temagami Island north, White Bear Forest, Torrance Barrows, Clear Lake, Kaladar Jack Pine Barrens.

The changes will add 77,500 hectares to the province's base of 6,300,000 hectares of protected areas (1.2% expansion). No target for adding to the province's protected areas was identified.

Apr 3/97

Minister of Natural Resources Chris Hodgson announces the Nipissing-French River area as the location for the release of 50 new elk into Ontario next February. Elk disappeared from Ontario in the 1800s because of over-harvesting and habitat loss and were re-introduced in the 1930s in the Nipissing-French River area. Partners with the MNR in this effort are: the Ontario Federation of Anglers and Hunters, Ontario Fur Managers Federation, The Safari Club International, Parks Canada and 5 other organizations. Five other release areas may be pursued based on the success of this pilot project.

Apr 16/97 Draft MNR Policy on Wilderness released. Policy is widely criticized as providing inadequate protection for wilderness areas.

Apr 17/97 The Ministry of Natural Resources is charged by the Ministry of the Environment with contravening the Environmental Assessment Act by allowing the construction of a road to Cross Lake.

Apr 24/97 Minister of Natural Resources Chris Hodgson signs the first-ever perpetual agreement between a province and the conservation organization Ducks Unlimited Canada. The agreement specifies roles and responsibilities for each organization in the areas of wetland policy, wetland management, use of Crown lands, private land stewardship, communications, environmental review, science transfer, resource planning, information management and administration. This initiative effectively points toward the private management of a public resource on a scale unprecedented and attempts ensure that this arrangement will be perpetual.

> The Ministry of Natural Resources prepares for a year-long consultation and planning process for Crown lands called *Lands for Life*. The program has three elements:

Nature's Best - a plan to create a network of protected wilderness areas in Ontario; Resource-Based Tourism Policy - a plan to identify resources for use by the tourism

Forest Management - a plan to attempt to ensure that forest's are managed sustainably.

Three roundtables have been proposed to undertake the consultation:

Great Lakes - St Lawrence;

Boreal East: and

Boreal West.

Their composition will be determined and appointed by the Minister and are expected to include 8-12 people. The consultation is scheduled to complete by the spring of 1998. The critical issue of forest industry tenure on Crown lands is being held outside of this process and is subject to discussions between the province and the industry only. It is expected to be determined after, not before this planning process.

The World Wildlife Fund (Canada) releases its 1996-97 Endangered Spaces Progress Report which charts progress on Canada's commitment to ensure the protection of representative sections of all of Canada's natural regions. The province of Ontario received a 'C-', up from an 'F' the previous year. The improvement in grade arises from policy developments by the Ontario government which:

provided favourable tax treatment for sustainable land management including a reduced rate for eligible woodlands and an elimination of taxes on provincial wetlands, ANSIs and other lands (see January 1997, Land Use Planning);

Also cited in a reasonably favourable light is the Ontario government's application of ecological principles, strategy development (Nature's Best). Initiatives below grade included:

although the government created new parks, park expansions and new natural area reserves totalling 29 new sites and 82,083 hectares, (announced on Feb 27, 1997) this rate is still considered behind schedule;

the annual rate of progress in new protected site designation;

the Madawaska Highlands Draft Land Use Plan which proposes to permit logging and mining in ANSIs on Crown Land;

May 8/97 Funding is increased for the Community Fisheries Involvement Program (CFIP) and the Community Wildlife Involvement Program (CWIP) according to the MNR. The funding arises from fish and wildlife license fees, royalties and fines which are now diverted to an account separate from general revenue under an amendment contained in Bill 26 the Government Savings and Restructuring Act. Mr Hodgson remarked "This is the first part of that money. I look forward to announcing more such projects as the year progresses." These programs (CFIP & CWIP) support the work of volunteer organizations which assess, evaluate, monitor and restore wildlife habitats, particularly those capable of supporting populations of game

Apr 97

Apr 29/97

animals and sport fish.

May 27/97

The Ministry of Natural Resources proposes and adopts a Wilderness Area Policy. The policy fails to satisfy a longstanding obligation of the MNR to establish a policy for roadless wilderness areas under the Class Environmental Assessment on Timber Management. The implementation of a roadless area policy is very likely to conflict with the Lands for Life land tenure process.

May 97 Bill 106, The Fair Municipal Finance Act receives Royal Assent.

Jun 9/97

Bill 139, the *Fish and Wildlife Conservation Act* is introduced to the legislature for first reading. If passed, the new Act would:

raise the maximum penalty for offence to \$100,000;

raise the time limit on prosecution from six months to two years;

include wildlife possession prohibitions;

increase court powers to suspend licences;

add a new category of protected species;

prohibit the possession of black bear gall bladders separate from the animal itself;

Concerns are expressed that the legislation:

continues to advance the privatization of fish and wildlife resource management;

lacks necessary legal mechanisms to protect wildlife;

allows for a wide range of ministerial discretion on the application of the act;

defines "aquaculture" but does not define "conservation";

will limit the investigation of hunting, fishing and trapping activities;

is not strong enough to prevent the trafficking of animal parts.

Jun 17/97

The minister announces nomination of 40 persons as members of the three regional round tables as part of the Lands for Life process devised for the management of Crown lands in Ontario. These committees are to make recommendations on the use of Crown lands in their respective areas. Concerns over the process include:

land uses may be designated for large portions of Ontario on a perpetual basis (between 37 and 46 million hectares or about 47% of Crown lands in Ontario;

that the process includes no objectives for protected areas;

As this process is continuing, the MNR is also in discussions to allocate up to 60% of non-protected public lands to "intensive forestry" and to strengthen the tenure of forest companies on public lands.

Jul 8/97

The Minister of Natural Resources changes the designation of Boundary Waters-Voyageur Waterway as a Canadian Heritage River. The Boundary Waters-Voyageur Waterways is a series of lakes and rivers crossing two watersheds and stretching from the mouth of Pigeon River on Lake Superior to Lac la Croix in Quetico Provincial Park.

Jul 15/97

Four new members are to join the Northern Ontario Heritage Fund's board of directors. The new members are Patrick Chilton, John Hodder, Janis Ryder and Alan Spacek.

Jul 22/97

The minister re-appoints all of the 11 members of the Fish and Wildlife Advisory Board. The members are almost exclusively from fishing and hunting interests and represent no conservation interests. The board is asked to provide advice on potential revenue sources as well as continued expansion of fishing and hunting opportunities.

Jul 25/97

The ministry officially announces the new boundary of Wabakimi Provincial Park, north of Armstrong, making it the second largest park in Ontario. The park has been expanded from 155,000 hectares to 892,061 hectares. The review of the boundary started in 1992.

Jul 29/97

The Minister of Natural Resources sets up a Big Game Management Advisory Committee, comprised of qualified hunters, to improve hunting opportunities in Ontario. This committee will assist the government on big game species management and ensure that allocation of hunting opportunities is done on a fair and equitable basis.

- Sep 13/97 The Ministry of Natural Resources submits a plea of guilty with respect to the charges laid against it, under the *Environmental Assessment Act*, for the construction of an access road to Cross Lake.
- Sep 17/97 The minister announces an 11 member Board of Directors for Ontario Parks replacing the Provincial Parks Advisory Council. Frank Miller, a former Premier of Ontario, will chair the new Board of Directors.
- Oct 10/97 The Provincial Cabinet is reorganized. John Snobelen becomes the Minister of Natural Resources. Chris Hodgson vacates Natural Resources but retains Mines and Northern Development.
- Dec 10/97 The Ministry of Natural Resources issues a request for proposals from parties knowledgeable about real estate to assist in the development of a disposition strategy for lands controlled by the MNR. The subject lands are located throughout the province.
- Dec 18/97 Royal Assent of Bill 139. Ministry of Natural Resources replaces the *Game and Fish Act* with the *Fish and Wildlife Conservation Act*. For highlights of the new legislation see Jun 9/97.
- Jan 30/98 Minister of Natural Resources extends deadline for Lands for Life roundtable reports. Originally the recommendations were to be submitted to the minister by March 1998 but now are requested by June 30, 1998. The recommendations from these consultations could determine the fate of between 37 and 46 million hectares or about 47% of Crown lands in Ontario. Timber, tourism or parks are the three designated land use options.
- Mar 18/98 Minister of Natural Resources announces that admission fees and revenues collected at provincial parks will be used to directly fund park operations. This development flows from revisions to parks legislation (*Provincial Parks Act*) and organizational and operational over the past several years (formation of Ontario Parks).
- Apr 15/98 Spring Bear Hunt opens. Ministry of Natural Resources statistics indicate that an average of 274 bear cubs starve to death each year because their mothers are shot. Hunting female bears with cubs, or the cubs is prohibited. Over the past two years, only two hunters have been charged and only one convicted and fined \$750 of a possible \$25,000. The province derives \$1.5 million in licensing fees from the Spring Bear Hunt.
- Apr 27/98 The MNR announces more wild turkey hunting opportunities due to increased bag limit, season extensions and expanded hunting areas.
- Apr 28/98 Publication of report by Wildlands League and Sierra Legal Defence Fund indicating pattern of serious failure to enforce environmental regulations applicable to forestry industry in Algoma Highlands. Publication of report is accompanied by the filing of a request for investigation under the *Environmental Bill of Rights*.
- Apr 29/98 Environmental Commissioner for Ontario tables Third Annual Report: "Open Doors Ontario's Environmental Bill of Rights." The Commissioner states "I regret to report that in the past year there has been little substantive improvement in the actions taken by provincial ministries toward protecting the environment." Comments on specific issues include the following:

Forest Management

despite its budget and staff being cut in half, the Ministry of Natural Resources is faced with increasing pressures from rising demand for wood, the need to complete the provincial parks system, and conflicts between forestry, tourism and natural heritage values.

report is critical of the pace of the 'Lands for Life' process and lack of adequate public consultation in this program to determine the uses for 46% of the province's land area.

The Commissioner also expresses concern over some of the approaches to forest

management being adopted or considered by the Ministry of Natural Resources including: tenure in perpetuity for forestry companies; compensation if the land licences to companies is later re-allocated; industry self-monitoring of compliance with forestry regulations; and streamlining the sale of crown lands.

Apr 29/98 World Wildlife Fund releases its progress report on Canada's effort to conserve natural spaces (Endangered Spaces Campaign). The province of Ontario did not add to its protected spaces over the past year, though some private conservation efforts were made (1000 hectares). As a consequence, the province received a D+.

May 10/98 Ontario Court rejects application to amend its February 1998 decision regarding the failure of the Ministry of Natural Resources to comply with the requirements of the *Crown Forest Sustainability Act* and the Environmental Assessment Board's decision regarding the Class Environmental Assessment of Timber Management on Crown Lands. The Court grants the original applicants in the case, the Wildlands League and the Friends of Temagami, a costs award of \$127,000 in relation to the Ministry's application.

June 8/98 Conservation officers seize 540 kilograms of fish, two bears and two bear gall bladders as part of the province's conservation program to ensure that visitors to Ontario are obeying provincial fish and wildlife laws. Bear parts are usually sold on the black market for as much as \$10,000 a piece.

June 16/98 Draft regulations under the *Fish and Wildlife Conservation Act* published (Area Descriptions; Fish Licensing; Hunting; Possession, Buying and Selling of Wildlife; Trapping; Wildlife in Captivity; Wildlife Schedules; Open Seasons).

June 26/98 Regulation adopted to modify the staking of mining claims in environmentally sensitive areas under the *Mining Act*.

July 31/98 Minister of Natural Resources receives Lands for Life Recommendations (see Oct 30/98 for further details).

Sep 3/98 Ministry of Northern Development and Mines states intention to re-open the Lake Temagami and Skyline Reserve of the Temagami Land Use Plan in the fall of 1998. Staking activity to be subject to Staking in Designated (environmentally sensitive) Areas regulation adopted in June 1998.

Sep 9/98 Revised draft regulations under the *Fish and Wildlife Conservation Act* re-published (Area Descriptions; Fish Licensing; Hunting; Possession, Buying and Selling of Wildlife; Trapping; Wildlife in Captivity; Wildlife Schedules; Open Seasons). Most regulations are carried over from the *Fish and Game Act*. Regulation on Wildlife in Captivity is new.

Sep 15/98 Ministry of Natural Resources revealed to have lowered the minimum age for hunting with a firearm from 15 to 12, beginning September 15/98 under the "Hunter Apprenticeship Safety Program."

Oct 27/98 Parts of Temagami Area re-opened for the staking of mining claims.

Oct 27/98 Ontario Court of Appeal upholds February 1998 decision of the Ontario Divisional Court regarding MNR failure to comply with the requirements of the *Crown Forest Sustainability Act* and the Terms and Conditions of the Class Environmental Assessment of Timber Management on Crown Lands.

Oct 30/98 MNR releases the consolidated Lands for Life Recommendations. Lands for Life was established in the Spring of 1997 to determine the fate of 47% of the province's landbase, mostly in the central to north of the province. Three Round Tables conducted consultations over approximately a year. Criticisms were levied that the process was heavily weighted in favour of industrial forestry, mining and hunting interests. The recommendations included:

79% of the Crown land be open to forestry, mining and all other resource extraction industries;

completion of a park system that has "minimal impact on forestry or mining sectors"; 703,000 ha of new parks/protected areas (total area covered under the recommendations is 46 million hectares);

five new land use designations: stewardship areas, enhanced management areas, heritage waterways, Great Lakes heritage coastlines and general use areas; support for resource based tourism;

angling allowed everywhere:

hunting in most new provincial parks and everywhere else; snowmobile/all terrain vehicle use virtually everywhere.

Nov 3/98 Provincial Auditor tables 1998 Annual Report:

Ministry of Natural Resources

the Ministry has not developed proper effectiveness measures to assess the program's success in achieving the sustained development of the province's fish and widlife resources:

does not have adequate policies in place for the management of big game species (moose, dear and bear); and

information from the assessment of fish populations and other data were often not available to assist management in managing regeneration, stocking and harvesting.

Nov 11/98 Ministry of Natural Resources announced a "Strategic Lands Initiatives" to streamline, refocus and expand its Crown land disposition program. The Ministry states that it has disposed of 99 properties which accounted for 1,899 hectares of land with a value of just over \$8 million in 1997/98.

Dec 16/98 Bill 101 *Red Tape Reduction Act #2)* Introduced. Schedule M amends a number of natural resources acts including:

Fish and Wildlife Act

remove requirement that pelts of fur bearing animals be marked "sealed."
Bill 101 died on the order Paper when the Legislative session ended on December 18, 1998.

Jan 1/99 The province's new Fish and Wildlife Conservation Act takes effect. The Act includes:

changes to enforcement provisions;

provisions for protecting private property from nuisance animals;

the capacity to permit falconry; and

provisions for wildlife in captivity and wildlife rehabilitation.

Jan 1/99 MNR regulations under the *Fish and Wildlife Conservation Act* come into effect: Fish Licensing - Ont. Reg. 664/98; Hunting - Ont. Reg. 665/98; Possession, Buying and Selling of Wildlife - Ont. Reg. 666/98; Trapping - Ont. Reg. 667/98; Wildlife in Captivity - Ont. Reg. 668/98; Wildlife Schedules - Ont. Reg. 669/98; Open Seasons - Ont. Reg. 670/98.

Jan 15/99 Ontario Natural Resources Minister announces the cancellation of the Ontario Spring Bear Hunt. The hunt would have operated from April 15 to June 15. Hunt was cancelled to prevent the orphaning of cubs by the accidental shooting of female mother black bears.

Jan 21/99 Ontario government launches appeal of Ontario Court ruling that Ontario Metis have aboriginal hunting and fishing rights under the Canadian Constitution.

Feb 2/99 Ministry of Natural Resources proposes to deregulate and dispose of Peche Island Provincial Park. A proposal has been received from the City of Windsor to acquire the Peche Island properties.

Feb 27/99 Ministry of Natural Resources announces that hunter training and licencing in the province is to be turned over to the Ontario Federation of Anglers and Hunters. Under the

arrangement OFAH will be paid a fee of between #00,00 and \$350,000 over the next five vears.

Mar 4/99 Ministry of Natural Resources accounces compensation for outfitters over cancellation of Spring Bear Hunt of \$250 per hunter, based on Spring 1998 hunting season.

Mar 11/99 Ministry of Natural Resources decides not to pursue prosecution of wolf researcher John Theberge, for allegedly violating the conditions of his scientific collector's permit.

Ministry of Natural Resources proposes to introduce ring-necked pheasants into Ontario. Ring-necked pheasants are not indigenous to Ontario.

> The Ministry of Natural Resources posts, on the EBR, notice of its final call for public on "Ontario's Living Legacy - Proposed Land Use Strategy". The strategy will determine the fate of Crown lands and resources in the Boreal West, Boreal East and Great Lakes-St Lawrence planning areas (of the Lands for Life planning process). The Strategy would have the following features:

new protected areas are proposed to complete the provincial parks system within the planning area and protect 12.0% of the land and water base:

exceptions to permitted uses in provincial parks and conservation reserves within the planning area;

a strategy to address the land use needs of the resource-based tourism industry; a strategy for consulting with Aboriginal peoples concerning land use planning and resource management;

new land use categories with associated policies, and identification of the areas where these policies would apply; and,

how the "Strategy" would be implemented.

The "Strategy" proposes exceptions to the application of several existing policies, in particular the Ontario Provincial Parks Planning and Management Policies (1992) and the Conservation Reserves Policy and Procedure (1997). The principal proposed exceptions to the existing provincial policies on provincial parks and conservation reserves (which would only apply within the planning area), can be summarized as follows:

mineral exploration would be permitted in areas having very high mineral potential in new provincial parks and conservation reserves under controlled circumstances. If a site is to be developed for a mine, the area would be removed from the park or conservation reserve by deregulating it, and another area would be added to the park or conservation reserve to replace the deregulated area;

existing bait fishing, commercial fishing, commercial fur harvesting and wild rice harvesting would be permitted to continue indefinitely in existing provincial parks, except in wilderness and nature reserve parks and zones in parks, where these activities would be phased out by 2010. Where these activities occur in new parks, they would be permitted to continue indefinitely except in nature reserve parks and zones;

sport hunting would be permitted in all new provincial parks and park additions except in nature reserve parks and zones:

existing authorized seasonal recreation camps will be permitted to continue indefinitely in new provincial parks and will be eligible for enhanced tenure, but not purchase of land;

existing authorized tourism facilities and recreation trails will be permitted to continue in new provincial parks, subject to management prescriptions determined through management planning;

the establishment of new tourism facilities may be considered in planning for individual conservation reserves: and.

efforts will be made to identify potential locations for future road crossings for forestry purposes prior to regulation of new provincial parks or conservation reserves. (This primarily applies to proposed waterway provincial parks.)

The public is given a 30 day comment period to respond to this posting.

Wildlife & Protected Areas A.85

Mar /99

Mar 29/99

Mar 31/99 MNR posts notice of a proposal to make consistent its regulatory compliance strategies across its 29 administrative units.

Apr 16/99 The Ministry of Natural Resources posts notice of its intent to streamline and amalgamate regulations under the Fish and Wildlife conservation Act, 1997. Sixty regulations are to be converged into fifteen with substantive changes to approximately 20% according to the MNR. Substantive changes include the areas of:

> wildlife in captivity, such as falconry and the rehabilitation of wildlife; and providing direction on matters such as trapping through regulation rather than legislation.

The removal of statutory obligations from environmental protection legislation and/or replacement with regulations / guidelines has been a consistent pattern throughout the past four years.

Ministry of Natural Resources posts a decision (EBR # PB8E6006) to establish a new policy and procedure to govern the retrieval of sunken logs from Ontario's waterways. The policy update reflects the "growing interest in providing wood fibre to Ontario forest companies and in manufacturing specialty wood products form logs that have been submerged."

Apr 20/99 MNR announces expanded turkey hunt for southern and eastern Ontario.

Ministry of Natural Resources annouces 'decision' on March 29/99 'Lands for Life' proposals. July 16/99 Key elements include:

- mineral exploration will be permitted in areas have very high mineral potential in new provincial parks and conservation reserves under controlled circumstances. If a site is to be developed for a mine, the area would be removed from the park or conservatoin reserve by deregulating, and another area would be added to the park or conservation reserve to replace the deregulated area;
- existing bait fishing, commercial fishing, commercial fur harvesting and wild rice harvesting will be permitted to continue indefinitely in existing provincial parks, except in wilderness and nature reserve parks and zones in parks, where these activities would be phased out by 2010. Where these activities occur in new parks, they would be permitted to continue indefinitely except in nature reserve parks and
- sport hunting would be permitted in all new provicnial parks and park additions except in nature reserve parks and zones;
- existing authorized seasonal recreation camps will be permitted to continue indefinitely in new provincial parks and will be eligible for enhanced tenure, but not purchase of land;
- existing authorized tourism facilities and recreation trails will be permitted to continue in new provincial parks, subject to management prescriptsions determined through management planning;
- the establishment of new toursim facilities may be considered in planning for individual conservation reserves; and
- efforts will be made to identify potential locations for future road crossings for forestry purposes prior to regulation of new provincial parks or conservation reserves.

The government also states that "MNR will consider opportunities to provide additional hunting opportunities during park management planning for existing parks, including existing wilderness parks."

Wildlife & Protected Areas A.86

Apr 22/99

FISHERIES AND FISH HABITAT

Jun 25/96

MNR plan to manage commercial fish resources means that Aboriginal communities will need a license to fish. The Ministry of Natural Resources will issue licenses to two Aboriginal communities in the waters around the Bruce Peninsula. The licensing requirement comes after a 1993 court case which accepted the Crown's right to regulate fishing for the purpose of conservation and resource management.

Mar 8/97

Ministry of Environment and Energy announces that Ontario's fish appear to be getting safer to eat in terms of their contaminant levels. Some fish from some lakes have shown a consistent decline in contaminant accumulation. Testing patterns are somewhat inconsistent however.

Apr 10/97

Minister of Natural Resources Chris Hodgson writes to senior fishery officials in Ohio criticizing that state's management of yellow perch in Lake Erie. Ontario contends that Ohio has exceeded its share of total allowable catch of the fish for a third year in a row. The MNR has asked that Ohio report by September. If Ohio does not implement tighter measures, then MNR will look into additional responses.

May 8/97

Funding is increased for the Community Fisheries Involvement Program (CFIP) and the Community Wildlife Involvement Program (CWIP) according to the MNR. The funding arises from fish and wildlife license fees, royalties and fines which are now diverted to an account separate from general revenue under an amendment contained in Bill 26 the *Government Savings and Restructuring Act*. These programs (CFIP & CWIP) support the work of volunteer organizations which assess, evaluate, monitor and restore wildlife habitats, particularly those capable of supporting populations of game animals and sport fish.

Jun 5/97

The Minister of Natural Resources announces withdrawal of fee for fish stocking licence in Ontario.

Jun 9/97

Bill 139, the *Fish and Wildlife Conservation Act* is introduced to the legislature for first reading. If passed, the new Act would:

raise the maximum penalty for offence to \$100,000;

raise the time limit on prosecution from six months to two years;

include wildlife possession prohibitions;

increase court powers to suspend licences;

add a new category of protected species;

Concerns are expressed that the legislation:

continues to advance the privatization of fish and wildlife resource management;

lacks necessary legal mechanisms to protect fish habitat;

allows for a wide range of ministerial discretion on the application of the act;

defines "aquaculture" but does not define "conservation";

will limit the investigation of hunting, fishing and trapping activities;

is not strong enough to prevent the trafficking of animal parts.

Jun 21/97

It is reported that levels of radioactivity in fish near Ontario Hydro's Bruce Nuclear Generating Station on Lake Huron are significantly higher than levels in fish in Lake Ontario. The difference is approximately 9 times and rising.

Jul 22/97

The minister re-appoints all of the 11 members of the Fish and Wildlife Advisory Board. The members are almost exclusively from fishing and hunting interests and represent no conservation interests. The board is asked to provide advice on potential revenue sources as well as continued expansion of fishing and hunting opportunities.

Aug 18/97

Ministry of Natural Resources states its intention to withdraw from the enforcement of the *Fisheries Act* due to a dispute with the federal government over the delegation of the

Fisheries & Habitat A.87

authority to authorize the alternation or destruction of fish habitat to the province.

Aug 26/97 Ministry of Natural Resources position on salmon stocking in the Great Lakes is challenged by University of Guelph zoologist. It is charged that the continued stocking of salmon in Great Lakes poses a serious risk to the Lakes' natural stocks of fish and creates artificial "fish ponds." The stocked species are creating competition for habitat and food with native

species which could lead to native species demise.

Sept 18/97 The Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources terminates the federal-provincial joint agreement for fisheries habitat management and protection in Ontario. In effect this means that the OMNR will no longer be applying or enforcing Section 35(2) of the federal Fisheries Act when reviewing plans and proposals that are likely to harm fish habitat. Specifically, projects of land developers and extractive industries (mining, forestry and aggregates) are now unlikely to

undergo a review of their impact on fish habitat.

Nov 28/97 The Ministry of Transportation approves the use of the "Fisheries Manual Part 2" to address fisheries concerns on provincial highway undertakings by providing guidelines on selecting

Dec 18/97 Royal Assent of Bill 139. Ministry of Natural Resources replaces the Game and Fish Act with the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Act. For highlights of the new legislation see Jun 9/97.

Dec 29/97 The 1998 Recreational Fishing Regulations Summary will be made available in January. As of April 1, 1998 an export permit will be required for exporting lake sturgeon from Ontario under the application of the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species.

Jan 12/98 Minister of Natural Resources signs agreement with the Ontario Commercial Fisheries Association (OCFA) that will see the industry adopt a larger role in the management of the province's commercial fisheries. This agreement follows the pattern of other industry selfregulation agreements. Under it the OCFA will:

compile data from commercial fish harvest reports;

administer royalties; monitor compliance;

cooperate with MNR projects.

Mar 3/98 Aquatic experts of the Lake Erie Committee of the Great Lakes Fishery Commission denounce a proposal by the Ontario Federation of Anglers and Hunters to allow greater phosphorous levels in Lake Erie in order to boost primary production and ultimately fish stocks. Lake dynamics are considered by many experts to be much complex, including the need to look at the effect of nutrient cycling, fish harvesting and the introduction of nonindigenous organisms such as the zebra mussel.

Apr 1/98 Ontario Minister of Natural Resources responds to the federal government announcement that it will spend \$6 million on a lamprey control program in the Great Lakes in fiscal year 1998-99. The minister believes longer term funding is required. The federal government's action are spurred by its treaty commitments with the United States. A chemical lampricide which attacks young lamprey is the key component of the program.

Apr 15/98 The Red Hill Creek Expressway project, a highway development near Hamilton which has been approved by the provincial government, is the object of a request for a review by the federal department of fisheries and oceans. The project would have an impact on Red Hill Creek and its fish habitat (see Transportation Section) but the federal minister indicates that the project is at too preliminary a stage to undertake a review.

May 25/98 House of Commons Standing Committee on Environment and Sustainable Development tables report on the enforcement of federal environmental law entitled Putting the Public Interest First. Among other things, the report is highly critical of the Ontario Ministry of Natural

and designing appropriate fisheries avoidance, mitigation and compensation measures.

Fisheries & Habitat

Resource's September 1997 withdrawal from the enforcement of the habitat protection provisions of the federal *Fisheries Act*, describing this action as leaving a "huge hole" in the protection of fish habitat in Ontario.

July 8/98

The reappearance of a deep-water sculpin fish in Lake Ontario, leads scientists to believe that the quality of the lake has been improving. This species of fish has not been seen in the lake in approximately 50 years.

Nov 26/98

Fisheries Management Plan announced for the Grand River. The Plan will attempt to improve the Grand River as a fish habitat and is supported by the MNR, the Grand River Conservation Authority and a collection of angling groups.

Dec 16/98

Bill 101 Red Tape Reduction Act #2) Introduced. Schedule M amends a number of natural resources acts including:

Fish Inspection Act

permit arrest of persons involved in illegal sale of contaminated fish products. increase maximum penalties, and extend period of time over which prosecutions can be undertaken.

Jan 21/99

Ontario government launches appeal of Ontario Court ruling that Ontario Metis have aboriginal hunting and fishing rights under the Canadian Constitution.

Feb 5/99

Ministry of Natural Resources proposes "New business relationship" with the baitfish industry. The administration of bait licensing (i.e. issuing, data collection, and harvest reporting) to the Bait Association of Ontario (BAO). Increased bait license fees are to go into a Special Purpose Account to finance the administration of the BAO. Specific duties to be assigned to BAO include:

licence administration, including feed collection and submission to the Crown. commercial bait data management for compilation of provincial harvest records and summary statistics:

expansion of industry's participation in fish stock monitoring and assessment; and expansion of the industry's role in compliance monitoring and policy development.

Fisheries & Habitat A.89

MINING

Sep 26/95	Proposal posted EBR Registry to "clarify" requirements of MISA Metal Mining Sector Monitoring and Effluent Regulation for post-closure monitoring of mine discharges. Amendments eliminate requirements for post-closure monitoring and exempt mine tailings from MISA requirements.
Oct 6/95	Budgetary reductions to the Ministry of Northern Development and Mines: mine-site rehabilitation program redesign \$1.3 M in 1996-97.
Oct 24/95	Ministry of Northern Development and Mines announces the replacement of the current mine closure review process with a self-regulating system.
Dec 13/95	Minister of Environment and Energy announces regulation exempting prospectors from environmental liability under the <i>Environmental Protection Act</i> .
Jan 29/96	Bill 26, the <i>Government Savings and Restructuring Act</i> enacted by the Ontario legislature. The Bill amends the <i>Mining Act</i> to reduce obligations for reporting, financial assurance, mine closure, decommissioning and rehabilitation. The Bill also amends work permit provisions of <i>Public Lands Act</i> and reduces capacity of courts to order restoration;
May 7/96	In its first budget, the Ontario government announces a freeze on all mining taxes and <i>Mining Act</i> related fees and licenses. The government also announced its intention to amend the <i>Corporations Tax Act</i> to incorporate the expansion of the accelerated depreciation allowance for new and expanded mines provided in the February 1996 federal budget.
Jun 28/96	Ontario government releases its land-use strategy for Temagami. The strategy permits lifts a 24 year-old mining ban in the area.
Sep 17/96	Prospecting activity in the Temagami region is intense as land cautions are lifted. The claims staking covers an area of over 617,000 hectares and attracted about 600 prospectors.
Nov 5/96	Ministry of Natural Resources adopts regulations to implement Bill 26 amendments to the <i>Public Lands Act, Lakes and Rivers Improvements Act</i> , and <i>Forest Fires Prevention Act</i> . The regulations exempt most activities related to mineral exploration from permit requirements.
Feb 3/97	The Red Tape Reduction Act (Ministry of Natural Resources), 1997 goes to 1st Reading. The Act will make the following amendments to the Public Lands Act: a land use planning process will be set up that allows for participation by stakeholders and controls activities that may be inconsistent with approved land use plans; the need for order in council approvals will be removed and authority will be delegated to the Minister; the Minister may order the transfer of administration and control of public lands to other government bodies; and administrative fees will be set by the Minister, rather than established by regulation.
	Conservation Authorities Act: authorities will be allowed to enter into agreements to permit exploration and extraction of oil and gas reserves on land adjacent to authority land; authorities would be permitted to lease land for terms of up to five years without approval;

Mining A.90

The Act will make the following amendments to the *Mining Act*:

\$10,000, and from \$100 to \$1,000;

maximum fines for violations of the regulations will be increased from \$1,000 to

references to boring permits will be removed (these are covered under the

Petroleum Resources Act); and

the areas in which the issuing of oil and gas exploration licenses and production leases are restricted to will be redefined.

Provincial Parks Act.

mining and prospecting activities which are prohibited in provincial parks will be clarified.

maximum fines will be increased to \$25,000;

Jul 6/97

Ontario Environment Minister Norm Sterling announces that the MoEE will spend \$18 million to clean up the hazardous materials, including low level radioactive wastes, left behind at the Deloro Mine north of Belleville. Mine wastes have been leaching into the Moira River that flows south into the Bay of Quinte at Lake Ontario.

Aug 26/97

MoE approves a mine water treatment system for River Gold Mines Ltd. located in Jacobson Township. The treatment system will treat a maximum flow of 12.6 L/sec of excess mine water containing suspended solids, ammonia, and some heavy metals.

Sep 15/97

MoE approves the drainage water the underground working to be discharged in the existing water settling pond in the Township of Beatty. The water treatment will be the sedimentation of suspended solids. The volume of water that will be pumped per day is estimated at 82,000 litres/day meaning a retention time of 12 days. If the water does not meet the standard, McWatters Mines Inc. will take measures such as building another pond.

Nov 5/97

Madsen Gold Corp. applied for a permit allowing it to augment water taken from Beaverdam Lake for industrial purposes in Madsen with water from Russett Lake at a rate of 360,000 Imperial gallons per day (1,634,400 lpd) for 244 days seasonally for five years. The Ministry of the Environment and Energy approves this with the following conditions:

Should the quantity of water change, an amendment is required.

Copy of permit must be posted.

Company must ensure all staff are knowledgeable about the permit.

No more than 10% of the natural flow of Russett Lake at outlet.

Water for augmentation of water levels in Beaver Dam Lake.

Nov 20/97

The Ontario Ministry of Environment has asked an environmental group for financial assistance to help stop hazardous chemical leaking from an abandoned mine at Deloro mine site in Eastern Ontario.

Nov 27/97

The Ministry of Environment and Energy has received a proposal from Agrium Products Inc. for the establishment of an open-pit mine in Cochrane Ontario. Approval is sought for dewatering activity which will occur in two stages:

open pit dewatering for bulk sampling of ore body at 4,900,000 L/day for 60 days; mining ore body, dewatering working area of the pit at 5,800,000 L/day for 13 years.

Dec 18/97

Bill 120, the *Red Tape Reduction Act (Ministry of Northern Development and Mines), 1997* receives royal assent. Bill 120 permits the delegation of approval of mine closure plans to any person designated by regulation. These amendments appear to be linked to the Bill 26 amendments to the *Mining Act*. The provision may also be intended to permit the establishment of a self-regulation system for mine closure similar to that set up for pressure vessels, underground storage tanks, elevators and other devices through the Technical Standards and Safety Authority.

Apr 15/98

The Ontario Ministry of the Environment appeared in court to begin to explain why the cleanup of the former Deloro gold mine site has not proceeded. Last year, \$10 million was supposed to have been committed by the province to the cleanup. The charges were laid by the Environmental Bureau of Investigation and the Sierra Legal Defence Fund. The hearing will resume on May 26, 1998.

June 26/98

Regulation adopted to modify the staking of mining claims in environmentally sensitive areas

Mining

under the Mining Act.

Sep 1/98 Classification Regulation for Class I Instruments under the *Mining Act* adopted under the *Environmental Bill of Rights*.

Sep 3/98 Ministry of Northern Development and Mines states intention to re-open the Lake Temagami and Skyline Reserve of the Temagami Land Use Plan in the fall of 1998. Staking activity to be subject to Staking in Designated (environmentally sensitive) Areas regulation adopted in June 1998.

Sep 8/98 Data obtained by Canadian Institute for Environmental Law and Policy through Freedom of Information request shows that 25% of Ontario metal mines failed (between August and December 1997) requirement of MISA regulations that their discharges not be acutely toxic (i.e. lethal) to fish.

Oct 27/98 Parts of Temagami Area re-opened for the staking of mining claims.

Mar 29/99 Government responds to 'Land for Life' recommendations. Announces protection of 12% of planning area. All existing mining land tenure within new protected areas to be secured; mineral prospecting to be allowed in new protected areas; protected areas to be "borrowed" if significant deposits found; mining industry veto over creation of new parks or protected areas; subsidy program for prospecting program to be increased from \$2 million to \$4 million/yr; \$19 million to be spent on geological surveys to identify new mineral deposits.

July 16/99 Ministry of Natural Resources annouces 'decision' on March 29/99 'Lands for Life' proposals. Key elements include:

 mineral exploration will be permitted in areas have very high mineral potential in new provincial parks and conservation reserves under controlled circumstances. If a site is to be developed for a mine, the area would be removed from the park or conservation reserve by deregulating, and another area would be added to the park or conservation reserve to replace the deregulated area.

Mining A.92

MINERAL AGGREGATES. PETROLEUM RESOURCES AND BRINE INDUSTRIES

May 14/96

Changes are introduced by the Ministry of Natural Resources for the regulation of the aggregates, petroleum and brine (salt solution mining) industries. These changes are to be implemented through Bill 52, *Aggregate and Petroleum Resources Statute Law Amendment Act* and would amend the *Aggregate Resources Act*, *Petroleum Resources Act*, *Mining Act*, and the *Ontario Energy Board Act*. Responsibility for site inspections and monitoring are to be "transferred" from the MNR to these industries. The government is also proposing to shift from "complex", to more streamlined, legislation and regulations, backed by technical standards. Details include:

self-monitoring by the mineral aggregates industry;

responsibility for day-to-day site inspections and monitoring for compliance with the terms of site plans and licenses under the *Aggregate Resources Act* is to be "transferred" from the MNR to the aggregates industry;

the proposal to transfer responsibility for the administration and delivery of the rehabilitation program associated with the Abandoned Pits and Quarries Rehabilitation Fund to the industry.

increased fines, extended license suspension periods, and longer time periods for the initiation of prosecutions under the Act;

increased fines under the Petroleum Resources Act.

requirements for life-cycle well licenses will be established to replace the current system of well permits, which only address the regulatory functions associated with drilling.

Aug 13/96

Ministry of Environment and Energy posts a proposed exemption on the Environmental Bill of Rights Registry that would eliminate the need for pits and quarries on the Niagara Escarpment, that were in existence before June 1975, to obtain development permits for expansion.

Oct 17/96

Regulation finalized that would eliminate the need for pits and quarries on the Niagara Escarpment, that were in existence before June 1975, to obtain development permits for expansion, except where the taking or discharge of water is involved.

Oct 23/96

The Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing approves Peel Region's first official plan. Under the plan, the region has agreed to incorporate provincial policies on several issues, including:

the extraction of mineral aggregate resources for long-term use;

support for the region's desire to protect the environment.

support for the Caledon Community Resources Study which assesses future mineral aggregates in the region. This may result in the refinement of mineral aggregate policies; and

there will be no moratorium on new aggregate operations in "high potential" areas. In effect this removes a freeze on aggregate extraction covering 8,000 hectares in the Caledon Region. More than eighty appeals related to this decision are filed with the Ontario Municipal Board.

Oct 96

Municipal Affairs and Housing Minister Al Leach removes a freeze on aggregate extraction covering 8,000 hectares in the Caledon Region. Seventy appeals of the decision are filed with the Ontario Municipal Board.

Dec 19/96

Bill 52 Aggregate and Petroleum Resources Statute Law Amendment Act receives royal assent.

Mar 10/97

The Ministry of Natural Resources posts several policy and standard proposals on the EBR Registry:

Proposed Provincial Standards and associated regulations for Bill 52 under the Oil,

Gas and Salt Resources Act which would govern drilling, facility, production, storage and reporting standards:

Proposed Provincial Standards and associated regulations for Bill 52 under the *Aggregate Resources Act* which would govern site and operation standards and compliance reporting requirements;

Jun 27/97 Aggregates and Petroleum Standards under Bill 52 come into effect.

Oct 9/97 Unimin Canada Ltd. submits proposal to the Ministry of Environment requesting a permit to take water from Midland Bay. Water will be used to suppress dust on active rock stockpiles and will be removed from the bay at a daily maximum rate of 720,000 L.

June 30/98 The Sierra Legal Defence Fund will be appealing the acquittal of United Aggregates Ltd., a limestone quarry operator who, allegedly on the advice of the Ontario's previous Environment Minister Brenda Elliot, violated a court order that baring the expansion of its quarry on the Niagara Escarpment.

Dec 16/98 Bill 101 *Red Tape Reduction Act #2)* Introduced. Schedule M amends a number of natural resources acts including:

Aggregate Resources Act

permit site plans and licenses to take precedence over municipal rules and by-laws; permit regulations under the Act to adopt technical standards by reference.

Oil, Gas and Salt Resources Act

minor amendments:

permit adoption of technical standards by reference.

Bill 101 died on the order Paper when the Legislative session ended on December 18, 1998.

Dec 18/98 Bill 25, Red Tape Reduction Act, 1998. Receives Royal Assent.

Schedule I of the Bill amends a number of MNR statues including:

Conservation Authorities Act

Removes requirement for Conservation Authority permission for changing, diverting or interfering with watercourses, wetlands, Great-Lakes St. Lawrence shorelines, inland lakes; river and stream valleys, hazardous lands, for activities approved under the *Aggregate Resources Act*; and

removal of the requirement for provincial approval of Conservation Authority Regulations.

TRANSPORTATION

Jun 95 Toronto subway expansion temporarily halted. The Province retracts funding for Eglinton Avenue Line but maintains support to the Sheppard Line. Metro Toronto uncertain about its ability to finance even this line in the face of other fiscal restraints. Jul 5/95 Photo radar system of highway speed control abolished. Jul 21/95 Government-wide ministry spending reductions released by the Minister of Finance. Cuts are to capital and operating budgets for the 1995-96 fiscal year: municipal road budget cut by \$74 M; GTA rapid transit budget cut \$42 M; provincial highway and other MTO initiatives \$69 M; reduce GO Transit grant \$15 M. Aug 29/95 Transport Minister announces that the MTO will defer the development of new GO Transit commuter rail services. Oct 6/95 Reductions to the Ministry of Transportation for the 1995-96 and 1996-97 fiscal years: municipal transit operating subsidies \$16 M; GO Transit operating subsidy \$3.8 M; service, staff, board and program reduction \$19.6 M. Oct 24/95 Ontario Minister of Environment and Energy endorses national clean air standards proposed by the Task Force on Cleaner Vehicles and Fuels. Proposal includes the promotion of: fuel efficient and alternate fuel vehicles; inspection and maintenance programs; low emission vehicles by 2001; and new fuel standards. Nov 30/95 Five year, \$100 million funding announced for the Red Hill Creek Expressway in Hamilton-Wentworth. Dec 8/95 Funding announced for the completion of Highway 416 between Ottawa and Highway 401. May 7/96 The Conservative government announces in its first budget, that it will restore some of the previously eliminated funding for highways and roads, and the Northern highway program. May 96 Ministry of Transportation announces an increase in minimum and maximum fines for transport trucks which are operating at increased loads or in poor maintenance as well as increased inspection and enforcement activities. This initiative may help reduce the likelihood of spills of hazardous materials and environmental contaminants. May 14/96 The provincial government announces that its focus for highway funding will be on repairing and preserving the existing highway network. The government is increasing highway funding by \$140 million over last year. In fiscal year 1996/97, \$490 million will be spent on highways in southern Ontario, and \$138 on Northern highways. The province will also provide an extra \$60 million to repair highways that are being transferred to municipal control and roads that link to provincial highways. Oct 1/96 Ministry of Environment and Energy announces that a pilot study testing vehicle emissions

Nov 4/96

Transportation

that the province:

for air pollutants will conclude at the end of October. The study, which began in April 1995, gave drivers free inspections at the CleanAir Centre in Mississauga. Data from the study will be reviewed but the ministry has not committed itself to setting up a permanent program.

The Who Does What Panel recommends to the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing

continue to transfer to municipalities ownership of provincial highways that serve

A.95

primarily local needs, provided municipalities are granted a revenue source to help with highway upkeep; and

discontinue transit financial support but play a role in setting safety standards, coordinating broader transportation planning and helping with inter-municipal coordination and integration.

Over the longterm removal of highway development subsidies or the implementation of toll systems could have a positive environmental impact. However, these changes must be viewed in the context that provincial support to transit systems is also being greatly reduced and that is likely to lead to greater dependence on the personal vehicle.

Jan 15/97

Ministry of Transportation announces that the province is eliminating \$718 million in transportation spending and passing responsibility for local transportation onto municipalities. Municipalities will soon be required to fully fund:

municipal transit (i.e., the TTC);

GO Transit;

municipal airports; and

those highways and ferries that primarily serve local needs.

As a result of the withdrawal of provincial spending, the TTC will need to make up \$95.8 million/year and GO Transit \$110 million/year. It is likely that this will cause increased fares and/or reduced service which could reduce ridership, cause more personal vehicle use and therefore lead to higher air emissions from the transportation sector.

Mar 11/97

The Minister of Environment and Energy approves the plans for Hamilton-Wentworth's Red Hill Creek Expressway. The project has provoked controversy because of its likely impact on the Red Hill Valley which includes extensive wetland and other environmentally significant areas.

May 14/97

Minister of Transportation reiterates that the province will spend \$628 on highway maintenance this year as originally announced in the budget of May 6, 1997. The total amounts to \$140 million more than the previous year.

May 14/97

The Ministry of Transportation accepts a policy that has been designed to mitigate some aesthetic problems associated with run-off that have occurred in Southwestern and Central Ontario. The MTO will identify a location for a demonstration project where Air Cooled Iron Blast Furnace Slag (ACBFS) is to be used as road building material to study its environmental effects and ability to moderate the run-off problem.

Jun 4/97

MoEE posts on EBR registry decision to issue an exemption order to the Regional Municipality of Hamilton-Wentworth from the requirements of the *Environmental Assessment Act* for the construction of the Red Hill Creek Expressway (North-South section).

Jun 6/97

Statistics Canada reports that, Canada-wide, transit use has slipped to its lowest level since 1970 and has been declining since 1988.

Jun 12/97

Ministry of Transportation posts decision on EBR registry stating that it will no longer test, prior to approval, materials used to minimize dust during road construction and on unpaved rural roads. Instead, the Ministry will depend on the list of dust suppressants issued by the Ministry of Environment and Energy. However, the MoEE's list comes with the disclaimer: "The MoEE does not endorse any of the following products nor does it guarantee that the products are environmentally benign."

Jun 18/97

The report "Getting Together" which outlines a blueprint for the Greater Toronto Services Board suggests that one of the main reasons for the GTSB should be to integrate the 17 separate transit systems with the GTA. It recommends that the Board should be able to:

integrate all GTA transit systems into a seamless web; coordinate decision-making authority among transits; approve transit proposal including subway developments; set financing but allow municipalities to appeal to the OMB;

prescribe solutions when municipalities disagree; assume sole responsibility for GO Transit.

Aug 22/97

The Minister of Environment and Energy announces a vehicle emissions testing program called "Drive Clean" (see also retraction on Apr 17/98). Under the program, heavy duty trucks and buses would be the first to have their emissions tested. The next phase would see cars and light trucks in the Greater Toronto Area and in Hamilton have their emissions tested. Within a period of five years, the program would extend to various centres from Windsor to Peterborough. Under the program:

vehicles would be tested every time they change ownership or at every other years' licensing renewal for cars and light trucks that are 4-19 years old;

if the vehicle's exhaust does not conform to the model year standards, the vehicle could be subject to repairs up to \$200.

The program is aimed at reducing volatile organic compounds, nitrogen oxides and particulates.

Sep 10/97

Provincially appointed transition team overseeing Toronto amalgamation orders a 15% reduction (\$31 million) in the budget of the Toronto Transit Commission (TTC). To do so, the Commission would have to:

raise fares 5 to 10 percent;

eliminate more bus routes;

eliminate special fares for seniors and students;

tighten eligibility for Wheel-Trans (disabled) service;

The TTC has, over the past several years, eliminated 1,250 positions, eliminated service and raised fares.

Nov 19/97

The National Round Table on Environment and Economy releases "The Road to Sustainable Transportation in Canada." The report indicates that the transportation system could have a major negative impact on the environment if subsidies are not removed and pricing is not reflective of true cost. It recommends: public awareness about the risks of the status quo; a national strategy for sustainability; targets for emission reduction; and vehicle inspection and maintenance programs.

Nov 28/97

The Ministry of Transportation approved the use of the "Fisheries Manual Part 2" to address fisheries concerns on provincial highway undertakings by providing guidelines on selecting and designing appropriate fisheries avoidance, mitigation and compensation measures.

Jan 20/98

Ministry of Environment launches Ontario's Smog Plan. The goal of the plan is to reduce smog causing emissions by 45% by 2015. The plan attempts to rely upon:

a vehicle inspection and maintenance program called "Drive Clean" (which was announced but never implemented);

public involvement in smog reduction efforts;

efforts in the U.S. to reduce transboundary pollution;

developing strategies for particulate emission reduction;

Environmental and public health organizations criticize the plan as being grossly inadequate with reference to its slow time line, reliance on voluntary action by industry, lack of source/sector targets, and lack of monitoring and reporting mechanisms.

Jan 28/98

The Toronto Transit Commission announces that ridership is up. A total of 379 million trips were made in 1997 (9.9 million more trips than expected). The increase is being managed mostly through attempting to extend the life of existing buses, subway and street cars rather than procuring new ones. The increase is largely credited to an increase in economic activity not improvements in service or integration. Such measures will be required to ensure that transit use does not erode.

Jan 30/98

According to the federal transport minister, Canadian roads already support 18 million vehicles currently but private vehicle traffic is expected to grow between 50 and 100 percent over the next 25 years unless something is done about it . The minister made a call to limit

the growth rate since the existing road network can not support the growth and even if the nation could afford to expand the infrastructure (which it can not) the environment could not support it.

Feb 18/98

Seven more kilometres are added to Highway 407 (a six lane toll road north of Toronto) on its easternmost flank. The highway now ends in Markham but is intended to continue, with 10 lanes, into Durham Region. Markham Council has voted to restrict traffic exiting the highway for fear of its impact on the city. The long term plan will see this highway stretch 154 kilometres from the Queen Elizabeth Way in Burlington to the Highway 115/35 near Bowmanville.

Mar 3/98

It is revealed that gasoline sulphur levels are higher in Ontario than anywhere else in North America and even other parts of the world. As a consequence, automakers say they will not agree to the provincial plan for smog reduction until gasoline refining improves. Average sulphur levels for various jurisdictions were:

Canada	(1995) 343 ppm	
Ontario	(1996) 533 ppm	i
Atlantic	(1995) 276 ppm	i
Quebec	(1995) 364 ppm	
Prairies	(1995) 228 ppm	i
B.C.	(1995) 273 ppm	ı

The US average is 260 ppm while the average in California is 30 ppm. The MoE estimates that 1800 premature deaths are caused by air pollution each year. Sulphur dioxide is a significant lung irritant.

Mar 5/98

Minister responsible for Privatization, Rob Sampson, suggests that Ontario residents may be eligible to purchase shares in Highway 407. This, despite the fact that Ontario residents largely financed its construction and in effect already own it. Unresolved issues surrounding its privatization include:

how a private consortium could afford to take over the current 69 kilometre section with its \$1.5 billion debt and afford to finance the 24 kilometre western extension; whether any private consortium could undertake such a project without public debt guarantees or public subsidy;

how much any private body could own the road given that the province will always retain ownership of its right-of-way;

The original financing of the road has already been criticized by the provincial auditor as placing the risk with taxpayers and the benefits with the private sector. In order to sell the road to any private consortium it is expected that the government would have to guarantee traffic volume, restrict development near other roads or lower the speed limits of nearby roads to limit competition.

Mar 9/98

Minister of Transportation announces that \$70 million will be made available to municipalities to set up capital reserves for transit responsibilities. The province has terminated all grants to municipal transit systems.

Mar 13/98

Minister of Transportation announces that the province will consider providing GO Transit with half of the \$200 million promised for restructuring pending the passage of the Greater Toronto Services Board legislation. The province has terminated all grants to municipal transit systems. GO Transit is being transferred to the municipalities of the GTA and Hamilton-Wentworth. The funding establishes a capital reserve in each of the municipalities.

Apr 15/98

The Red Hill Creek Expressway project, a highway development near Hamilton which has been approved by the provincial government, is the object of a request for a review by the federal department of fisheries and oceans. The project would impact fish habitat but the federal minister indicates that the project is at too preliminary a stage to undertake a review.

Apr 17/98

Premier indicates that a possible delay of up to one year to initiate "Drive Clean" the province's vehicle emission testing program is unacceptable. The MoE had indicated that it

would be operating by Spring 1999.

heavy trucks and buses were to be tested this summer across southern Ontario followed by cars and light trucks in Hamilton and the Greater Toronto Area in autumn:

by the year 2000 vehicles in 13 cities were to be subject to mandatory testing; The delay draws criticism from suppliers of testing equipment who expected the program to be underway much sooner.

- Apr 29/98 The International Joint Commission calls upon the Canadian and U.S. governments to make a major reduction in the sulphur content of gasoline. Ontario gasoline has the highest sulphur content in the western world.
- May 12/98 Ontario Medical Association calls for lowering the sulphur content in Ontario gasoline (See also Air Quality section).
- May 21/98 Domtar Limited's dust suppressing product Dombind is causing elevated dioxin levels in the environments near the roads on which it is sprayed according to a Ministry of the Environment investigation. Levels varied widely with one test above the acceptable provincial limit for dioxin. 100 million litres per year of the product, which is a pulp and paper waste liquor, are sprayed on Ontario gravel-top roads.
- May 25/98 In June, Toronto planners will release a report that insists that city taxpayers pay \$23 million to cover the transit costs of those living in outlying regions. Toronto pays for nearly half of GO transit costs, yet 85% of users live outside of the city. Regional officials and transportation experts have urged Toronto mayor Mel Lastman to consider the importance of public transit to the economy of Toronto before proposing changes to funding distribution.
- May 25/98 Residents of Markham Ontario living near the eastern terminus of highway 407 at McCowan Rd. voice concerns about increased traffic and noise pollution caused by the toll road. Large trucks, forced to exit at McCowan, have been using local roads to connect to other major routes. The highway has been constructed farther east to Markham Rd. but the interchange remains closed to protect historic Markham Village.
- Jun 24/98 Due to population increases in areas north of Toronto and traffic congestion in York region, the Ministry of Transportation has developed a plan to extend highway 404, and widen roads linking it to highway 400. Environmental assessment approval has been granted on all aspects of the project which is expected to be completed by spring 2000.
- Aug 29/98 Transportation Minister, Tony Clements, discusses the need for a national highways policy (similar to the United States policy) and for the expansion and improvements of highway infrastructure in Canada. His main concern is that if provincial and federal governments do not begin to act on this matter, the country will suffer economically and trade between Canada and the U.S. will be hindered.
- Dec 18/98 Greater Toronto Services Board Act, 1998 receive Royal Assent. The Act goes into being on January 1, 1999 and creates a board review integration issues, most notably transportation, for municipalities in the Greater Toronto Area.
- Apr 1/99 The first day of implementation of Ontario's Drive vehicle inspection and maintenance program.
- Apr 22/99 Ministry of Environment posting (EBR # RA9E0003) indicates its intent to adjust the emission standards under its Drive Clean program in a manner that would harmonize them with those of the US EPA. The standard revision will be made by amendment 86/99 to Ontario Regulation 361/98 under the Environmental Protection Act.

UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANKS. BOILERS AND PRESSURE VESSELS

May 16/96

Minister of Consumer and Commercial Relations Norm Sterling introduces Bill 54 *The Safety and Consumer Statutes Administration Act*. The legislation proposes to:

allow non-profit industry self-management authorities to assume responsibility for registration and accreditation of members, investigation of consumer and business complaints, suspension of registrations and prosecutions of violations;

create a technical standards and safety authority to make regulatory recommendations for the affected industries;

allow for the above in the areas of gasoline and other hydrocarbon handling, motor vehicle dealers, real estate agencies and brokers, travel agencies, and cemetery operators.

The division of responsibilities is to be such that the authorities will deliver safety programs but oversight of these bodies and legislative responsibility for public safety rests with the MCCR.

Jul 24/96

The Safety and Consumer Statutes Administration Act (Bill 54) is proclaimed. In so doing the Act will create the Technical Standards and Safety Authority (TSSA). This non-profit, non-government organization will deliver safety programs and services in four main areas: boilers and pressure vessels, elevators, hydrocarbon fuels and equipment, and upholstered items. The TSSA may make recommendations to the Ontario government on changes to the Energy Act, Gasoline Handling Act, the Operating Engineers Act and others or their regulations. The body is to be funded by member and license fees. Its board composition will include representatives from industry, government and non-industry stakeholders.

Feb 6/97

Minister of Consumer and Commercial Relations David Tsubouchi appoints board members to the Technical Standards and Safety Authority. These are:

Sue Corke: currently a Director of Standards at Ministry of Consumer and Commercial Relations;

Joyce Feinberg: experience with Ministry of Environment and Energy and the Ministry of Consumer and Commercial Relations;

Rosalie Daly Todd: Counsel for the Consumers' Association of Canada;

These appointments continue the process of industry self-management put in place by *The Safety and Consumer Statutes Administration Act*.

May 4/97

The Minister for Consumer and Commercial Relations announces that, effective May 5, 1997, the industry-funded, not-for-profit Technical Standards and Safety Authority (TSSA) will assume the delivery of certain functions currently handled by the MCCR. The areas in which the TSSA will assume responsibilities include:

licensing, registration and certification;

reviewing engineering designs;

inspection, enforcement and compliance;

professional development and training programs; and

promoting national harmonization of safety codes and standards;

For the following industrial activities:

boilers and pressure vessels;

elevating and amusement devices;

hydrocarbon fuels (natural gas, propane, fuel oil and gasoline) and it associated equipment:

upholstered and stuffed devices.

Jun 10/97

Release of the Annual Report of the Ontario Ombudsman. In the report, the Ombudsman cites the Ontario government's delegation of decision-making authority to private sector bodies and the promotion of industry self-regulation as causes for concern, particularly the Technical Standards and Safety Authority.

Oct 21/98 Ministry of Consumer and Corporate Relations proposes amendments to the *Technical Standards and Safety Act*. Bill would designate TSSA as responsible authority for posting of EBR notices for *Gasoline Handling Act*.

June/99 Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Commissioner expresses concern over impact of delegation of government responsibilities to private entities on freedom of information and protection of privacy in her Annual Report.